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WESTMORELAND RESOURCE PARTNERS, LP AND SUBSIDIARIES
Cautionary Statement About Forward-Looking Statements
This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains “forward-looking statements.” Forward-looking statements can be
identified by words such as “anticipates,” “intends,” “plans,” “seeks,” “believes,” “estimates,” “expects,” “may,” “plan,”
“predict,” “project,” “should,” “could,” “will” and similar references to future periods. Examples of forward-looking
statements include, but are not limited to, statements we make throughout this report regarding recent significant transactions
and their anticipated effects on us, and statements in “Item 7 - Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations” regarding factors that may cause our results of operation in future periods to differ from our
expectations.
Forward-looking statements are based on our current expectations and assumptions regarding our business, the
economy and other future conditions. Because forward-looking statements relate to the future, they are subject to inherent
uncertainties, risks and changes in circumstances that are difficult to predict. Our actual results may differ materially from
those contemplated by the forward-looking statements. We therefore caution you against relying on any of these forwardlooking statements. They are statements neither of historical fact nor guarantees or assurances of future performance.
Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements include
political, economic, business, competitive, market, weather and regulatory conditions and the following:
• Our substantial level of indebtedness and our ability to adhere to financial covenants related to our borrowing
arrangements;
• Inaccuracies in our estimates of our coal reserves;
• The effect of consummating financing, acquisition and/or disposition transactions;
• Our potential inability to expand or continue current coal operations due to limitations in obtaining bonding capacity
for new mining permits, and/or increases in our mining costs as a result of increased bonding expenses;
• The effect of prolonged maintenance or unplanned outages at our operations or those of our major power generating
customers;
• The inability to control costs;
• Competition within our industry and with producers of competing energy sources;
• Our relationships with, and other conditions affecting, our customers;
• The availability and costs of key supplies or commodities, such as diesel fuel, steel, explosives and tires;
• Potential title defects or loss of leasehold interests in our properties, which could result in unanticipated costs or an
inability to mine the properties;
• The inability to renew our mineral leases or material changes in lease royalties;
• The effect of legal and administrative proceedings, settlements, investigations and claims, including any related to
citations and orders issued by regulatory authorities, and the availability of related insurance coverage;
• Existing and future legislation and regulation affecting both our coal mining operations and our customers’ coal
usage, governmental policies and taxes, including those aimed at reducing emissions of elements such as mercury,
sulfur dioxides, nitrogen oxides, particulate matter or greenhouse gases;
• The effect of Environmental Protection Agency’s inquiries and regulations on the operations of the power plants to
which we provide coal;
• Our ability to pay our quarterly distributions which substantially depends upon our future operating performance
(which may be affected by prevailing economic conditions in the coal industry), debt covenants, and financial,
business and other factors, some of which are beyond our control;
• Adequacy and sufficiency of our internal controls;
• Our potential need to recognize additional impairment and/or restructuring expenses associated with our operations,
as well as any changes to previously identified impairment or restructuring expense estimates, including additional
impairment and restructuring expenses associated with our Illinois Basin operations; and
• Other factors that are described in “Risk Factors” in this report and under the heading “Risk Factors” found in our
other reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), including our Annual Reports on Form
10-K and our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q.
Unless otherwise specified, the forward-looking statements in this report speak as of the filing date of this report.
Factors or events that could cause our actual results to differ may emerge from time-to-time, and it is not possible for us to
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predict all of them. We undertake no obligation to publicly update any forward-looking statements, whether because of new
information, future developments or otherwise, except as may be required by law.
Reserve engineering is a process of estimating underground accumulations of coal that cannot be measured in an
exact way. The accuracy of any reserve estimate depends on the quality of available data, the interpretation of such data and
price and cost assumptions made by our reserve engineers. In addition, the results of mining, testing and production activities
may justify revision of estimates that were made previously. If significant, such revisions would change the schedule of any
further production and development of reserves. Accordingly, reserve estimates may differ from the quantities of coal that
are ultimately recovered.
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PART I

Introduction
This report is both our 2015 Annual Report to unitholders and our 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K required under
the federal securities laws.
Unless the context otherwise indicates, as used in this Annual Report, the terms "WMLP," "the Partnership," "we,"
"our," "us" and similar terms refer to Westmoreland Resource Partners, LP, the parent entity, and its consolidated subsidiaries.
Also, "our GP" means Westmoreland Resources GP, LLC, the general partner of WMLP.
The term "coal reserves" as used in this Annual Report means proven and probable reserves that are the part of a
mineral deposit that can be economically and legally extracted or produced at the time of the reserve determination as
prescribed by SEC rules.
Because certain terms used in the coal industry may be unfamiliar to many investors, we have provided a “Glossary
of Selected Terms” at the end of Part I, Item 1.
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Item 1. Business
Overview
Westmoreland Resource Partners LP is a Delaware limited partnership listed on the New York Stock Exchange
("NYSE") under the ticker symbol "WMLP". We began doing business in 1985, in Coshocton, Ohio, as a contract-mining
service to a mining division of a major oil company. In 1989, we transitioned from a contract miner into a producer of our own
coal reserves. On July 19, 2010 we completed our initial public offering and moved our headquarters to Columbus, Ohio. On
December 31, 2014, our general partner was acquired by Westmoreland Coal Company, a Delaware corporation (“WCC”), and
our executive offices were moved to Englewood, Colorado. WCC owns 100% of our GP and, as of the date of this filing,
93.9% beneficial limited partner interest on a fully diluted basis.
Today, we are a growth-oriented, low-cost producer and marketer of high-value thermal coal to U.S. utilities and
industrial users under long-term coal sales contracts. We focus on acquiring thermal coal reserves that we can efficiently mine
with our large-scale equipment. Our reserves and operations are well positioned to serve our primary market area of the
Midwest, Northeast and Rocky Mountain regions of the United States.
We operate in a single business segment and have seven operating subsidiaries. The following chart provides an
overview of the current ownership structure of the Partnership and its subsidiaries:

1

The incentive distribution rights (the “IDRs”) held by our GP to provide that the IDRs will be entitled to receive (i) 13% of quarterly
distributions over $0.1533 per unit and up to $0.1667 per unit; (ii) 23% of quarterly distributions over $0.1667 per unit and up to $0.2000 per unit;
and (iii) 48% of quarterly distributions over $0.2000 per unit. As part of the December 31, 2014 restructuring of the GP the IDR distributions were suspend for
six quarters, provided that such suspension may be reduced to three quarters if, during the suspension period, additional drop-down transactions aggregating
greater than $35.0 million in enterprise value are undertaken by our GP or affiliates of our GP that are reasonably expected to provide accretion to per unit
common unitholder distributions.
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2015 Transactions
WCC’s Contribution of Westmoreland Kemmerer, LLC
On August 1, 2015, WCC, who owns and controls our GP, contributed 100% of the outstanding equity interests in
Westmoreland Kemmerer, LLC ("WKL"), which operates the Kemmerer mine in Lincoln County, Wyoming, to the Partnership
in exchange for $230 million in aggregate consideration, composed of $115 million of cash and 15,251,989 Series A Units of
the Partnership (“Series A Units”) with a value of $115 million (the “Kemmerer Drop”). The Kemmerer Drop will be accounted
for as a reorganization of entities under common control in accordance with the provisions of Accounting Standards
Codification (“ASC”) 805-50, which requires that the transaction be presented as though it occurred at the beginning of the
period, and prior years retrospectively adjusted to furnish comparative information similar to the pooling method. Accordingly,
our financial statements give retrospective effect to the Kemmerer Drop for periods as of and subsequent to December 31,
2014.
Immediately prior to the Kemmerer Drop and in accordance with the Amended and Restated Contribution Agreement,
dated July 31, 2015, between the Partnership and WCC (the “Contribution Agreement”) all employees of WKL were transferred
to WCC. WCC assumed all liabilities associated with the transferred employees, including but not limited to all post-retirement
pension, medical, other benefits and the related deferred income tax assets and liabilities, which were not contributed as part of
the transaction (the “Excluded Liabilities”).
In connection with the Kemmerer Drop and the issuance of the Series A Units, the Partnership entered into an
amendment (the “Amendment”) to our fourth amended and restated partnership agreement, as amended (the "Partnership
Agreement"). The Amendment established the terms of the Series A Units and any additional Series A Units that may be issued
in kind as a distribution (the “Series A PIK Units,” together with the Series A Units, the "Series A Convertible Units"), and
provided that each Series A Convertible Unit will have the right to share in distributions from us on a pro-rata basis with the
common units. All or any portion of each distribution payable in respect of the Series A Convertible Units (the “Series A
Convertible Unit Distribution”) may, at our election, be paid in Series A PIK Units. To the extent any portion of the Series A
Convertible Unit Distribution is paid in Series A PIK Units for any quarter, the distribution to the holders of incentive
distribution rights shall be reduced by that portion of the distribution that is attributable to the payment of those Series A PIK
Units, as further described in the Amendment. The Series A Convertible Units will convert into common units, on a one-for-one
basis, at the earlier of the date on which we first make a regular quarterly cash distribution with respect to any quarter to holders
of common units in an amount at least equal to $0.22 per common unit or upon a change of control. The Series A Convertible
Units have the same voting rights as if they were outstanding common units and will vote together with the common units as a
single class. In addition, the Series A Convertible Units are entitled to vote as a separate class on any matters that materially
adversely affect the rights or preferences of the Series A Convertible Units in relation to other classes of partnership interests or
as required by law.
Revolving Credit Facility
On October 23, 2015, WMLP and its subsidiaries entered into a loan and security agreement with the lenders party
thereto and The PrivateBank and Trust Company, as administrative agent (the "Loan Agreement"), which permits borrowings
up to the aggregate principal amount of $15.0 million and letters of credit in an aggregate outstanding amount of up to $10.0
million (the “Revolving Credit Facility”), which reduces availability under the Revolving Credit Facility on a dollar-for-dollar
basis. At December 31, 2015, availability under the Revolving Credit Facility was $15.0 million.
Services Agreement
In March 2015, we entered into a new Services Agreement (the “Services Agreement”), effective January 1, 2015, with
our GP, which was further amended in October 2015. Pursuant to the Services Agreement, the Partnership engaged the GP to
continue providing administrative, engineering, operating and other services to the Partnership. Administrative services include
without limitation legal, accounting, treasury, insurance administration and claims processing, risk management, health, safety
and environmental, information technology, human resources, credit, payroll, internal audit and tax. Under the Services
Agreement, the Partnership will pay the GP a fixed annual fee of $2.2 million in 2016 for certain administrative services, and
will reimburse the GP at cost for other expenses and expenditures. The term of the Services Agreement expires on December
31, 2016, but automatically renews for successive one year periods unless terminated. The primary reimbursements to our GP
under the Services Agreement for the year ended December 31, 2015 were for costs related to payroll. Reimbursable costs
under the Services Agreement totaling $4.2 million and $0.6 million were included in accounts payable as of December 31,
2015 and December 31, 2014 (under the previous services agreement), respectively.
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AEP Agreement
On February 26, 2015, our subsidiary Oxford Mining Company, LLC ("Oxford Mining") and AEP Generation
Resources Inc. ("AEP") entered into a coal purchase and sale agreement (the “AEP Agreement”). Under the AEP Agreement,
Oxford Mining agreed to sell, and AEP agreed to purchase, certain quantities of coal from January 1, 2016 through December
31, 2018 to supply AEP’s Conesville, Ohio generating plant: 1.3 million tons during 2016; 1.2 million tons during 2017; and
0.8 million tons during 2018. In addition, pursuant to the AEP Agreement, Oxford Mining has the right of first refusal to supply
up to a certain number of additional tons of coal, as needed by AEP: 0.4 million tons during 2016; 0.3 million tons during 2017;
and 0.2 million tons during 2018, an increase of 31%, 25%, and 27% over contracted levels, respectively.
Operations
The following map shows our current operations:

General
We are a growth-oriented, low-cost producer and marketer of high-value thermal coal to U.S. utilities and industrial
users, and are the largest producer of surface mined coal in Ohio. We focus on niche coal markets where we take advantage of
customer proximity and strategically located rail and barge transportation. We market our coal primarily to large electric
utilities with coal-fired, base load scrubbed power plants under long-term coal sales contracts. We focus on acquiring thermal
coal reserves that we can efficiently mine with our large-scale equipment. Our reserves and operations are well positioned to
serve its primary market areas of the Midwest, Northeast and Rocky Mountain regions of the United States.
For the year ended December 31, 2015, WMLP sold 8.5 million tons of coal, 94.0% of which were sold pursuant to
long-term coal supply contracts and generated revenue of approximately $347.6 million related to the sale of coal. As of
December 31, 2015, WMLP owned or controlled approximately 145.2 million tons of coal reserves, of which 24.3 million tons
were leased or subleased to others.
Customers
Our primary customers are electric utility companies that purchase coal under long-term coal sales contracts.
Substantially all of our customers purchase coal for terms of one year or longer, but we also supply coal on a short-term or spot
market basis for some of our customers. In 2015, we derived approximately 76.0% of our total coal revenues from sales to three
customers: American Electric Power Company, Inc. (40.9%), Pacificorp Energy, Inc. (27.2%) and Eastern Kentucky Power
Cooperative (7.9%). A portion of these sales were facilitated by coal brokers.
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Long-term Coal Supply Contracts
As is customary in the coal industry, we enter into long-term supply contracts (one year or greater in duration) with
substantially all of our customers. These contracts allow customers to secure an assured supply for their future needs and
provide us with greater predictability of sales volumes and prices. For the year ended December 31, 2015, approximately 94.0%
of our coal tons sold were sold under long-term supply contracts. We sell the remainder of our coal through short-term contracts
and on the spot market.
The terms of our coal supply contracts result from competitive bidding and extensive negotiations with each customer.
Consequently, the terms can vary significantly by contract, and can cover such matters as price adjustment features, price
reopener terms, coal quality requirements, quantity adjustment mechanisms, permitted sources of supply, future regulatory
changes, extension options, force majeure provisions and termination and assignment provisions. Some long-term contracts
provide for a predetermined adjustment to the stipulated base price at specified times or periodic intervals to account for
changes due to inflation or deflation in prevailing market prices.
In addition, most contracts contain provisions to adjust the base price due to new statutes, ordinances or regulations
that influence our costs of production. Some of our contracts also contain provisions that allow for the recovery of costs
impacted by modifications or changes in the interpretations or application of applicable government statutes.
Price reopener provisions are present in several of our long-term contracts. These price reopener provisions may
automatically set a new price based on prevailing market price or, in some instances, require the parties to agree on a new price,
sometimes within a specified range. In a limited number of contracts, failure of the parties to agree on a price under a price
reopener provision can lead to termination of the contract.
Quality and volume are stipulated in the coal supply contracts. In some instances, buyers have the option to change
annual or monthly volumes. Most of our coal supply contracts contain provisions that require us to deliver coal with specific
characteristics, such as heat content, sulfur, ash, hardness and ash fusion temperature, that fall within certain ranges. Failure to
meet these specifications can result in economic penalties, suspension or cancellation of shipments or termination of the
contract.
Properties
Substantially all of our properties and assets are encumbered by liens securing our and our subsidiaries’ outstanding
indebtedness. In addition, borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility are secured by first priority liens on our and our
wholly owned subsidiaries accounts receivable, inventory and certain other specified assets.
We owned or controlled an estimated 145.2 million tons of total proven or probable coal reserves as of December 31,
2015. The following table provides information about mines we owned or controlled as of December 31, 2015:
Total
(Tons in thousands)
1

Coal reserves:
Proven
Probable
Total proven and probable reserves
Permitted reserves
2015 production

128,788
16,436
145,224
58,896
8,481

1

The SEC Industry Guide 7 defines reserves as that part of a mineral deposit, which could be economically and legally extracted or produced at the time of the
reserve determination. Proven and probable coal reserves are defined by SEC Industry Guide 7 as follows:
Proven (Measured) Reserves - Reserves for which (a) quantity is computed from dimensions revealed in outcrops, trenches, workings or drill holes; grade
and/or quality are computed from the results of detailed sampling and (b) the sites for inspection, sampling and measurement are spaced so close and the
geographic character is so well defined that size, shape, depth and mineral content of reserves are well-established.
Probable (Indicated) Reserves - Reserves for which quantity and grade and/or quality are computed from information similar to that used for proven
(measured) reserves, but the sites for inspection, sampling and measurement are farther apart or are otherwise less adequately spaced. The degree of assurance,
although lower than that for proven (measured) reserves, is high enough to assume continuity between points of observation.
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As of December 31, 2015, we operated 16 active surface mines and managed these mines as five mining complexes
located in eastern Ohio and one mine located in Wyoming. The Ohio mining facilities include two preparation plants, both of
which receive, wash, blend, process and ship coal produced from our active mines. The mines use a combination of area,
contour, auger and highwall mining methods using truck/shovel and truck/loader equipment along with large production dozers.
We also own and operate seven augers, moving them among its mining complexes, as necessary, and two highwall miner
systems. In August 2015, we completed the Kemmerer Drop from WCC. The Kemmerer mine supplies approximately 2.8
million tons per year to the adjacent Naughton Power Station via conveyor belt under an agreement that expires in December
2021. The Kemmerer mine also supplies approximately 1.7 million tons a year to various industrial customers, including Tata
Chemicals North America Inc. and FMC Corporation, through long-term contracts extending to 2026. These industrial
customers are supplied via both short haul rail and truck. Prices under supply agreements related to the Kemmerer mine are
based upon certain actual mine costs and certain inflation/commodity indices for items such as diesel fuel.
The following table provides summary information regarding our principal mining operations as of December 31,
2015:
Tons Sold1
Mining Operation

Manner of Transport

Machinery

2013

2014

2015

Employees2, 3

Coal Seam

644

51

Pittsburgh #8, Meigs
Creek #9

(thousands of tons)
Belmont

Cadiz

Kemmerer
Muhlenberg4

Barge & truck

Coal crusher and
blending facility

Barge, rail & truck

3 coal crushers with
truck scale, rail loadout

Conveyor, rail & truck
N/A 4

995

403

2,662

3,074

2,125

195

Pittsburgh #8,
Redstone #8A,Meigs
Creek #9

Truck and shovel

—

—

4,471

292

Adaville Series

N/A 4

243

—

—

N/A 4

N/A 4

828

685

551

58

Lower Kittanning #5.
Middle Kittanning #6

188

251

17

—

Pittsburgh #8, Meigs
Creek #9

295

—

—

N/A 4

N/A 4

Barge & truck

Coal crusher with
truck scale, rail loadout
Coal crusher and
blending facility

Truck

N/A 4

Tuscarawas

Truck

2 coal crushers with
truck scales, 2
blending facilities,
preparation plant

936

1,140

673

62

Brookville #4, Lower
Kittanning #5, Middle
Kittanning #6, Upper
Freeport #7 Mahoning #7A

Tusky3

N/A 4

N/A 4

—

—

—

N/A 4

N/A 4

6,147

5,553

New Lexington
Noble
Plainfield3

Total

Rail & truck

8,481

658

1

WMLP acquired the Kemmerer mine on August 1, 2015 from WCC.
2
The total number of employees does not include 39 non-union employees located at administrative offices nor does it include 76 non-union employees located
at mine support facilities in Ohio.
3
The total number of employees at the Kemmerer mine include 231 employees represented by the United Mine Workers of America operating under a labor
agreement that expires in 2018. Immediately prior to the Kemmerer Drop and in accordance with the Amended and Restated Contribution Agreement, dated
July 31, 2015, between the Partnership and WCC (the “Contribution Agreement”) all employees of WKL were transferred to WCC. WCC assumed all liabilities
associated with the transferred employees, including but not limited to all post-retirement pension, medical, other benefits and the related deferred income tax
assets and liabilities, which were not contributed as part of the transaction.
4
These mining complexes were inactive during 2015.

Belmont. The Belmont mining complex is located in Belmont County, Ohio, and currently consists of the Speidel and
Wheeling Valley mines. As of December 31, 2015, the Belmont mining complex included 9.7 million tons of proven and
probable coal reserves. Coal produced from this mining complex is primarily transported to our Bellaire river terminal on the
Ohio River and then transported by barge to the customer, or by truck to our Barb Tipple facility or our Conesville preparation
plant and then transported by truck to the customer. Coal produced from this mining complex is crushed and blended at the
Bellaire river terminal before it is loaded onto barges for shipment to our customers on the Ohio River. This mining complex
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uses area, contour, auger and highwall miner methods of surface mining. This mining complex produced 0.6 million tons of
coal for the year ended December 31, 2015.
Cadiz. The Cadiz mining complex, located principally in Harrison County, Ohio, currently consists of the Harrison
Resources, Daron, Ellis and Sandy Ridge mines. As of December 31, 2015, the Cadiz mining complex included 7.2 million tons
of proven and probable coal reserves. Coal produced from the Cadiz mining complex is trucked either to our Bellaire river
terminal on the Ohio River and then transported by barge to the customer, trucked directly to our customer, or trucked to our
Cadiz rail loadout facility on the Ohio Central Railroad and then transported by rail to the customer, or trucked to our Strasburg
preparation plant then transported by truck to the customer after processing is completed. This mining complex uses the area,
contour, auger and highwall miner methods of surface mining. The infrastructure at this mining complex includes three coal
crushers, three truck scales and the Cadiz rail loadout. This mining complex produced 2.1 million tons of coal for the year
ended December 31, 2015.
Kemmerer. The Kemmerer mine is located in Lincoln County, Wyoming. As of December 31, 2015, the Kemmerer
mine included 89.4 million tons of proven and probable coal reserves. Coal produced from the Kemmerer mine is either
transported via conveyor belt to the adjacent Naughton Power Station or shipped via short haul rail or truck to various industrial
customers. This mine utilizes dragline mining methods of surface mining. The Kemmerer mine produced 4.5 million tons of
coal for the year ended December 31, 2015.
New Lexington. The New Lexington mining complex is located in Perry, Athens and Morgan Counties, Ohio, and
currently consists of the Avondale and New Lexington mines. As of December 31, 2015, the New Lexington mining complex
included 3.6 million tons of proven and probable coal reserves. Coal produced from the New Lexington mining complex is
delivered via off-highway trucks to our New Lexington rail loadout facility on the Ohio Central Railroad where it is then
transported by rail to the customer or to our Barb Tipple facility. Some of the coal production from this mining complex is
trucked to our Conesville preparation plant and then transported by truck to the customer. This mining complex uses the area
and auger methods of surface mining. The infrastructure at this mining complex includes a coal crusher and the New Lexington
rail loadout. This mining complex produced 0.6 million tons of coal for the year ended December 31, 2015.
Noble. The Noble mining complex is located in Noble and Guernsey Counties, Ohio, and currently consists of the
King-Crum mine. As of December 31, 2015, the Noble mining complex included 0.2 million tons of proven and probable coal
reserves. Coal produced from this mining complex is trucked to our Bellaire river terminal on the Ohio River or to our Barb
Tipple facility. Coal trucked to our Bellaire river terminal is then transported by barge to the customer. Coal trucked to our Barb
Tipple blending and coal-crushing facility is transported by truck to the customer after processing is completed. The Noble
mining complex uses the area, contour and auger methods of surface mining. This mining complex produced less than 0.1
million tons of coal for the year ended December 31, 2015.
Plainfield. The Plainfield mining complex is located in Muskingum, Guernsey and Coshocton Counties, Ohio, and is
currently inactive. As of December 31, 2015, the Plainfield mining complex included 3.6 million tons of proven and probable
coal reserves.
Tuscarawas. The Tuscarawas mining complex is located in Tuscarawas and Columbiana Counties, Ohio, and consists
of the East Canton, Garrett, Hunt and Stillwater mines. As of December 31, 2015, the Tuscarawas mining complex included 5.3
million tons of proven and probable coal reserves. Coal produced from the Tuscarawas mining complex is transported by truck
directly to our customers, our Barb Tipple blending and coal crushing facility or our Strasburg preparation plant. Coal trucked
to our Barb Tipple blending and coal crushing facility, our Conesville preparation plant, or our Strasburg preparation plant is
then transported by truck to the customer after processing is completed. This mining complex uses the area, contour, auger and
highwall miner methods of surface mining. The infrastructure at this mining complex includes three coal crushers with truck
scales and the Strasburg blending facility and preparation plant. This mining complex produced 0.7 million tons of coal for the
year ended December 31, 2015.
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The following table provides information about the mines held by us as of December 31, 2015. This table does not
include any royalty properties as they are discussed below in the “Royalty Revenues” section:

Location

New
Lexington

Noble

Plainfield4

Tuscarawas

Tusky4

Muhlenber &
McLean
Counties, OH

Perry,
Athens &
Morgan
Counties,
OH

Noble &
Guernsey
Counties,
OH

Muskingum
, Guernsey
&
Coshocton
Counties,
OH

Tuscarawas
County, OH

Harrison &
Tuscarawa
Counties,
OH

Belmont

Cadiz

Kemmerer5, 6

Muhlenberg4

Belmont
County, OH

Harrison
County, OH

Lincoln
County, WY

Total

Coal reserves (thousands of tons)
Proven

9,205

6,275

80,556

1,227

3,379

229

3,622

5,330

18,965

128,788

531

931

8,867

568

173

—

—

—

5,366

16,436

Total Proven &
Probable

9,736

7,206

89,423

1,795

3,552

229

3,622

5,330

24,331

145,224

Permitted Reserved
(thousands of tons)

1,327

5,466

30,906

1,227

1,022

—

282

1,946

16,720

58,896

2015 production
(thousands of tons)

644

2,125

4,471

—

551

17

—

673

—

8,481

Probable

Estimated life of
permitted reserves1

2016

2018

End 2024

2020+

2017

2015

2017

2018

2025+

Private parties

AEP &
Private
parties

Private
parties

Private
parties

Private
parties

Private
parties

Varies

Varies

Varies

Varies

Varies

Varies

Lessor

Private
parties

Private
parties

Private
parties &
Federal Gov.

Lease term

Varies

Varies

Varies

Current production
capacity (thousands
of tons)

660

2,580

7,000

—

600

Bituminous

Bituminous

Bituminous

Bituminous

Bituminous

Bituminous

American
Electric
Power &
East
Kentucky
Power
Coop

American
Electric
Power &
East
Kentucky
Power
Coop

American
Electric
Power &
East
Kentucky
Power Coop

N/A 4

Barge &
truck

Truck

Truck

N/A 4

Bituminous

Bituminous

Subbituminous

Major customers

American
Electric
Power &
East
Kentucky
Power
Coop

American
Electric
Power &
East
Kentucky
Power
Coop

PacifiCorp &
various
industrial
customers

N/A 4

American
Electric
Power &
East
Kentucky
Power
Coop

Delivery method

Barge &
truck

Barge, rail
& truck

Conveyor,
rail & truck

N/A 4

Rail &
truck

11,431

9,919

Coal type

Approx. heat
content(BTU/lb.)2
Approx. sulfur
content(%)3
Year current
complex opened
Total tons mined
since inception
(thousands of tons)

11,779
4.4%
1999

15,838

2.7%
2000

450,828

11,424

0.78%

3.5%

1950

188,737

2009

107,489

11,551
4.5%
1993

174,678

—

11,286
5.3%
2006

191,730

—

11,711
4.4%
1990

107,489

600

11,760
3.9%
2003

192,534

—

11,440

12,900
2.1%
2003

15,148

1,444,471

1

Approximate year in which permitted reserves would be exhausted, based on current mine plan and production rates.
Approximate heat content applies to the coal mined in 2015.
3
Approximate sulfur content applies to the tons mined in 2015.
4
Mining complex was inactive during 2015.
5
The Elkol Underground Mine opened in 1950 and the Sorenson Surface Operations opened in 1963. Tons mined since inception for the Kemmerer Mine are
for tons mined from 1950 through 2015.
6
WMLP acquired the Kemmerer mine from WCC on August 1, 2015.
2

Preparation Plants, Blending Facilities and Equipment
Depending on coal quality and customer requirements, some raw coal may be shipped directly from the mine to the
customer. However, the quality of some raw coal does not allow direct shipment to the customer without putting the coal
through a preparation process that physically separates impurities from the coal. This processing upgrades the quality and
heating value of the coal by removing or reducing sulfur and ash-producing materials, but it entails additional expense and
results in some loss of coal. Coals of various sulfur and ash contents can be mixed, or “blended,” at a preparation plant or
loading facility to meet the specific combustion and environmental needs of customers. Coal blending helps increase
profitability by meeting the quality requirements of specific customer contracts, while maximizing revenue through optimal use
of coal inventories. Blending is typically done at one of our four blending facilities:
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•
•
•
•

our Barb Tipple blending and coal crushing facility, adjacent to a customer’s power plant near Coshocton, Ohio;
our Strasburg preparation plant near Strasburg, Ohio;
our Conesville preparation plant in Coshocton County, Ohio, also adjacent to a customer’s power plant near
Coshocton, Ohio; or
our Bellaire river terminal on the Ohio River in Bellaire, Ohio.

Currently, we own or lease most of the equipment utilized in its mining operations and employs preventive
maintenance and rebuild programs to ensure that its equipment is well maintained. The mobile equipment utilized at our mining
operations is replaced on an on-going basis with new, more efficient units based on equipment age and mechanical condition.
Reclamation
Reclamation expenses are a significant part of any coal mining operation. Prior to commencing mining operations, a
company is required to apply for numerous permits in the state where the mining is to occur. Before a state will approve and
issue these permits, it requires the mine operator to present a reclamation plan which meets regulatory criteria and to secure a
surety bond to guarantee reclamation funding in an amount determined under state law. Bonding companies require posting of
collateral, typically in the form of letters of credit or cash collateral, to secure the bonds. As of December 31, 2015, we had
$34.5 million in cash deposits and restricted investments supporting $132.5 million in reclamation surety bonds. While bonds
are issued against reclamation liability for a particular permit at a particular site, collateral posted is not allocated to a specific
bond, but instead is part of a collateral pool supporting all bonds issued by a particular bonding company. Bonds are released in
phases as reclamation is completed in a particular area.
Royalty Revenues
Tusky Coal Reserves
We began underground mining at the Tusky mining complex in late 2003 after leasing coal reserves from a third party
in exchange for a royalty based on tons sold. In June 2005, we sold the Tusky mining complex, and subleased the associated
underground coal reserves to the purchaser in exchange for a royalty. There are seven years remaining on the lease for the
underground coal reserves, and the related sublease. The sublessee has the option at any time after December 31, 2022 to elect
to have its interest assigned to the sublessee for defined and predetermined consideration. For the year ended December 31,
2015, we did not recognize any royalty revenue on the sublease of the Tusky reserves.
Oil and Gas Reserves
In December 2014, June 2013 and April 2012, we completed the sale of certain oil and gas rights on land in eastern
Ohio for $0.2 million, $6.1 million and $6.3 million, respectively, plus future royalties. There were no oil and gas rights sales in
2015. For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015, we generated $0.9 million in royalty revenue from the receipt of these oil
and gas royalties.
Limestone Revenues
At two of our mines, limestone is removed in order to access the underlying coal. We sells this limestone to a third
party that crushes the limestone before selling it to local governmental authorities, construction companies and individuals. The
third party pays us for this limestone based on a percentage of the revenue it receives from the limestone sales. For the year
ended December 31, 2015, WMLP produced and sold 0.7 million tons of limestone, and recognized other revenue of $2.9
million in limestone sales.
Competition
The markets in which we sell our coal are highly competitive. We compete directly with other coal producers and
indirectly with producers of other energy products that provide an alternative to coal. We compete on the basis of delivered
price, coal quality and reliability of supply. Our principal direct competitors are other coal producers, including (listed
alphabetically) Alliance Resource Partners, L.P., Alpha Natural Resources, CONSOL, Foresight Energy, Hallador Energy
Company, Murray Energy Corporation, Peabody Energy Corp., Rhino Resource Partners, L.P. and various other smaller,
independent producers.
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Seasonality
Our coal business has historically experienced only limited variability in its results due to the effect of seasons;
however, we are impacted by seasonality due to weather patterns and our customer's annual maintenance outages which
typically occur during the second quarter. In addition, our customers generally respond to seasonal variations in electricity
demand based upon the number of heating degree days and cooling degree days. Due to stockpile management by our
customers, our coal sales may not experience the same direct seasonal volatility; however, extended mild weather patterns can
impact the demand for our coal. Our sales typically benefit from decreases in customers' stockpiles due to high electricity
demand. Conversely, when these stockpiles increase, demand for our coal will typically soften. Further, our ability to deliver
coal is impacted by the seasons. Because the majority of our mines are mine-mouth operations that deliver their coal production
to adjacent power plants, our exposure to transportation delays or outages as a result of adverse weather conditions is limited.
Material Effects of Regulation
We are subject to extensive regulation with respect to environmental and other matters by federal, state and local
authorities in the United States. Federal laws in the U.S. to which we are subject include the Surface Mining Control and
Reclamation Act of 1977, or SMCRA, the Clean Air Act, the Clean Water Act, the Toxic Substances Control Act, the
Endangered Species Act, the Migratory Bird Treaty Act, the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and
Liability Act, the Emergency Planning and Community Right to Know Act and the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act.
The United States Environmental Protection Agency, or EPA, and/or other authorized federal or state agencies administer and
enforce these laws. We are also subject to extensive regulation regarding safety and health matters pursuant to the United States
Mine Safety and Health Act of 1977, which is enforced by the U.S. Mine Safety and Health Administration ("MSHA"). Noncompliance with federal, state and local laws and regulations could subject us to material administrative, civil or criminal
penalties or other liabilities, including suspension or termination of operations. In addition, we may be required to make large
and unanticipated capital expenditures to comply with future laws, regulations or orders as well as future interpretations and
more rigorous enforcement of existing laws, regulations or orders. Our reclamation obligations under applicable environmental
laws will be substantial.
Following passage of The Mine Improvement and New Emergency Response Act of 2006, amending the Federal Mine
Safety and Health Act of 1977, MSHA significantly increased the oversight, inspection and enforcement of safety and health
standards and imposed safety and health standards on all aspects of mining operations. There has also been a dramatic increase
in the dollar penalties assessed by MSHA for citations issued over the recent history. Most of the states in which we operate
have inspection programs for mine safety and health. Collectively, federal and state safety and health regulations in the coal
mining industry are comprehensive and pervasive systems for protection of employee health and safety.
Safety is a core value of WMLP. We use a grass roots approach, encouraging and promoting our workers involvement
in safety and accept input from all workers; we feel our workforce's active involvement is a pillar of our safety excellence.
During 2015, we continued to maintain U.S reportable and lost time incident rates below national averages as indicated in the
table below.
2015
Reportable
Rate
1.05
1.82

WMLP Mines
U.S. National Average

Lost Time
Rate
0.35
1.28

The following provides brief summaries of certain Federal laws and regulations to which we are subject and their
effects upon us:
Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act. SMCRA establishes minimum national operational, reclamation and
closure standards for all surface coal mines. SMCRA requires that comprehensive environmental protection and reclamation
standards be met during the course of and following completion of coal mining activities. Permits for all coal mining operations
must be obtained from the Federal Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement ("OSM") or, where state regulatory
agencies have adopted federally approved state programs under SMCRA, the appropriate state regulatory authority. States that
operate federally approved state programs may impose standards that are more stringent than the requirements of SMCRA and
OSM’s regulations and, in many instances, have done so. Permitting under SMCRA has generally become more difficult in
recent years, especially in light of significant permitting issues affecting the Northern Appalachia region. This difficulty in
12

WESTMORELAND RESOURCE PARTNERS, LP AND SUBSIDIARIES
permitting also affects the availability of coal reserves at our coal mines. It is our policy to comply in all material respects with
the requirements of the SMCRA and the state and regulations governing mine reclamation.
Clean Air Act and Related Regulations. The U.S. Clean Air Act ("CAA"), and comparable state laws that regulate
air emissions affect coal mining operations both directly and indirectly. Direct impacts on coal mining and processing
operations include Clean Air Act permitting requirements and emission control requirements relating to air pollutants, including
particulate matter, which may include controlling fugitive dust. The Clean Air Act indirectly affects coal mining operations by
extensively regulating the emissions of particulate matter, sulfur dioxide, nitrogen oxides, mercury and other compounds
emitted by coal-fired power plants. In recent years, Congress has considered legislation that would require increased reductions
in emissions of sulfur dioxide, nitrogen oxide and mercury, as well as GHGs. The air emissions programs, regulatory initiatives
and standards that may affect our operations, directly or indirectly, include, but are not limited to, the following:
Greenhouse Gas Emissions Standards. In August of 2015, the EPA finalized standards for greenhouse gases (GHGs)
for new and modified electric generating units (EGUs) referred to as “new source performance standards” or NSPS. The final
NSPS for coal-fired EGUs is set at 1,400 pounds of CO2 / megawatt hour on an average annual basis which would, with few
possible exceptions, require the installation of partial carbon capture and sequestration at new or modified coal-fired EGUs.
Under the CAA, new source performance standards like the GHG NSPS have binding effect from the date of the proposal,
which in this case was January 8, 2014. Therefore, any new coal-fired EGU must comply with this standard, which is likely to
be major obstacle to the construction and development of any new coal-fired generation capacity. Existing coal-fired
generation, however, is also now subject to GHG performance standards that the EPA asserts will reduce GHG emissions from
the power sector by 32% from 2005 levels by 2030. At the same time the EPA issued the GHG NSPS, the EPA finalized
existing source standards for fossil-fuel fired power plants, which the EPA refers to as the Clean Power Plan. The final Clean
Power Plan imposes stringent standards on existing fossil-fuel fired EGUs that reflect the EPA’s assessment of the “best system
of emission reduction,” (BSER) including (1) average heat rate improvements of 6% for coal-fired power plants; (2) the redispatch of power based on an assumption that underutilized capacity at natural gas combined cycle facilities can be increased
to an average of 75% of net summer capacity; and (3) the substitution of coal generation with renewable energy. These existing
source standards are implemented by the states, which must meet individual GHG emission “goals” beginning in 2022 with
phased reductions through 2030. Each state can choose either a rate-based or a mass-based goal that reflects the mix of natural
gas and coal-fired generation in the state. The final goals have a greater impact on states with substantial coal-fired generation;
Wyoming and North Dakota, for example, are faced with greater than 40% emission reductions from a 2012 baseline. The
states have until September of 2016 to submit plans to the EPA to implement and enforce the state-specific BSER, although
two-year extensions be requested by states in an initial submittal. States and industry groups challenged the rule in the U.S.
Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit and requested a stay pending judicial review. Although the D.C. Circuit denied the stay
request, in February of 2016, the U.S. Supreme Court issued a stay of the Clean Power Plan pending judicial review of the rule,
including potential review by the Supreme Court. The D.C. Circuit is reviewing the rule under an expedited briefing schedule,
with oral arguments to be held in June of 2016. A number of states, including Montana and Utah, have ceased development of
implementation plans, while others, including Colorado, are continuing to work on plan development. If upheld by the courts,
these rules have the potential to adversely affect our revenues and profitability, although it is difficult at this stage to determine
the timing and extent of any such effects, or to determine the requirements of state plans resulting from these proposals that
may ultimately be promulgated and require implementation. In June 2014, the U.S. Supreme Court in UARG v. EPA struck
down the EPA’s GHG permitting rules to the extent they imposed on sources a requirement to obtain an air emissions permit
and comply with emissions limits solely as a result of GHG emissions. The Court upheld the EPA’s authority to impose the Best
Available Control Technology (“BACT”) on large industrial sources such as power plants that are otherwise required to obtain
an air emissions permit under the Prevention of Significant Deterioration program or the Title V program of the Clean Air Act.
In April 2015, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit rejected motions filed by industry groups and certain states
arguing that GHG permitting rules should be vacated in their entirety while the EPA undertakes a new rulemaking determining
how to address the Supreme Court’s ruling. Therefore the regulatory provisions addressing GHG emissions from large
industrial sources, such as fossil-fuel fired EGUs, remain in place. The EPA has not yet initiated a rulemaking to address the
Supreme Court’s decision.
Mercury Air Standards. In February 2012, the EPA published national emission standards under Section 112 of the
CAA setting limits on hazardous air pollutant emissions from coal- and oil-fired EGUs, often referred to as the “Mercury Air
Toxics Standards,” or “MATS Rule.” While the MATS Rule will generally require all coal- and oil-fired EGUs to reduce their
hazardous air pollutant emissions, it is particularly problematic for any new coal-fired sources. The EPA agreed to reconsider
the new source standards, however, and again published new source standards in April 2013. In June 2013, the EPA reopened
for 60 days the public comment period on certain startup and shutdown provisions included in the November 2012 proposal. In
June of 2015, the U.S. Supreme Court reversed the U.S. Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit and held that the EPA had failed
to properly consider costs when assessing whether to regulate fossil fuel-fired EGUs under the hazardous air pollutant
provisions of the Clean Air Act, referring to the agency’s own estimate that the rule would cost power plants nearly $10 billion
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a year. The D.C. Circuit remanded the rule to the EPA to conduct a cost assessment but without vacatur, allowing the rule to
remain in effect while the EPA conducts the rulemaking. On December 1, 2015, the EPA published a proposed supplemental
finding that regulation of EGUs is still “appropriate and necessary” in light of the costs to regulate hazardous air pollutant
emissions from the source category. The EPA indicated that it expects to issue a final finding by April 15, 2016.
National Ambient Air Quality Standards (“NAAQS”) for Criteria Pollutants. The CAA requires the EPA to set
standards, referred to as NAAQS, for six common air pollutants, including nitrogen oxide and sulfur dioxide. Areas that are not
in compliance (referred to as non-attainment areas) with these standards must take steps to reduce emissions levels. Meeting
these limits may require reductions of nitrogen oxide and sulfur dioxide emissions. Although our operations are not currently
located in non-attainment areas, we could be required to incur significant costs to install additional emissions control
equipment, or otherwise change our operations and future development if that were to change. On June 22, 2010, the EPA
published a final rule that tightens the NAAQS for sulfur dioxide. On February 17, 2012, the EPA published final NAAQS for
nitrogen dioxide. On January 15, 2013, the EPA published final NAAQS for particulate matter; the EPA lowered the annual
standard for particles less than 2.5 micrometers in diameter but maintained the NAAQS for particles less than 10 micrometers
in diameter. The EPA finalized designations for the sulfur dioxide NAAQS in 2013 for a handful of counties and delayed
designations for the remainder of the country. The EPA has proposed guidance that would allow states to use both monitoring
and modeling for the remaining designations, but has not finalized the guidance or set any deadlines for state recommendations.
The EPA finalized nonattainment designations for nitrogen dioxide in January 2012. We do not know whether or to what extent
these developments might affect our operations or our customers’ businesses. In 2008, the EPA finalized the current 8-hour
ozone standard. In October 2015, the EPA issued a final rule lowering the ozone standard further. While it is likely that these
and any future developments resulting in stricter NAAQS will to some degree adversely affect us, it is difficult at this stage to
determine the timing and extent of such effects.
Clean Air Interstate Rule and Cross-State Air Pollution Rule (“CAIR”) and Cross-State Air Pollution Rule
(“CSAPR”). The CAIR calls for power plants in 28 states and the District of Columbia to reduce emission levels of sulfur
dioxide and nitrogen oxide pursuant to a cap-and-trade program similar to the system now in effect for acid rain. In 2008, the
U.S. Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit found that the CAIR was fatally flawed, but ultimately agreed to
allow it to remain in place pending the EPA’s development of a replacement rule because of concerns about potential
disruptions. In June 2011, the EPA finalized the CSAPR as a replacement rule to the CAIR, which requires 28 states in the
Midwest and eastern seaboard of the United States to reduce power plant emissions that cross state lines and contribute to
ozone and/or fine particle pollution in other states. Under the CSAPR, the first phase of the nitrogen oxide and sulfur dioxide
emissions reductions would commence in 2012 with further reduction effective in 2014. On December 15, 2011, the EPA
finalized a supplemental rule making to require Iowa, Michigan, Missouri, Oklahoma and Wisconsin to make summertime
reductions to nitrogen oxide emissions under the CSAPR ozone-season control program. However, on December 30, 2011, the
U.S. Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit stayed the implementation of CSAPR pending resolution of judicial
challenges to the rules and ordered the EPA to continue enforcing the CAIR until the pending legal challenges have been
resolved. In August 2012, the U.S. Court of Appeals vacated the CSAPR in a 2-to-1 decision and left the CAIR standards in
place. In April 2014, the U.S. Supreme Court reversed the D.C. Circuit decision that vacated the CSAPR and remanded the
cases for further proceedings consistent with the Court’s opinion, which acknowledged the possibility that under certain
circumstances some states may have a basis to bring a particularized, as-applied challenge to the rule. The EPA filed a motion
with the D.C. Circuit to lift its stay of the CSAPR and to toll for three years all deadlines that had not already passed as of the
date the stay was granted. The D.C. Circuit granted the EPA’s motion in October 2014, and scheduled oral argument on the
remaining challenge to the CSAPR for March 2015. In November, 2014 the EPA issued a ministerial rule aligning the CSAPR
implementation dates with the Court’s order, with phase 1 reductions beginning in January 2015, and more stringent phase 2
reductions in January 2017. In July 2015, the D.C. Circuit remanded to the EPA portions of the 2014 sulfur dioxide and ozone
budgets on grounds the reductions were greater than necessary to reduce impacts on downwind states, but did not vacate any
portion of the rule. The EPA has indicated that it will address these issues in future rulemakings, but that phase 1 reductions
will begin in January 2015, with more stringent phase 2 reductions in January 2017 as necessary.
Other Programs. A number of other air-related programs may affect the demand for coal and, in some instances, coal
mining directly. For example, the EPA has initiated a regional haze program designed to protect and improve visibility at and
around national parks, national wilderness areas and international parks. The EPA’s new source review program under certain
circumstances requires existing coal-fired power plants, when modifications to those plants significantly change emissions, to
install the more stringent air emissions control equipment required of new plants, and concerns about potential failures to
comply have resulted in a number of high-profile enforcement actions and settlements over the years resulting in some
instances in settlements under which operators install expensive new emissions control equipment. The Acid Rain program
under Title IV of the CAA continues to impose limits on overall sulphur dioxide and nitrogen oxide emissions from regulated
EGUs. In June 2013, President Obama issued a Climate Action Plan, which included a focus on methane reductions from coal
mines. In January 2015, the Administration issued its methane strategy, but it did not include requirements for coal mines. In
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2014 the D.C. Circuit upheld the EPA’s 2013 decision, based on resource constraints, not to list coal mines as a category of air
pollution sources that endanger public health or welfare under Section 111 of the CAA and establish related emission standards.
Effect on Westmoreland Resource Partners LP. Our mines do not produce “compliance coal” for purposes of the Clean
Air Act. Compliance coal is coal containing 1.2 pounds or less of sulfur dioxide per million British thermal unit, or Btu. This
restricts our ability to sell coal to power plants that do not utilize sulfur dioxide emission controls and otherwise leads to a price
discount based, in part, on the market price for sulfur dioxide emission allowances under the Clean Air Act.
Clean Water Act. The Clean Water Act ("CWA") and corresponding state and local laws and regulations affect coal
mining and power generation operations by restricting the discharge of pollutants, including dredged or fill materials, into
waters of the U.S. The CWA provisions and associated state and federal regulations are complex and subject to amendments,
legal challenges and changes in implementation. In May 2015, the EPA and the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers jointly issued a
final rule to clarify which waters and wetlands are subject to regulation under the CWA. The implementation of this rule was
stayed nationwide in October 2015. Recent court decisions, regulatory actions and proposed legislation have created uncertainty
over CWA jurisdiction and permitting requirements that could either increase or decrease the cost and time spent on CWA
compliance.
Endangered Species Act. The Federal Endangered Species Act ("ESA"), and similar state laws protect species
threatened with extinction. Protection of endangered and threatened species may cause us to modify mining plans or develop
and implement species-specific protection and enhancement plans to avoid or minimize impacts to endangered species or their
habitats. A number of species indigenous to the areas where we operate are protected under the ESA. Based on the species that
have been identified and the current application of applicable laws and regulations, we do not believe that there are any species
protected under the ESA or state laws that would materially and adversely affect our ability to mine coal from our properties.
Resource Conservation and Recovery Act. We may generate wastes, including “solid” wastes and “hazardous”
wastes that are subject to the federal Resource Conservation and Recovery Act ("RCRA"), and comparable state statutes,
although certain mining and mineral beneficiation wastes and certain wastes derived from the combustion of coal currently are
exempt from regulation as hazardous wastes under RCRA. The EPA has limited the disposal options for certain wastes that are
designated as hazardous wastes under RCRA. Furthermore, it is possible that certain wastes generated by our operations that
currently are exempt from regulation as hazardous wastes may in the future be designated as hazardous wastes, and therefore be
subject to more rigorous and costly management, disposal and clean-up requirements.
The EPA determined that coal combustion residuals (“CCR”) do not warrant regulation as hazardous wastes under
RCRA in May 2000. Most state hazardous waste laws do not regulate CCR as hazardous wastes. The EPA also concluded that
beneficial uses of CCR, other than for mine filling, pose no significant risk and no additional national regulations of such
beneficial uses are needed. However, the EPA determined that national non-hazardous waste regulations under RCRA are
warranted for certain wastes generated from coal combustion, such as coal ash, when the wastes are disposed of in surface
impoundments or landfills or used as minefill. EPA Administrator Gina McCarthy signed the final rule relating to the disposal
of CCR from electric utilities on December 19, 2014 and submitted it to the Federal Register for publication. The final rule
regulates CCR as solid waste under RCRA. The final rule establishes national minimum criteria for existing and new CCR
landfills, surface impoundments and lateral expansions. The criteria include location restrictions, design and operating criteria,
groundwater monitoring and corrective action, closure requirements and post-closure care and recordkeeping, notification and
internet posting requirements. The rule is largely silent on the reuse of coal ash. These changes in the management of CCR
could increase both our and our customers’ operating costs and potentially reduce their ability to purchase coal. In addition,
contamination caused by the past disposal of CCR, including coal ash, could lead to citizen suit enforcement against our
customers under RCRA or other federal or state laws and potentially reduce the demand for coal.
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act. Under the Comprehensive
Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act, also known as CERCLA or Superfund, and similar state laws,
responsibility for the entire cost of cleanup of a contaminated site, as well as natural resource damages, can be imposed upon
current or former site owners or operators, or upon any party who released one or more designated “hazardous substances” at
the site, regardless of the lawfulness of the original activities that led to the contamination. CERCLA also authorizes the EPA
and, in some cases, third parties to take actions in response to threats to public health or the environment and to seek to recover
from the potentially responsible parties the costs of such action. In the course of our operations, we may have generated and
may generate wastes that fall within CERCLA’s definition of hazardous substances. We may also be an owner or operator of
facilities at which hazardous substances have been released by previous owners or operators. We may be responsible under
CERCLA for all or part of the costs of cleaning up facilities at which such substances have been released and for natural
resource damages. We have not, to our knowledge, been identified as a potentially responsible party under CERCLA, nor are
we aware of any prior owners or operators of our properties that have been so identified with respect to their ownership or
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operation of those properties. We also must comply with reporting requirements under the Emergency Planning and Community
Right-to-Know Act and the Toxic Substances Control Act.
Climate Change Legislation and Regulations. Numerous proposals for federal and state legislation have been made
relating to GHG emissions (including carbon dioxide) and such legislation could result in the creation of substantial additional
costs in the form of taxes or required acquisition or trading of emission allowances. Many of the federal and state climate
change legislative proposals use a “cap and trade” policy structure, in which GHG emissions from a broad cross-section of the
economy would be subject to an overall cap. Under the proposals, the cap would become more stringent with the passage of
time. The proposals establish mechanisms for GHG sources such as power plants to obtain “allowances” or permits to emit
GHGs during the course of a year. The sources may use the allowances to cover their own emissions or sell them to other
sources that do not hold enough emissions for their own operations. Some states, including California, and regional groups
including a number of states in the northeastern and mid-Atlantic regions of the US that are participants in a program known as
the Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative (often referred to as “RGGI”), which is limited to fossil-fuel-burning power plants,
have enacted and are currently operating programs that, in varying ways and degrees, regulate GHGs.
In addition, the EPA, acting under existing provisions of the Clean Air Act, has begun regulating emissions of GHG,
including the enactment of GHG-related reporting and permitting rules as described above. In June of 2014, the U.S. Supreme
Court overturned the EPA’s GHG permitting rules to the extent they required permits based solely on emissions of GHG. Large
sources of air pollutants could still be required to install GHG emission reduction technology. Underground coal mines remain
subject to the EPA’s GHG Reporting Program, which required mines to submit annual GHG emission estimates to EPA, but that
program has not been extended to surface coal mines.
The impact of GHG-related legislation and regulations, including a “cap and trade” structure, on us will depend on a
number of factors, including whether GHG sources in multiple sectors of the economy are regulated, the overall GHG
emissions cap level, the degree to which GHG offsets are allowed, the allocation of emission allowances to specific sources and
the indirect impact of carbon regulation on coal prices. We may not recover from our customers the costs related to compliance
with regulatory requirements imposed on us due to limitations in our agreements.
Passage of additional state or federal laws or regulations regarding GHG emissions or other actions to limit carbon
dioxide emissions could result in fuel switching from coal to other fuel sources by electricity generators and thereby reduce
demand for our coal or indirectly the prices we receive in general. In addition, political and regulatory uncertainty over future
emissions controls have been cited as major factors in decisions by power companies to postpone new coal-fired power plants.
If these or similar measures, such as controls on methane emissions from coal mines, are ultimately imposed by federal or state
governments or pursuant to international treaties, our operating costs or our revenues may be materially and adversely affected.
In addition, alternative sources of power, including wind, solar, nuclear and natural gas could become more attractive than coal
in order to reduce carbon emissions, which could result in a reduction in the demand for coal and, therefore, our revenues.
Similarly, some of our customers, in particular smaller, older power plants, could be at risk of significant reduction in coal burn
or closure as a result of imposed carbon costs. The imposition of a carbon tax or similar regulation could, in certain situations,
lead to the shutdown of coal-fired power plants, which would materially and adversely affect our coal and power plant
revenues.
Bonding Requirements. Federal and state laws require mine operators to assure, usually through the use of surety
bonds, payment of certain long-term obligations, including the costs of mine closure and the costs of reclaiming the mined land.
The costs of these bonds have fluctuated in recent years, and the market terms of surety bonds have generally become more
favorable to us. Surety providers are requiring smaller percentages of collateral to secure a bond, which will require us to
provide less cash to collateralize bonds to allow us to continue mining. These changes in the terms of the bonds have been
accompanied, at times, by an increase in the number of companies willing to issue surety bonds. As of December 31, 2015, we
had posted an aggregate of $132.5 million in surety bonds for reclamation purposes, with approximately $34.5 million of cash
and restricted investment bond collateral.
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Additional Information
We file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “SEC”). You may access and read our filings without charge through the SEC’s website, at www.sec.gov. You
may also read and copy any document we file at the SEC’s public reference room located at 100 F Street, N.E., Room 1580,
Washington, D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information regarding the operation of its public
reference room.
We also make our public reports available through our website, www.westmorelandMLP.com, as soon as practicable
after we file or furnish them with the SEC. You may also request copies of the documents, at no cost, by telephone at (855)
922-6463 or by mail at Westmoreland Resource Partners, LP, 9540 South Maroon Circle, Suite 200, Englewood, CO 80112.
The information on our website is not part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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GLOSSARY OF SELECTED TERMS
Ash: Impurities consisting of silica, alumina, calcium, iron and other noncombustible matter that are contained in
coal. Since ash increases the weight of coal, it adds to the cost of handling and can affect the burning characteristics of coal.
Bituminous coal: A middle rank coal formed by additional pressure and heat on lignite. It is the most common type
of coal with moisture content less than 20% by weight and heating value of 9,500 to 14,000 Btus per pound. It is dense and
black and often has well-defined bands of bright and dull material. It may be referred to as soft coal.
British thermal unit or Btu: A measure of the thermal energy required to raise the temperature of one pound of pure
liquid water one degree Fahrenheit at the temperature at which water has its greatest density (39 degrees Fahrenheit). On
average, coal contains about 11,000 Btu per pound.
Coal seam: A bed or stratum of coal, usually applies to a large deposit.
Compliance coal: Coal which, when burned, emits 1.2 pounds or less of sulfur dioxide per million Btu, as required
by Phase II of the Clean Air Act Acid Rain program.
Dozer: A large, powerful tractor having a vertical blade on the front end for moving earth, rocks, etc.
Fossil fuel: Fuel such as coal, crude oil or natural gas formed from the fossil remains of organic material.
High-Btu coal: Coal which has an average heat content of 12,500 Btus per pound or greater.
Highwall: The unexcavated face of exposed overburden and coal in a surface mine or in a face or bank on the uphill
side of a contour mine excavation.
Lignite: The lowest rank of coal with a high moisture content of up to 15% by weight and heat value of 6,500 to
8,300 Btus per pound. It is brownish black and tends to oxidize and disintegrate when exposed to air.
Illinois Basin: Coal producing area in Illinois, Indiana and western Kentucky.
Limestone: A rock predominantly composed of the mineral calcite (calcium carbonate (“CaCO2”)).
Metallurgical coal: The various grades of coal suitable for carbonization to make coke for steel manufacture. Its
quality depends on four important criteria: volatility, which affects coke yield; the level of impurities including sulfur and
ash, which affects coke quality; composition, which affects coke strength; and basic characteristics, which affect coke oven
safety. Metallurgical coal typically has a particularly high Btu, but low ash and sulfur content.
Nitrogen oxide (NOx): A gas formed in high temperature environments, such as coal combustion, that is a harmful
pollutant and contributes to acid rain.
Northern Appalachia: Coal producing area in Maryland, Ohio, Pennsylvania and northern West Virginia.
Overburden: Layers of earth and rock covering a coal seam, that in surface mining operations must be removed prior
to coal extraction.
Preparation plant: A facility for crushing, sizing and washing coal to prepare it for use by a particular customer. The
washing process has the added benefit of removing some of the coal’s sulfur content. While usually located on a mine site,
one plant may serve multiple mines.
Probable coal reserves: Coal reserves for which quantity and grade and/or quality are computed from information
similar to that used for proven coal reserves, but the sites for inspection, sampling and measurement are farther apart or are
otherwise less adequately spaced. The degree of assurance, although lower than that for proven coal reserves, is high enough
to assume continuity between points of observation.
Proven coal reserves: Coal reserves for which (i) quantity is computed from dimensions revealed in outcrops,
trenches, workings or drill holes; (ii) grade and/or quality are computed from the results of detailed sampling; and (iii) the
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sites for inspection, sampling and measurement are spaced so closely and the geologic character is so well defined that size,
shape, depth and mineral content of coal reserves are well-established.
Proven and probable coal reserves: Coal reserves which are a combination of proven coal reserves and probable
coal reserves.
Reclamation: The restoration of mined land to original contour, use or condition.
Recoverable reserve: The amount of coal that can be extracted from the Reserves. The recovery factor for surface
mines is typically between 80% and 90%.
Reserve: That part of a mineral deposit that could be economically and legally extracted.
Selective catalytic reduction, or SCR, device: A means of converting nitrogen oxides, also referred to as NOx, with
the aid of a catalyst into diatomic nitrogen (N2) and water (H2O).
Sub-bituminous Coal: Dull coal that ranks between lignite and bituminous coal. Its moisture content is between 20%
and 30% by weight and its heat content ranges from 7,800 to 9,500 Btus per pound.
Sulfur: One of the elements present in varying quantities in coal and which contributes to environmental degradation
when coal is burned. Sulfur dioxide is produced as a gaseous byproduct of coal combustion.
Tipple: A structure where coal is loaded in railroad cars or trucks.
Thermal coal (aka Steam coal): Coal burned by electric power plants and industrial steam boilers to produce
electricity, steam or both.
Tons: A “short,” or net, ton is equal to 2,000 pounds. A “long,” or British, ton is equal to 2,240 pounds. A “metric”
ton is approximately 2,205 pounds. The short ton is the unit of measure referred to in this report.
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Item 1A.

Risk Factors

Risks Related to Our Business
Our 2014 Financing Agreement contains operating and financial restrictions that restrict our distributions, business and
financing activities.
Our 2014 Financing Agreement contains significant restrictions on our ability to incur additional liens or
indebtedness, make fundamental changes or dispositions, make changes in the nature of our business, make certain
investments, loans or advances, create certain lease obligations, make capital expenditures in excess of a certain amount,
enter into transactions with affiliates, issue equity interests, and modify indebtedness, organizational and certain other
documents. The 2014 Financing Agreement also contains covenants requiring us to maintain certain financial ratios and
limits our ability to pay distributions to our unitholders, allowing such distributions only under specified circumstances.
The provisions of the 2014 Financing Agreement may affect our ability to obtain future financing and pursue
attractive business opportunities and our flexibility in planning for, and reacting to, changes in business conditions. In
addition, a failure to comply with the provisions of the 2014 Financing Agreement could result in a default or an event of
default that could enable our lenders to declare the outstanding principal of our debt under the 2014 Financing Agreement,
together with accrued and unpaid interest, to be immediately due and payable. If the payment of such debt is accelerated, our
assets may be insufficient to repay such debt in full, and our unitholders could experience a partial or total loss of their
investment.
Our ability to comply with the covenants and restrictions contained in the 2014 Financing Agreement may be
affected by events beyond our control that could hinder our ability to meet our financial forecasts, including prevailing
economic, financial and industry conditions. If market or other economic conditions deteriorate, our ability to comply with
these covenants may be impaired. If we violate any of the covenants or restrictions in the 2014 Financing Agreement, our
indebtedness under the 2014 Financing Agreement may become immediately due and payable, and our lenders' commitment
to make further loans to us may terminate. We might not have, or be able to obtain, sufficient funds to make these
accelerated payments. In addition, our obligations under the 2014 Financing Agreement are secured by substantially all of
our assets and, if we are unable to repay our indebtedness under the 2014 Financing Agreement, the lenders could seek to
foreclose on such assets.
For more information, please read Note 13: Long-Term Debt – Credit Facilities Generally included in the notes to
the consolidated financial statements included in “Item 8 - Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”
Our debt levels may limit our flexibility in obtaining additional financing and in pursuing other business opportunities.
We have a substantial amount of indebtedness. At December 31, 2015, we had a total outstanding indebtedness of
$299.2 million under our 2014 Financing Agreement. Our level of indebtedness could have significant consequences to us
and our unitholders, including the following:
•

our ability to obtain additional financing, if necessary, for working capital, capital expenditures (including
acquisitions) or other purposes may be impaired or such financing may not be available on favorable terms;

•

our ability to meet financial covenants may affect our flexibility in planning for and reacting to changes in our
business, including possible acquisition opportunities;

•

our need to use a portion of our cash flow to make principal and interest payments will reduce the amount of funds
that would otherwise be available for operations, distributions, and future business opportunities;

•

our increased vulnerability to competitive pressures or a downturn in our business or the economy generally; and

•

our flexibility in responding to changing business and economic conditions.

These factors could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations or
prospects. Increases in our total indebtedness would increase our total interest expense costs. Our ability to service our
indebtedness will depend upon, among other things, our future financial and operating performance, which will be affected
by prevailing economic conditions and financial, business, regulatory and other factors, some of which are beyond our
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control. If our operating results are not sufficient to service our current or future indebtedness, we will be forced to take
actions such as reducing or delaying our business activities, acquisitions, investments and/or capital expenditures, selling
assets, restructuring or refinancing our indebtedness, or seeking additional equity capital or bankruptcy protection. We may
not be able to effect any of these remedies on satisfactory terms, or at all.
Certain provisions in our long-term supply contracts may provide limited protection during adverse economic conditions,
may result in economic penalties, and/or may permit customers to terminate such contracts.
Price adjustment, "price re-opener" and other similar provisions in our supply contracts may reduce the protection
from short-term coal price volatility traditionally provided by such contracts. Price re-opener provisions typically require the
parties to agree on a new price. Failure of the parties to agree on a price under a price re-opener provision can lead to
termination of the contract. Any adjustment or renegotiations leading to a significantly lower contract price could adversely
affect our business, financial condition and/or results of operations.
Coal supply contracts also typically contain force majeure provisions allowing temporary suspension of performance
by our customers or us during the duration of specified events beyond the control of the affected party. Most of our coal
supply contracts also contain provisions requiring us to deliver coal meeting quality thresholds for certain characteristics such
as Btu, sulfur content, ash content, hardness and ash fusion temperature. Failure to meet these specifications could result in
economic penalties, including price adjustments, the rejection of deliveries or termination of the contracts. In addition, certain
of our supply contracts permit the customer to terminate the contract in the event of changes in regulations affecting our
industry that increase the price of coal beyond a specified limit. Any events leading to the termination or suspension of one or
more contracts could adversely affect our business, financial condition and/or results of operations.
For more information, please read “Part I, Item 1 - Business -Long-term coal supply contracts.”
We depend on supply contracts with a few customers for a significant portion of our revenues.
We sell a material portion of our coal under supply contracts. As of December 31, 2015, we had sales commitments
for 91.5% of our estimated coal production (including purchased coal to supplement our production) for the year ending
December 31, 2016. When our current contracts with customers expire, our customers may decide not to extend existing
contracts or enter into new contracts. For the year ended December 31, 2015, we derived 95.5% of our total revenues from
coal sales to our ten largest customers (including their affiliates), with our top three customers (including their affiliates)
accounting for 76.0% of such revenues.
In the absence of long-term contracts, our customers may decide to purchase fewer tons of coal than in the past or
on different terms, including different pricing terms. Negotiations to extend existing contracts or enter into new long-term
contracts with those and other customers may not be successful. In addition, interruption in the purchases by or operations of
our principal customers could adversely affect our business, financial condition and/or results of operations. Unscheduled
maintenance outages at our customers’ power plants, unseasonably moderate weather, or increases in the production of
alternative clean-energy generation such as wind power or decreases in the price of competing fossil fuels such as natural gas
are examples of conditions that might cause our customers to reduce their purchases. We may have difficulty identifying
alternative purchasers of our coal if our existing customers suspend or terminate their contracts.
Additionally, certain of our long-term contracts are set to expire in the next several years. Should we be unable to
successfully renew any or all of these expiring contracts, the reduction in the sale of our coal would adversely affect our
operating results and liquidity and could result in significant impairments to our mines should we be unable to execute new
long-term coal supply agreements for the affected mines.
For more information, please read “Part I, Item 1 - Business - Customers” and “- Long-term coal supply contracts.”
We depend upon our ability to collect payments from our customers.
Our ability to receive payment for the coal we sell depends on the continued creditworthiness of our customers.
Periods of economic volatility and tight credit markets increase the risk that we may not be paid.
If the creditworthiness of a customer declines, this would increase the risk that we may not be able to collect
payment for some or all of the coal we delivered to that customer. If we determine that a customer is not creditworthy, we
may not be required to deliver coal under the customer’s coal sales contract. If we are able to withhold shipments, we may
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decide to sell the customer’s coal on the spot market, which may be at prices lower than the contract price, or we may be
unable to sell the coal at all.
Also, competition with other coal suppliers could force us to extend credit to customers on terms that could increase
the risk of payment default.
In addition, we sell some of our coal to brokers who may resell our coal to end users, including utilities. These coal
brokers may have only limited assets, making them less credit worthy than the end users. Under some of these arrangements,
we have contractual privity only with the brokers and may not be able to pursue claims against the end users.
The bankruptcy or financial deterioration of any of our customers, whether an end user or a broker, could adversely
affect our business, financial condition and/or results of operations.
A decline in demand for coal could adversely affect our ability to sell the coal we can produce and a decline in coal prices
could render production from our coal reserves uneconomical.
Our results of operations and the value of our coal reserves are significantly dependent upon the prices we receive
for our coal, as well as our ability to improve productivity and control costs. The prices we receive for coal depend upon
factors beyond our control, including:
• the domestic and foreign supply and demand for coal;
• the quantity and quality of coal available from competitors;
• a decline in prices under existing contracts where the pricing is tied to and adjusted periodically based on indices
reflecting current market pricing;
• competition for production of electricity from non-coal sources, including the price and availability of alternative
fuels;
• domestic air emission standards for coal-fueled power plants and the ability of coal-fueled power plants to meet
these standards by installing scrubbers or other means;
• adverse weather, climate or other natural conditions, including natural disasters;
• the level of domestic and foreign taxes;
• domestic and foreign economic conditions, including economic slowdowns;
• legislative, regulatory and judicial developments, environmental regulatory changes or changes in energy policy and
energy conservation measures that would adversely affect the coal industry, such as legislation limiting carbon
emissions or providing for increased funding and incentives for alternative energy sources;
• the proximity to, capacity of and cost of transportation and port facilities; and
• market price fluctuations for sulfur dioxide emission allowances.
Any adverse change in these factors could result in a decline in demand and lower prices for our coal.
The risk of prolonged recessionary conditions could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.
Because we sell substantially all of our coal to electric utilities, our business and results of operations remain closely
linked to demand for electricity. Recent economic uncertainty has raised the risk of prolonged recessionary conditions.
Historically, global demand for basic inputs, including electricity production, has decreased during periods of economic
downturn. If demand for electricity production decreases, our financial condition and results of operations could be adversely
affected. Furthermore, because we typically seek to enter into long-term arrangements for the sale of a substantial portion of
our coal, the average sales price we receive for our coal may lag behind any general economic recovery.
Competition in the North American coal industry may adversely affect our revenues and results of operations.
Many of our competitors in the North American coal industry are major coal producers who have significantly
greater financial resources than we do. The intense competition among coal producers may impact our ability to retain or
attract customers and may therefore adversely affect our revenues and results of operations. Among other things, competitors
could develop new mines that compete with our mines, have higher quality coal than our mines or build or obtain access to
rail lines that would adversely affect the competitive position of our mines. Additionally, during the last several years, the
U.S. coal industry has experienced increased consolidation, which has contributed to the industry becoming more
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competitive. Increased competition by coal producers or producers of alternate fuels could decrease the demand for, or
pricing of, or both, for our coal, adversely affecting our business, financial condition and/or results of operations. For more
information, please read “Part I, Item 1 - Business - Competition.”
Any changes in consumption patterns by utilities away from the use of coal, such as changes resulting from low natural
gas prices, could affect our ability to sell the coal we produce.
We compete with coal producers in the Midwest, northeastern U.S. and Rocky Mountain regions and in other coal
producing regions of the United States. The domestic demand for, and prices of, our coal primarily depend on coal
consumption patterns of the domestic electric utility industry. Thermal coal accounted for 100% of our coal sales volume for
the year ended December 31, 2015. During this period, 59.6% of our thermal coal sales were to electric utilities for use
primarily as fuel for domestic electricity consumption. In addition to competing with other coal producers, we compete
generally with producers of other fuels. The amount of coal consumed by the domestic electric utility industry is affected
primarily by the overall demand for electricity, environmental and other governmental regulations, and the price and
availability of competing fuels for power plants such as nuclear, natural gas and oil, as well as alternative sources of energy.
For the first eleven months of 2015, the EIA estimates that coal consumption in the electric power sector totaled 690 million
tons, or 93% of total U.S. coal consumption, a historic low, due to low natural gas prices paid by the electric generators that
led to a significant increase in the share of natural gas-fired power generation. A further decrease in coal consumption by the
electric utility industry could adversely affect the demand for, and price of, coal, which could negatively impact our results of
operations and liquidity.
The economic stability of these markets has a significant effect on the demand for coal and the level of competition
in supplying these markets.
Some power plants are fueled by natural gas because of the relatively lower construction costs of such plants
compared to coal-fired plants and because natural gas is a cleaner burning fuel. In addition, some states have adopted or are
considering legislation that encourages domestic electric utilities to switch from coal-fired power generation plants to natural
gas powered plants. Further, legislation requiring, subsidizing or providing tax benefits for the use of alternative energy
sources and fuels, or legislation providing financing or incentives to encourage continuing technological advances in this
area, could further enable alternative energy sources to become more competitive with coal. Passage of these and other state
or federal laws or regulations limiting carbon dioxide emissions could result in fuel switching, from coal to other fuel
sources, by purchasers of our coal. Such laws and regulations could also mandate decreases in carbon dioxide emissions from
coal-fired power plants, impose taxes on carbon emissions or require certain technology to capture and sequester carbon
dioxide from coal-fired power plants. If these or similar measures are ultimately imposed by federal or state governments or
pursuant to international treaty, our reserves and operating costs may be materially and adversely affected. Similarly,
alternative fuels (non-fossil fuels) could become more attractive than coal in order to reduce carbon emissions, which could
result in a reduction in the demand for coal and, therefore, our revenues.
Recently, the supply of natural gas has reached record highs and the price of natural gas has remained at depressed
levels for sustained periods due to extraction techniques involving horizontal drilling and hydraulic fracturing that have led to
economic access to large quantities of natural gas in the United States, making it an attractive competing fuel. A continuing
decline in the price of natural gas, or continuing periods of sustained low natural gas prices, could cause demand for coal to
decrease, result in fuel switching and decreased coal consumption by electricity-generating utilities and adversely affect the
price of our coal. Sustained low natural gas prices may cause utilities to phase-out or close existing coal-fired power plants or
reduce construction of any new coal-fired power plants, which could have a material adverse effect on demand and prices
received for our coal.
Our business requires substantial capital expenditures, and we may not have access to the capital required to maintain
full productive capacity at our mines.
Maintaining and expanding mines and infrastructure is capital intensive. Specifically, the exploration, permitting and
development of coal reserves, mining costs, the maintenance of machinery and equipment and compliance with applicable
laws and regulations require substantial capital expenditures. We must continue to invest capital to maintain or to increase our
production. Decisions to increase our production levels could also affect our capital needs. We cannot assure you that we will
be able to maintain our production levels or generate sufficient cash flow, or that we will have access to sufficient financing
to continue our production, exploration, permitting and development activities at or above our present levels, and we may be
required to defer all or a portion of our capital expenditures. As of December 31, 2015, our liquidity of $18.7 million
consisted of $3.7 million of cash on hand and $15.0 million of availability under our Revolving Credit Facility. Our results of
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operations, business and financial condition, as well as our ability to pay distributions to our unitholders may be materially
adversely affected if we cannot make such capital expenditures.
The amount of estimated reserve replacement capital expenditures our general partner is required to deduct from
operating surplus each quarter could increase in the future, resulting in a decrease in available cash from operating
surplus that could be distributed to our unitholders.
Our partnership agreement requires our general partner to deduct from operating surplus each quarter estimated
reserve replacement expenditures as opposed to actual reserve replacement expenditures in order to reduce disparities in
operating surplus caused by fluctuating reserve replacement costs. This amount is based on our current estimates of the
amounts of expenditures we will be required to make in future years to maintain our depleting reserve base, which we believe
to be reasonable. In the future, our estimated reserve replacement expenditures may be more than our actual reserve
replacement expenditures, which will reduce the amount of available cash from operating surplus that we would otherwise
have available for distribution to unitholders. The amount of estimated reserve replacement expenditures deducted from
operating surplus is subject to review and change by the board of directors of our general partner at least once a year, subject
to approval by the conflicts committee of the board of directors of our general partner (the “Conflicts Committee”).
An inability to acquire replacement coal reserves could adversely affect our ability to produce coal.
Our business, financial condition and results of operations depend substantially on obtaining coal reserves that have
geological characteristics that enable them to be mined at competitive costs and to meet the coal quality needed by our
customers. Because we deplete our reserves as we mine coal, our future success and growth will depend, in part, upon our
ability to acquire additional coal reserves that are economically recoverable. Our current strategy includes increasing our coal
reserves through acquisitions of other mineral rights, leases, or producing properties and continuing to use our existing
properties. Our ability to expand our operations may be dependent on our ability to obtain sufficient working capital, either
through cash flows generated from operations or financing activities, or both. If we fail to acquire or develop additional
reserves, our existing reserves will eventually be depleted. Replacement reserves may not be available when required or, if
available, may not be capable of being mined at costs comparable to those characteristic of the depleting mines. Exhaustion
of reserves at particular mines with certain valuable coal characteristics also may have an adverse effect on our operating
results that is disproportionate to the percentage of overall production represented by such mines. Our ability to obtain other
reserves could be limited by restrictions under our existing credit facilities or future debt agreements. Our inability to obtain
reserves could adversely affect our business, financial condition and/or results of operations.
Because most of the coal in the vicinity of our mines is owned by the U.S. federal government, our future success and
growth would be affected if we are unable to acquire or are significantly delayed in the acquisition of additional reserves
through the federal competitive leasing process.
The U.S. federal government owns most of the coal in the vicinity of our mines. Accordingly, the federal
competitive leasing process, which is administered by the Bureau of Land Management (“BLM”), is our primary means of
acquiring additional reserves. In order to win a lease and acquire additional coal, our bid for a coal tract must meet or exceed
the fair market value of the coal based on the internal estimates of the BLM, which are not published, and must also exceed
any third-party bids. The BLM, however, is not required to grant a lease even if it determines that a bid meets or exceeds the
fair market value estimate. Furthermore, since multiple parties are permitted to submit bids for any such federal lease, another
bid may be accepted instead of our own. Over time, federal coal leases have become increasingly more competitive and
expensive to obtain, and the review process to act on a lease for bid continues to lengthen. We expect this trend to continue.
Any failure or delay in acquiring a coal lease, or the inability to do so on economically viable terms, could cause our
production to decline, and may adversely affect our business, cash flows and results of operations, perhaps materially. In
January 2016, the U.S. Department of the Interior Secretary Jewell issued an order calling for a comprehensive programmatic
review under the National Environmental Policy Act of the federal coal program to ensure that the program prices the leases
appropriately and takes into account impacts on the environment and public health. The Department has suspended all new
coal leasing decisions pending completion of this review. The programmatic review does not affect coal reserves currently
under lease. The review will look closely at how, when and where leases will occur. The review is anticipated to take at least
three years to complete.
The leasing process also requires us to acquire rights to mine from certain surface owners overlying the coal before
the federal government will agree to lease the coal. Surface rights are becoming increasingly more difficult and costly to
acquire. Certain federal regulations provide a specific class of surface owners, also known as qualified surface owners
(‘‘QSOs’’), with the ability to prohibit the BLM from leasing its coal. If a QSO owns the land overlying a coal tract, federal
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laws prohibit us from leasing the coal tract without first securing surface rights to the land, or purchasing the surface rights
from the QSO. This right of QSOs allows them to exercise significant influence over negotiations to acquire surface rights
and can delay the leasing process or ultimately prevent the acquisition of coal underlying their surface rights. If we are unable
to successfully negotiate access rights with QSOs at a price and on terms acceptable to us, we may be unable to acquire
federal coal leases on land owned by the QSO. Our profitability could be adversely affected, perhaps materially, if the prices
to acquire land owned by QSOs increase.
We may not be able to successfully replace our reserves or grow through future acquisitions or organic growth projects.
From time to time, we may seek to expand our operations by adding new mines and reserves through strategic
acquisitions or other organic growth projects, including drop-downs from our general partner, and we intend to continue
expanding our operations and coal reserves through these transactions. Our future growth could be limited if we are unable to
continue making acquisitions or conducting organic growth projects, or if we are unable to successfully integrate the
companies, businesses or properties we acquire or that are contributed to us from our general partner. We may not be
successful in consummating any such transactions and the consequences of undertaking these transactions are unknown. Our
ability to conduct these transactions in the future could be limited by restrictions under our existing or future debt
agreements, competition from other coal companies for attractive properties, the lack of suitable acquisition candidates, and
regulatory restrictions on us or our general partner.
Our reserve estimates may prove to be incorrect.
The coal reserve estimates in this report are estimates based on the interpretation of limited sampling and subjective
judgments regarding the grade, continuity and existence of mineralization, as well as the application of economic
assumptions, including assumptions as to operating costs and future commodity prices. The sampling, interpretations or
assumptions underlying any reserve estimate may be incorrect, and the impact on the amount of reserves ultimately proven to
be recoverable may be material. Should the mineralization and/or configuration of a deposit ultimately turn out to be
significantly different from that currently envisaged, then the proposed mining plan may have to be altered in a way that
could affect the tonnage and grade of the reserves mined and rates of production and, consequently, could adversely affect the
profitability of the mining operations. In addition, short term operating factors relating to the reserves, such as the need for
orderly development of ore bodies or the processing of new or different ores, may cause reserve estimates to be modified or
operations to be unprofitable in any particular fiscal period. There can be no assurance that our projects or operations will be,
or will continue to be, economically viable, that the indicated amount of minerals will be recovered or that they will be
recovered at the prices assumed for purposes of estimating reserves.
Any inaccuracies in our estimates of our coal reserves could result in decreased profitability from lower than expected
revenues or higher than expected costs.
Our future performance depends on, among other things, the accuracy of our estimates of our proven and probable
coal reserves. Our reserve estimates are prepared by our engineers and geologists or by third-party engineering firms and are
updated periodically. There are numerous factors and assumptions inherent in estimating the quantities and qualities of, and
costs to mine, coal reserves, including many factors beyond our control which include the following:
• quality of the coal;
• geological and mining conditions, which may not be fully identified by available exploration data and/or may differ
from our experiences in areas where we currently mine;
• the percentage of coal ultimately recoverable;
• the assumed effects of regulation, including the issuance of required permits, taxes, including severance and excise
taxes and royalties, and other payments to governmental agencies;
• economic assumptions, including assumptions as to future commodity prices;
• assumptions concerning the timing for the development of the reserves; and
• assumptions concerning equipment and productivity, future coal prices, operating costs, including for critical
supplies such as fuel, tires and explosives, capital expenditures and development and reclamation costs.
As a result, estimates of the quantities and qualities of economically recoverable coal attributable to any particular
group of properties, classifications of reserves based on risk of recovery, estimated cost of production, and estimates of future
net cash flows expected from these properties may vary materially due to changes in the above factors and assumptions. Any
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inaccuracy in our estimates related to our reserves could result in decreased profitability from lower than expected revenues
or higher than expected costs.
A defect in title or the loss of a leasehold interest in certain property could limit our ability to mine our coal reserves or
result in significant unanticipated costs.
We conduct a significant part of our coal mining operations on properties that we lease. A title defect or the loss of a
lease could adversely affect our ability to mine the associated coal reserves. We may not verify title to our leased properties
or associated coal reserves until we have committed to developing those properties or coal reserves. We may not commit to
develop property or coal reserves until we have obtained necessary permits and completed exploration. As such, the title to
property that we intend to lease or coal reserves that we intend to mine may contain defects prohibiting our ability to conduct
mining operations. Similarly, our leasehold interests may be subject to superior property rights of other third parties. In order
to conduct our mining operations on properties where these defects exist, we may incur unanticipated costs. In addition, some
leases require us to produce a minimum quantity of coal and require us to pay minimum production royalties. Our inability to
satisfy those requirements may cause the leasehold interest to terminate.
We are dependent on information technology and our systems and infrastructure face certain risks, including
cybersecurity risks and data leakage risks.
We are dependent on information technology systems and infrastructure. Any significant breakdown, invasion,
destruction or interruption of these systems by employees, others with authorized access to our systems, or unauthorized
persons could negatively impact operations. There is also a risk that we could experience a business interruption, theft of
information, or reputational damage as a result of a cyber-attack, such as an infiltration of a data center, or data leakage of
confidential information either internally or at our third-party providers. While we have invested in the protection of our data
and information technology to reduce these risks and periodically test the security of our information systems network, there
can be no assurance that our efforts will prevent breakdowns or breaches in our systems that could adversely affect our
business.
Concerns regarding climate change are, in many of the places where we operate, leading to increasing interest in, and in
some cases enactment of, laws and regulations governing greenhouse gas emissions, which affect the end-users of coal
and could reduce the demand for coal as a fuel source and cause the volume of our sales and/or the prices we receive to
decline. These laws and regulations also have imposed, and will continue to impose, costs directly on us.
GHG emissions have increasingly become the subject of international, national, state, provincial and local attention.
Coal-fired power plants can generate large amounts of GHG emissions. Accordingly, legislation or regulation intended to
limit GHGs will likely indirectly affect our coal operations by limiting our customers’ demand for our products or reducing
the prices we can obtain, and also may directly affect our own power operations. In the United States, the EPA, acting s under
existing provisions of the federal Clean Air Act has promulgated GHG-related reporting and permitting rules. Portions of the
EPA’s GHG permitting rules, which were the subject of litigation by some industry groups and states, were struck down in
part by the U.S. Supreme Court, but the EPA’s authority to impose GHG control technologies on a majority of large
emissions sources, including coal-fired electric utilities, remain in place. In furtherance of President Obama’s announced a
Climate Action Plan announced in June 2013, the EPA issued in August 2015 final standards for GHG emissions from
existing fossil-fuel fired power plants, as well as new, modified and reconstructed fossil-fuel fired power plants. The Clean
Power Plan sets standards for existing sources as stringent state-specific carbon emission rates to be phased in between 2020
and 2030. The proposed rule would give states the discretion to use a variety of approaches - including cap-and-trade
programs - to meet the standard. In February of 2016, however, the Supreme Court issued an order staying the Clean Power
Plan pending judicial review of the rule by the U.S. Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit as potentially review by the
Supreme Court. The D.C. Circuit issued an expedited briefing schedule for challenges to the rule, and oral argument is
schedule for June of 2016. The U.S. Congress has considered, and in the future may again consider, legislation governing
GHG emission, including “cap and trade” legislation that would establish a cap on emissions of GHGs covering much of the
economy in the United States and would require most sources of GHG emissions to obtain GHG emission “allowances”
corresponding to their annual emissions of GHGs. In addition, coal-fired power plants, including new coal-fired power plants
or capacity expansions of existing plants, have become subject to opposition by environmental groups seeking to curb the
environmental effects of GHG emissions. It is difficult to predict at this time the effect these proposed rules would have on
our revenues and profitability. For additional information, see “Business - Material Effects of Regulation” in this report.
Political opposition to the development of new coal-fired power plants, or regulatory uncertainty regarding future
emissions controls, may result in fewer such plants being built, which would limit our ability to grow in the future.
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An inability to obtain and/or review permits necessary for our operations could prevent us from mining certain coal
reserves.
The slowing pace at which permits are issued or renewed for new and existing mines in WMLP’s area of operations has
materially impacted production in Appalachia. Section 402 National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System permits and
Section 404 CWA permits are required to discharge wastewater and dredged or fill material into waters of the United States.
WMLP’s surface coal mining operations typically require such permits to authorize activities such as the creation of sediment
ponds and the reconstruction of streams and wetlands impacted by its mining operations. Although the CWA gives the EPA a
limited oversight role in the Section 404 permitting program, the EPA has recently asserted its authorities more forcefully to
question, delay, and prevent issuance of some Section 404 permits for surface coal mining in Appalachia. Currently,
significant uncertainty exists regarding the obtaining of permits under the CWA for coal mining operations in Appalachia due
to various initiatives launched by the EPA regarding these permits, including the issuance in May 2015 of a final rule revising
the definition of regulated waters. The slowing pace at which permits are issued or renewed for new and existing mines has
materially impacted production in Appalachia, but could also affect other regions in which WMLP operates. In May 2015, the
EPA and the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers jointly issued a final rule to clarify which waters and wetlands are subject to
regulation under the CWA. The implementation of this rule was stayed nationwide in October 2015. An inability to obtain
the necessary permits to conduct WMLP’s mining operations or an inability to comply with the requirements of applicable
permits could reduce WMLP’s production and cash flows, which could adversely affect its business, financial condition and/
or results of operations and our cash flow.
Our coal mining operations are subject to external conditions that could disrupt operations and negatively affect our
results of operations.
Our coal mining operations are all surface mines. These mines are subject to conditions or events beyond our control
that could disrupt operations, affect production, and increase the cost of mining at particular mines for varying lengths of
time. These conditions or events include: unplanned equipment failures; geological, hydrological or other conditions such as
variations in the quality of the coal produced from a particular seam; variations in the thickness of coal seams and variations
in the amounts of rock and other natural materials that overlie the coal that we are mining; weather conditions; competition
and/or conflicts with other natural gas resource extraction activities and production within our operating areas; inability to
acquire or maintain necessary permits or mining or surface rights; changes in governmental regulation of the mining industry
or the electric utility industry; accidental mine water flooding; labor-related interruptions; transportation delays in barge, rail
and truck systems due to weather-related problems, mechanical difficulties, strikes, bottlenecks, and other events; mining and
processing equipment unavailability and failures and unexpected maintenance problems; potential unionization of our
workforce; and accidents, including fire and explosions from methane. Major disruptions in operations at any of our mines
over a lengthy period could adversely affect the profitability of our mines. Any of these conditions may increase the cost of
mining and delay or halt production at particular mines for varying lengths of time, which in turn could adversely affect our
business, financial condition and/or results of operations.
Unplanned outages and extensions of scheduled outages due to mechanical failures or other problems occur from
time to time at our power plant customers and are an inherent risk of our business. Unplanned outages typically increase our
operation and maintenance expenses and may reduce our revenues due to selling fewer tons of coal. We maintain business
interruption insurance coverage to lessen the impact of events such as this. However, business interruption insurance may not
always provide adequate compensation for lost coal sales, and significant unanticipated outages at our power plant customers
which result in lost coal sales could result in significant adverse effects on our operating results.
In general, mining accidents present a risk of various potential liabilities depending on the nature of the accident, the
location, the proximity of employees or other persons to the accident scene and a range of other factors. Possible liabilities
arising from a mining accident include workers’ compensation claims or civil lawsuits for workplace injuries, claims for
personal injury or property damage by people living or working nearby, and fines and penalties including possible criminal
enforcement against us and certain of our employees. In addition, a significant accident that results in a mine shutdown could
give rise to liabilities for failure to meet the requirements of coal-supply agreements, especially if the counterparties dispute
our invocation of the force majeure provisions of those agreements. We maintain insurance coverage to mitigate the risks of
certain of these liabilities, but those policies are subject to various exclusions and limitations. We cannot assure you that we
will receive coverage under those policies for any personal injury, or property damage that may arise out of such an accident.
Currently, we do not carry business interruption insurance and we may not carry other types of insurance in the future.
Moreover, certain potential liabilities, such as fines and penalties, are not insurable risks. Thus, a serious mine accident may
result in material liabilities that adversely affect our business, financial condition and/or results of operations.
27

WESTMORELAND RESOURCE PARTNERS, LP AND SUBSIDIARIES
Our operations are vulnerable to natural disasters, operating difficulties and infrastructure constraints, not all of which
are covered by insurance, which could have an impact on our productivity.
Mining and power operations are vulnerable to natural events, including blizzards, earthquakes, drought, floods, fire,
storms and the possible effects of climate change. Operating difficulties such as unexpected geological variations could affect
the costs and viability of our operations. Our operations also require reliable roads, rail networks, power sources and power
transmission facilities, water supplies and IT systems to access and conduct operations. The availability and cost of
infrastructure affects our capital expenditures, operating costs, and planned levels of production and sales.
We maintain insurance for some, but not all, of the potential risks and liabilities associated with our business. For
some risks, we may not obtain insurance if we believe the cost of available insurance is excessive relative to the risks
presented. As a result of market conditions, premiums and deductibles for certain insurance policies can increase
substantially, and in some instances, certain insurance may become unavailable or available only for reduced amounts of
coverage. As a result, we may not be able to renew our existing insurance policies or procure other desirable insurance on
commercially reasonable terms, if at all. Although we maintain insurance at levels we believe are appropriate and consistent
with industry practice, we are not fully insured against all risks. In addition, pollution and environmental risks and
consequences of any business interruptions such as equipment failure or labor disputes generally are not fully insurable.
Losses and liabilities from uninsured and underinsured events and delay in the payment of insurance proceeds could have a
material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
Mining in Northern Appalachia and the Illinois Basin is more complex and involves more regulatory constraints than
mining in other areas of the United States.
The geological characteristics of Northern Appalachian and Illinois Basin coal reserves, such as depth of overburden
and coal seam thickness, make them complex and costly to mine. As mines become depleted, replacement reserves may not
be available when required or, if available, may not be capable of being mined at costs comparable to those of the depleting
mines. These factors could adversely affect our business, financial condition and/or results of operations.
The assumptions underlying our reclamation and mine closure obligations could be materially inaccurate.
The Federal Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act of 1977 and counterpart state laws and regulations
establish operational, reclamation and closure standards for all aspects of surface mining, as well as most aspects of
underground mining. Estimates of our total reclamation and mine closing liabilities are based upon permit requirements and
our engineering expertise related to these requirements. While the estimate of our reclamation liability is reviewed regularly
by our management, the estimate can change significantly if actual costs vary from assumptions or if governmental
regulations change significantly. Such changes could adversely affect our business, financial condition and/or results of
operations.
If the assumptions underlying our asset retirement obligations are materially inaccurate, we could be required to expend
greater amounts than anticipated.
We are subject to stringent reclamation and closure standards for our mining operations. We calculate the total
estimated asset retirement obligations, or ARO, for final reclamation and mine closure according to the guidance provided by
GAAP and current industry practice. Estimates of our total ARO are based upon permit requirements and our engineering
expertise related to these requirements. If our estimates are incorrect, we could be required in future periods to spend
materially different amounts on reclamation and mine-closing activities than we currently estimate.
We estimate that our gross ARO, which is based upon projected mine lives, current mine plans, permit requirements
and our experience, was $56.6 million (on a present value basis) at December 31, 2015. We must recover the costs incurred
for these liabilities from revenues generated by coal sales.
Although we update our estimated costs annually, our recorded obligations may prove to be inadequate due to
changes in legislation or standards and the emergence of new restoration techniques. Furthermore, the expected timing of
expenditures could change significantly due to changes in commodity costs or prices that might curtail the life of an
operation. These recorded obligations could prove insufficient compared to the actual cost of reclamation. Any
underestimated or unidentified close down, restoration or environmental rehabilitation costs could have an adverse effect on
our reputation as well as our asset values, results of operations and liquidity.
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For more information, please read "Part II, Item 7 - Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations-Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates-Reclamation and Mine Closure Costs."
If the cost of obtaining new reclamation bonds and renewing existing reclamation bonds increases or if we are unable to
obtain additional bonding capacity, our operating results could be negatively affected.
We are required to provide bonds to secure our obligations to reclaim lands used for mining. We must post a bond
before we obtain a permit to mine any new area. These bonds are typically renewable on a yearly basis. Bonding companies
are requiring that applicants collateralize increasing portions of their obligations to the bonding company. In 2015, we paid
approximately $3.0 million in premiums for reclamation bonds. We anticipate that, as we permit additional areas for our
mines, our bonding and collateral requirements could increase. Any cash that we provide to collateralize our obligations to
our bonding companies is not available to support our other business activities. Our results of operations could be negatively
affected if the cost of our reclamation bonding premiums and collateral requirements were to increase. Additionally, if we are
unable to obtain additional bonding capacity due to cash flow constraints, we will be unable to begin mining operations in
newly permitted areas, which would hamper our ability to efficiently meet our current customer contract deliveries, expand
operations, and increase revenues.
Transportation impediments may hinder our current operations or future growth.
We depend upon barge, rail and truck systems to deliver coal to our customers. Disruptions in transportation
services due to weather-related problems, mechanical difficulties, strikes, lockouts, bottlenecks, and other events could
impair our ability to deliver coal to our customers. As we do not have long-term contracts with transportation providers to
ensure consistent service, decreased performance levels over long periods of time could cause our customers to look to other
sources for their coal needs. In addition, increases in transportation costs, including the price of gasoline and diesel fuel,
could make coal a less competitive source of energy when compared to alternative fuels or could make coal produced in one
region of the United States less competitive than coal produced in other regions of the United States or abroad. Our inability
to timely deliver coal due to rising transportation costs could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and/or results of operations.
The unavailability of rail capacity could also hinder our future growth as we seek to sell coal into new markets. The
current availability of rail cars is limited and at times unavailable because of repairs or improvements, or because of priority
transportation agreements with other customers. If transportation is restricted or is unavailable, we may be unable to sell into
new markets and, therefore, the lack of rail capacity could hamper our future growth.
It is possible that one or more states in which our coal is transported by truck may modify their laws to further limit
truck weight limits. In recent years, the Commonwealth of Kentucky and the State of West Virginia have increased
enforcement of weight limits on coal trucks on their public roads. It is possible that all states in which our coal is transported
by truck may modify their laws to limit truck weight limits. Such legislation and enforcement efforts could result in shipment
delays and increased costs, which could have an adverse effect on our ability to increase or to maintain production and could
adversely affect our revenues.
Decreased availability or increased costs of key equipment and materials could impact our cost of production and
decrease our profitability.
We depend on reliable supplies of mining equipment, replacement parts and materials such as explosives, diesel fuel,
tires and magnetite. The supplier base providing mining materials and equipment has been relatively consistent in recent
years, although there continues to be consolidation, which has resulted in a limited number of suppliers for certain types of
equipment and supplies. Any significant reduction in availability or increase in cost of any mining equipment or key supplies
could adversely affect our operations and increase our costs, which could adversely affect our operating results and cash
flows.
In addition, the prices we pay for these materials are strongly influenced by the global commodities market. Coal
mines consume large quantities of commodities such as steel, copper, rubber products, explosives, diesel and other liquid
fuels. A rapid or significant increase in the cost of these commodities could increase our mining costs because we have
limited ability to negotiate lower prices, and in some cases, do not have a ready substitute.
We enter into forward-purchase contract arrangements for a portion of our anticipated diesel fuel and explosive
needs. Additionally, some of our expected diesel fuel requirements are protected, in varying amounts, by diesel fuel
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escalation provisions contained in coal supply contracts with some of our customers, that allow for a change in the price per
coal ton sold. Price changes typically lag the changes in diesel fuel costs by one quarter. While our strategy provides us
protection in the event of price increases to our diesel fuel, it may also prevent us from the benefits of price decreases. If
prices for diesel fuel decreased significantly below our forward-purchase contracts, we would lose the benefit of any such
decrease.
We face intense competition to attract and retain employees.
We are dependent on retaining existing employees and attracting additional qualified employees to meet current and
future needs. We face intense competition for qualified employees, and there can be no assurance that we will be able to
attract and retain such employees or that such competition among potential employers will not result in increasing salaries.
We rely on employees with unique skill sets to perform our mining operations, including engineers, mechanics and other
highly skilled individuals. An inability to retain existing employees or attract additional employees, especially with mining
skills and background, could have a material adverse effect on our business, cash flows, financial condition and results of
operations.
The Kemmerer Drop added unionized employees to our workforce, and our workforce may become further unionized in
the future.
Approximately 236 of Kemmerer’s 297 employees who joined our workforce in connection with the Kemmerer
Drop are union employees represented by United Mine Workers of America (“UMWA”), and additional members of our
workforce may become represented by unions in the future. Although the Kemmerer employees are employed at the WCC
level, the exposure to unionized labor in our workforce nonetheless presents an increased risk of strikes and other labor
disputes, and our ability to alter labor costs will be subject to collective bargaining, which could adversely affect stability of
production and our results of operations. While the occurrence of labor strikes are generally deemed force majeure events
under Kemmerer’s long-term coal supply agreements, which would thereby exempt the mine from its delivery obligations,
the loss of revenue from the Kemmerer mine caused by a labor strike for even a short time could have a material adverse
effect on our financial results, cash flows and ability to make distributions to our unitholders.
Congress has proposed legislation to enact a law allowing workers to choose union representation solely by signing
election cards, which would eliminate the use of secret ballots to elect union representation. While the impact is uncertain, if
the government enacts this proposal into law, which would make it administratively easier to unionize, it may lead to more
coal mines becoming unionized. Increased unionization of our mines may adversely affect our business, financial condition
and/or results of operations.
Extensive government regulations impose significant costs on our mining operations, and future regulations could
increase those costs or limit our ability to produce and sell coal.
The coal mining industry is subject to increasingly strict regulation by federal, state and local authorities with
respect to matters such as:
• limitations on land use;
• employee health and safety;
• mandated benefits for retired coal miners;
• mine permitting and licensing requirements;
• reclamation and restoration of mining properties after mining is completed;
• air quality standards;
• discharges to water;
• construction and permitting of facilities required for mining operations, including valley fills and other structures
constructed in water bodies and wetlands;
• protection of human health, plant life and wildlife;
• management of the materials generated by mining operations and discharge of these materials into the environment;
• effects of mining on groundwater quality and availability; and
• remediation of contaminated soil, surface and groundwater.
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We are required to prepare and present to governmental authorities data concerning the potential effects of any
proposed exploration or production of coal on the environment and the public has statutory rights to submit objections to
requested permits and approvals. Failure to comply with MSHA regulations may result in the assessment of administrative,
civil and criminal penalties. Other governmental agencies may impose cleanup and site restoration costs and liens, issue
injunctions to limit or cease operations, suspend or revoke permits and take other enforcement measures that could have the
effect of limiting production from our operations. We may also incur costs and liabilities resulting from claims for damages to
property or injury to persons arising from our operations. If we are pursued for any sanctions, costs and liabilities, our mining
operations and, as a result, our results of operations, could be adversely affected.
United States federal and state regulatory agencies have the authority to temporarily or permanently close a mine
following significant health and safety incidents, such as a fatality. In the event that these agencies order the closing any of
our mines, our coal sales contracts may permit us to issue force majeure notices which suspend our obligations to deliver coal
under these contracts. However, our customers may challenge our issuances of force majeure notices. If these challenges are
successful, we may have to purchase coal from third-party sources, if it is available, and potentially at prices higher than our
cost to produce coal, to fulfill these obligations, and negotiate settlements with customers, which may include price and
quantity reductions, the extension of time for delivery, or contract termination. Additionally, we may be required to incur
capital expenditures to re-open any closed mines. These actions could adversely affect our business, financial condition and/
or results of operations.
New legislation or regulations and orders may be adopted that may materially adversely affect our mining
operations, our cost structure and/or our customers’ ability to use coal. New legislation or administrative regulations (or new
judicial interpretations or administrative enforcement of existing laws and regulations), including proposals related to the
protection of the environment that would further regulate and tax the coal industry, may also require us and/or our customers
to change operations significantly or incur increased costs. These regulations, if proposed and enacted in the future, could
have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and/or results of operations.
For more information, please read “Part I, Item 1 - Business-Environmental, Safety and Other Regulatory Matters.”
Federal legislation could result in higher healthcare costs.
In March 2010, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (the “PPACA”) was enacted, impacting our costs of
providing healthcare benefits to our eligible active employees, with both short-term and long-term implications. In the short
term, our healthcare costs could increase due to, among other things, an increase in the maximum age for covered dependents
to receive benefits, changes to benefits for occupational disease related illnesses, the elimination of lifetime dollar limits per
covered individual and restrictions on annual dollar limits per covered individual. In the long term, our healthcare costs could
increase for these same reasons, as well as due to an excise tax on “high cost” plans, among other things. Implementation of
this legislation is expected to extend through 2018.
Beginning in 2018, the PPACA will impose a 40% excise tax on employers to the extent that the value of their
healthcare plan coverage exceeds certain dollar thresholds. We anticipate that certain governmental agencies will provide
additional regulations or interpretations concerning the application of this excise tax. We will continue to evaluate the impact
of the PPACA, including any new regulations or interpretations, in future periods.
Any increase in cost, as a result of legislation or otherwise, could adversely affect our business, financial condition
and/or results of operations.
Mining operations are subject to extensive and costly environmental laws and regulations, and such current and future
laws and regulations could materially increase our operating costs or limit our ability to produce and sell coal.
The coal mining industry is subject to numerous and extensive federal, state and local environmental laws and
regulations, including laws and regulations pertaining to permitting and licensing requirements, air quality standards, plant
and wildlife protection, reclamation and restoration of mining properties, the discharge of materials into the environment, the
storage, treatment and disposal of wastes, protection of wetlands, surface subsidence from underground mining, and the
effects that mining has on groundwater quality and availability. The costs, liabilities and requirements associated with these
laws and regulations are significant, time-consuming and may delay commencement or continuation of our operations.
The possibility exists that new laws or regulations (or new judicial interpretations or enforcement of existing laws
and regulations) could materially affect our mining operations and our business, financial condition and/or results of
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operations, either through direct impacts such as those regulating our existing mining operations, or indirect impacts such as
those that discourage or limit our customers' use of coal. For example, the EPA and the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers have
issued a final rule to clarify which waters and wetlands are subject to regulation under the CWA. The implementation of the
rule was stayed nationwide in October 2015. A change in CWA jurisdiction and permitting requirements could increase or
decrease our permitting and compliance costs. Additionally, in June 2013, President Obama issued a Climate Action Plan,
which included a focus on methane reductions from coal mines. In January 2015, the Administration issued its methane
strategy, but it did not include requirements for coal mines. Although we believe that we are in substantial compliance with
existing laws and regulations, we may, in the future, experience violations that would subject us to administrative, civil and
criminal penalties and a range of other possible sanctions. As a result, the consequences for any noncompliance may become
more significant in the future.
Extensive environmental laws, including existing and potential future legislation, treaties and regulatory requirements
relating to air emissions other than GHGs, affect our customers and could reduce the demand for coal as a fuel source
and cause coal prices and sales of our coal to materially decline.
Our customers are subject to extensive environmental regulations particularly with respect to air emissions other
than GHG. Coal contains impurities, including but not limited to sulfur, mercury, chlorine and other elements or compounds,
many of which are released into the air when coal is burned. The emission of these and other substances is extensively
regulated at the federal, state, provincial and local level, and these regulations significantly affect our customers’ ability to
use the coal we produce and, therefore, the demand for that coal. Further, increased market prices for sulfur dioxide
emissions allowances and increased coal ash management costs could also favor an increased blend of the lower ash
compliance coal. In such a case, the customer has the option to increase its purchases of other coal and reduce purchases of
our coal or terminate our contract. A termination of the contract or a significant reduction in the amount of our coal that is
purchased by the customer could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition. The EPA
intends to issue or has issued a number of significant regulations that will impose more stringent requirements relating to air,
water and waste controls on electric generating units. These rules include the EPA’s final rule for CCR management,
announced in December 2014, that further regulates the handling of wastes from the combustion of coal. In addition, in
February 2012, the EPA signed a rule to reduce emissions of mercury and toxic air pollutants from new and existing coal- and
oil-fired electric utility steam generating units, often referred to as the MATS Rule. In June of 2015, the U.S. Supreme Court
reversed the U.S. Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit’s decision upholding the rule and held that the EPA had failed to
properly consider costs when assessing whether to regulate fossil fuel-fired EGUs under the hazardous air pollutant
provisions of the Clean Air Act. In June of 2015, the U.S. Supreme Court reversed the U.S. Court of Appeals for the D.C.
Circuit and held that the EPA had failed to properly consider costs when assessing whether to regulate fossil fuel-fired EGUs
under the hazardous air pollutant provisions of the Clean Air Act, referring to the agency’s own estimate that the rule would
cost power plants nearly $10 billion a year. The D.C. Circuit remanded the rule to the EPA to conduct a cost assessment but
without vacatur, allowing the rule to remain in effect while the EPA conducts the rulemaking. On December 1, 2015, the EPA
published a proposed supplemental finding that regulation of EGUs is still “appropriate and necessary” in light of the costs to
regulate hazardous air pollutant emissions from the source category. The EPA indicated that it expects to issue a final finding
by April 15, 2016.
In April 2014, the U.S. Supreme Court upheld the EPA’s Cross-State Air Pollution Rule (“CSAPR”), which would
require stringent reductions in emissions of nitrogen oxides and sulfur dioxide from power plants in much of the Eastern
United States, including Texas and North Carolina, and in October 2014 the D. C. Circuit granted the EPA’s motion to lift the
D.C. Circuit’s stay of the CSAPR, and remanded the case to the D.C. Circuit for further proceedings. In November, 2014 the
EPA issued a ministerial rule aligning the CSAPR implementation dates with the Court’s order, with phase 1 reductions
beginning in January 2015, and more stringent phase 2 reductions in January 2017. In July 2015, the D.C. Circuit remanded
to the EPA portions of the 2014 sulfur dioxide and ozone budgets on grounds the reductions were greater than necessary to
reduce impacts on downwind states, but did not vacate any portion of the rule. The EPA has indicated that it will address
these issues in future rulemakings, but that phase 1 reductions will begin in January 2015, with more stringent phase 2
reductions in January 2017as necessary. The In May 2014, the EPA Administrator signed a final rule that establishes
requirements for cooling water intake structures for the withdrawal of cooling water by electric generating plants; the rule is
anticipated to affect over 500 power plants.
Considerable uncertainty is associated with air emissions initiatives. New regulations are in the process of being
developed, and many existing and potential regulatory initiatives are subject to review by federal or state agencies or the
courts. Stringent air emissions limitations are either in place or are likely to be imposed in the short to medium term, and
these limitations will likely require significant emissions control expenditures for many coal-fired power plants. Should the
owners be forced by the EPA to install technology, such as Selective Catalytic Reduction (“SCR”) technology, the capital
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requirements could make the continued operation of the two units unsustainable. As a result, power plants may switch to
other fuels that generate fewer of these emissions or may install more effective pollution control equipment that reduces the
need for low-sulfur coal. Any switching of fuel sources away from coal, closure of existing coal-fired power plants, or
reduced construction of new coal-fired power plants could have a material adverse effect on demand for, and prices received
for, our coal. Alternatively, less stringent air emissions limitations, particularly related to sulfur, to the extent enacted, could
make low-sulfur coal less attractive, which could also have a material adverse effect on the demand for, and prices received
for, our coal.
Risks Inherent in an Investment in Us
Our partnership agreement limits our general partner’s fiduciary duties to our unitholders and restricts the remedies
available to our unitholders for actions taken by our general partner that might otherwise constitute breaches of fiduciary
duties.
Fiduciary duties owed to our unitholders by our general partner are prescribed by law and the partnership agreement.
The Delaware Revised Uniform Limited Partnership Act (the “Delaware Act”) provides that Delaware limited partnerships
may, in their partnership agreements, restrict the fiduciary duties owed by the general partner to limited partners and the
partnership. Our partnership agreement contains such provisions. For example, our partnership agreement:
• limits the liability and reduces the fiduciary duties of our general partner, while also restricting the remedies
available to our unitholders for actions that, without these limitations, might constitute breaches of fiduciary duty. As
a result of purchasing common units, our unitholders consent to some actions and conflicts of interest that might
otherwise constitute a breach of fiduciary or other duties under applicable state law;
• permits our general partner to make a number of decisions in its individual capacity, as opposed to in its capacity as
our general partner. This entitles our general partner to consider only the interests and factors that it desires, and it
has no duty or obligation to give any consideration to any interest of, or factors affecting, us, our affiliates or any
limited partner. Examples include the exercise of its limited call right, its voting rights with respect to the units it
owns, its registration rights and its determination whether or not to consent to any merger or consolidation of the
partnership;
• provides that our general partner shall not have any liability to us or our unitholders for decisions made in its
capacity as general partner so long as it acted in good faith, meaning our general partner believed that the decision
was in the best interests of the partnership;
• generally provides that affiliated transactions and resolutions of conflicts of interest not approved by the audit
committee of the board of directors of our general partner acting as a conflicts committee, and not involving a vote
of our unitholders, must be on terms no less favorable to us than those generally being provided to or available from
unrelated third parties or be “fair and reasonable” to us and that, in determining whether a transaction or resolution
is “fair and reasonable,” our general partner may consider the totality of the relationships between the parties
involved, including other transactions that may be particularly advantageous to us; and
• provides that our general partner and its officers and directors will not be liable for monetary damages to us or our
limited partners for any acts or omissions unless there has been a final and non-appealable judgment entered by a
court of competent jurisdiction determining that our general partner or those other persons acted in bad faith or
engaged in fraud or willful misconduct.
By purchasing a common unit, a common unitholder will become bound by the provisions of our partnership
agreement, including the provisions described above.
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Our general partner and its affiliate may have conflicts of interest with us, and their limited fiduciary duties to our
unitholders may permit them to favor their own interests to the detriment of our unitholders.
WCC owns 93.8% beneficial limited partner interest in us on a fully diluted bases at December 31, 2015, as well as
100% of our general partner, which owns all of our outstanding 35,291 general partner units and incentive distribution rights.
Although our general partner has certain fiduciary duties to manage us in a manner beneficial to us and our unitholders, the
executive officers and directors of our general partner have a fiduciary duty to manage our general partner in a manner
beneficial to its owners. Furthermore, since certain executive officers and directors of our general partner are executive
officers or directors of affiliates of our general partner, conflicts of interest may arise between WCC and its affiliates,
including our general partner, on the one hand, and us and our unitholders, on the other hand. As a result of these conflicts,
our general partner may favor its own interests and the interests of its affiliates over the interests of our unitholders. The risk
to our unitholders due to such conflicts may arise because of the following factors, among others:
• our general partner is allowed to take into account the interests of parties other than us, such as WCC, in resolving
conflicts of interest, which has the effect of limiting its fiduciary duty to our unitholders;
• neither our partnership agreement nor any other agreement requires owners of our general partner to pursue a
business strategy that favors us. Executive officers and directors of our general partner’s owners have a fiduciary
duty to make these decisions in the best interest of their owners, which may be contrary to our interests;
• our general partner determines the amount and timing of asset purchases and sales, capital expenditures, borrowings
and issuances of additional partnership securities and reserves, each of which can affect our financial condition;
• our general partner determines which costs incurred by it and its affiliates are reimbursable by us;
• our partnership agreement does not restrict our general partner from causing us to pay it or its affiliates for any
services rendered on terms that are fair and reasonable to us or entering into additional contractual arrangements
with any of these entities on our behalf;
• our general partner intends to limit its liability regarding our contractual and other obligations;
• our general partner may exercise its limited right to call and purchase common units if it and its affiliates own more
than 80% of the common units which could cause unitholders to sell units at a time and price that may not be
desirable;
• our general partner controls the enforcement of obligations owed to us by it and its affiliates; and
• our general partner decides whether to retain separate counsel, accountants or others to perform services for us.
In addition, WCC currently holds substantial interests in other companies in the energy and natural resource sectors.
Our partnership agreement provides that our general partner will be restricted from engaging in any business activities other
than acting as our general partner and those activities incidental to its ownership interest in us. However, WCC is not
prohibited from engaging in other businesses or activities, including those that might be in direct competition with us. As a
result, WCC could potentially compete with us for acquisition opportunities and for new business or extensions of the
existing services provided by us.
Pursuant to the terms of our partnership agreement, the doctrine of corporate opportunity, or any analogous doctrine,
does not apply to our general partner or any of its affiliates, including its executive officers, directors and owners. Any such
person or entity that becomes aware of a potential transaction, agreement, arrangement or other matter that may be an
opportunity for us will not have any duty to communicate or offer such opportunity to us. Any such person or entity will not
be liable to us or to any limited partner for breach of any fiduciary duty or other duty by reason of the fact that such person or
entity pursues or acquires such opportunity for itself, directs such opportunity to another person or entity or does not
communicate such opportunity or information to us. This may create actual and potential conflicts of interest between us and
affiliates of our general partner and result in less than favorable treatment of us and our unitholders.
For more information, please read “- Our partnership agreement limits our general partner’s fiduciary duties to our
unitholders and restricts the remedies available to our unitholders for actions taken by our general partner that might
otherwise constitute breaches of fiduciary duties.”
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Our unitholders have limited voting rights, are not entitled to elect our general partner or its directors and have limited
ability to remove our general partner without its consent.
Unlike the holders of common stock in a corporation, our unitholders have only limited voting rights on matters
affecting our business and, therefore, limited ability to influence management’s decisions regarding our business. Our
unitholders have no right to elect our general partner or its board of directors on an annual or other continuing basis. The
board of directors of our general partner is chosen entirely by its members and not by our unitholders. Furthermore, if our
unitholders are dissatisfied with the performance of our general partner, they have limited ability to remove our general
partner.
Our unitholders are unable to remove our general partner without its consent because affiliates of our general partner
own sufficient units to be able to prevent removal of our general partner. The vote of the holders of at least 80% of all
outstanding common units is required to remove our general partner. Our general partner owns 0.2% of our common units
and the owner of our general partner, WCC, owns 93.8% beneficial limited partner interest on a fully diluted basis at
December 31, 2015.
Cause is narrowly defined in our partnership agreement to mean that a court of competent jurisdiction has entered a
final, non-appealable judgment finding our general partner liable for actual fraud or willful misconduct in its capacity as our
general partner. Cause does not include most cases of charges of poor management of the business, so the removal of our
general partner during the subordination period because of our unitholders’ dissatisfaction with our general partner’s
performance in managing our partnership will most likely result in the termination of the subordination period.
The control of our general partner may be transferred to a third party without unitholder consent.
Our general partner may transfer its general partner interest in us to a third party in a merger or in a sale of all or
substantially all of its assets without the consent of our unitholders. Furthermore, there is no restriction in our partnership
agreement on the ability of the members of our general partner to transfer their respective membership interests in our general
partner to a third party. The new members of our general partner would then be in a position to replace the board of directors
and executive officers of our general partner with their own choices and to control the decisions and actions of the board of
directors and executive officers of our general partner.
The incentive distribution rights of our general partner may be transferred to a third party without unitholder consent.
Our general partner may transfer its incentive distribution rights to a third party at any time without the consent of
our unitholders. If our general partner transfers its incentive distribution rights to a third party but retains its general partner
interest, our general partner may not have the same incentive to grow our partnership and increase quarterly distributions to
unitholders over time as it would if it had retained ownership of its incentive distribution rights.
Our general partner has a limited call right that may require our unitholders to sell their common units at an undesirable
time or price.
At any time that our general partner and its affiliates own more than 80.0% of the common units, our general partner
will have the right, but not the obligation, which it may assign to any of its affiliates or to us, to acquire all, but not less than
all, of the common units held by unaffiliated persons at a price not less than the then-current market price. As a result, our
unitholders may be required to sell their common units at an undesirable time or price and may not receive any return on their
investment. Our unitholders may also incur a tax liability upon a sale of their common units. Our general partner is not
obligated to obtain a fairness opinion regarding the value of the common units to be repurchased by it upon exercise of the
limited call right. There is no restriction in our partnership agreement that prevents our general partner from issuing
additional common units and exercising its limited call right. If our general partner exercised its limited call right, the effect
would be to take us private and, if the common units were subsequently deregistered, we would no longer be subject to the
reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”).
We may issue additional units without unitholder approval.
At any time, we may issue an unlimited number of limited partner interests of any type without the approval of our
unitholders. Further, our partnership agreement does not prohibit the issuance of equity securities that may effectively rank
senior to our common units. The issuance by us of additional common units or other equity securities of equal or senior rank
will have the following effects:
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•
•
•
•

our unitholders’ proportionate ownership interest in us will decrease;
the amount of cash available for distribution on each unit may decrease;
the relative voting strength of each previously outstanding unit may be diminished; and
the market price of the common units may decline.

Our general partner may, without unitholder approval, elect to cause us to issue common units and general partner units
to it in connection with a resetting of the target distribution levels related to its incentive distribution rights.
Our general partner has the right, at any time when it has received distributions on its incentive distribution rights at
the highest level to which it is entitled (48.0%) for each of the prior four consecutive fiscal quarters, to reset the initial target
distribution levels at higher levels based on our distributions at the time of the exercise of the reset election. Following a reset
election by our general partner, the minimum quarterly distribution will be adjusted to equal the reset minimum quarterly
distribution and the target distribution levels will be reset to correspondingly higher levels based on percentage increases
above the reset minimum quarterly distribution.
If our general partner elects to reset the target distribution levels, it will be entitled to receive a number of common
units and general partner units. The number of common units to be issued to our general partner will be equal to that number
of common units that would have entitled their holder to an average aggregate quarterly cash distribution in the prior two
quarters equal to the average of the distributions to our general partner on the incentive distribution rights in the prior two
quarters. Our general partner will be issued the number of general partner units necessary to maintain our general partner’s
interest in us that existed immediately prior to the reset election. We anticipate that our general partner would exercise this
reset right in order to facilitate acquisitions or internal growth projects that would not be sufficiently accretive to cash
distributions per common unit without such conversion. It is possible, however, that our general partner could exercise this
reset election at a time when it is experiencing, or expects to experience, declines in the cash distributions it receives related
to its incentive distribution rights and may, therefore, desire to be issued common units rather than retain the right to receive
distributions on its incentive distribution rights based on the initial target distribution levels. As a result, a reset election may
cause our common unitholders to experience a reduction in the amount of cash distributions that our common unitholders
would have otherwise received had we not issued new common units and general partner units to our general partner in
connection with resetting the target distribution levels.
The market price of our common units could be impacted by sales of substantial amounts of our common units in the
public markets, including sales by our existing unitholders.
A unitholder may sell some or all of our common units that it owns or it may distribute our common units to the
holders of its equity interests and those holders may dispose of some or all of these units. The sale or disposition of a
substantial number of our common units in the public markets could have a material adverse effect on the price of our
common units or could impair our ability to obtain capital through an offering of equity securities. We do not know whether
any such sales would be made in the public market or in private placements, nor do we know what impact such potential or
actual sales would have on our unit price in the future.
An increase in interest rates may cause the market price of our common units to decline.
Like all equity investments, an investment in our common units is subject to certain risks. In exchange for accepting
these risks, investors may expect to receive a higher rate of return than would otherwise be obtainable from lower-risk
investments. Accordingly, as interest rates rise, the ability of investors to obtain higher risk-adjusted rates of return by
purchasing government-backed debt securities may cause a corresponding decline in demand for riskier investments
generally, including yield-based equity investments such as publicly-traded limited partnership interests. Reduced demand for
our common units resulting from investors seeking other more favorable investment opportunities may cause the trading
price of our common units to decline.
We must pay fees to and reimburse our general partner and its affiliates for services provided, which will reduce our cash
available for distributions.
Under the Services Agreement, our general partner will continue providing administrative, engineering, operating
and other services to the Partnership for a fixed annual fee of $2.2 million in 2016 for certain administrative services plus
reimbursement at cost for other expenses and expenditures. The term of the Agreement expires on December 31, 2016, and
automatically renews for successive one-year periods unless terminated. The reimbursement to our general partner for such
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expenses will be determined by our general partner in accordance with the terms of our partnership agreement and as
provided under the Services Agreement. In determining the costs and expenses allocable to us, our general partner is subject
to its fiduciary duty, as modified by our partnership agreement, to the limited partners, which requires it to act in good faith.
These expenses include all costs incurred by our general partner and its affiliates in managing and operating us. We are
managed and operated by executive officers and directors of our general partner. The reimbursement of expenses and
payment of fees, if any, to our general partner and its affiliates will reduce our cash available for distributions.
Our unitholders may have liability to repay distributions.
Under certain circumstances, our unitholders may have to repay amounts wrongfully returned or distributed to them.
Under Section 17-607 of the Delaware Act, we may not make a distribution to our unitholders if the distribution would cause
our liabilities to exceed the fair value of our assets. Delaware law provides that, for a period of three years from the date of
the impermissible distribution, limited partners who received the distribution and who knew at the time of the distribution
that it violated Delaware law will be liable to the limited partnership for the distribution amount. Purchasers of units who
become limited partners are liable for the obligations of the transferring limited partner to make contributions to the
partnership that are known to the purchaser of units at the time it became a limited partner and for unknown obligations if the
liabilities could be determined from our partnership agreement. Liabilities to partners on account of their partnership interests
and liabilities that are non-recourse to the partnership are not counted for purposes of determining whether a distribution is
permitted.
Common units held by unitholders who are not eligible citizens will be subject to redemption.
Our general partner may require each limited partner to furnish information about his nationality, citizenship or
related status. If a limited partner fails to furnish information about his nationality, citizenship or other related status within
30 days after a request for the information or our general partner determines after receipt of the information that the limited
partner is not an eligible citizen, the limited partner may be treated as a non-citizen assignee. A non-citizen assignee does not
have the right to direct the voting of his units and may not receive distributions in kind upon our liquidation. Furthermore, we
have the right to redeem all of the common units of any holder that is not an eligible citizen or fails to furnish the requested
information. The redemption price will be paid in cash or by delivery of a promissory note, as determined by our general
partner.
Tax Risks to Common Unitholders
Our tax treatment depends on our status as a partnership for federal income tax purposes, as well as our being subject to
minimal entity-level taxation by individual states. If the Internal Revenue Service, or IRS, were to treat us as a
corporation for federal income tax purposes, or we become subject to a material amount of entity-level taxation for state
tax purposes, it would substantially reduce the amount of cash available for distribution to our unitholders.
The anticipated after-tax economic benefit of an investment in our common units depends largely on our being
treated as a partnership for federal income tax purposes. We have not requested, and do not plan to request, a ruling from the
IRS on this or any other tax matter affecting us.
Despite the fact that we are a limited partnership under Delaware law, it is possible in certain circumstances for a
partnership such as ours to be treated as a corporation for federal income tax purposes. Although we do not believe based
upon our current operations that we will be treated as a corporation, the IRS could disagree with the positions we take or a
change in our business or a change in current law could cause us to be treated as a corporation for federal income tax
purposes or otherwise subject us to taxation as an entity.
If we were treated as a corporation for federal income tax purposes, we would pay federal income tax on our taxable
income at the corporate tax rate, which is currently a maximum of 35%, and would likely pay state and local income tax at
varying rates. Distributions to a unitholder would generally be taxed again as corporate dividends (to the extent of our current
and accumulated earnings and profits), and no income, gains, losses, deductions, or credits would flow through to the
unitholder. Because a tax would be imposed upon us as a corporation, our cash available for distribution to a unitholder
would be substantially reduced. Therefore, if we were treated as a corporation for federal tax purposes there could be a
material reduction in the anticipated cash flow and after-tax return to a unitholder, likely causing a substantial reduction in the
value of our common units.
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We are subject to extensive tax laws and regulations, with respect to federal, state and foreign income taxes and
transactional taxes such as excise, sales/use, payroll, franchise and ad valorem taxes. New tax laws and regulations and
changes in existing tax laws and regulations are continuously being enacted that could result in increased tax expenditures in
the future. Further, changes in current state law may subject us to additional entity-level taxation by individual states.
Because of widespread state budget deficits and other reasons, several states are evaluating ways to subject partnerships to
entity-level taxation through the imposition of state income, franchise and other forms of taxation. Imposition of any such
taxes could adversely affect our cash available for distribution to unitholders.
Our partnership agreement provides that, if a law is enacted or existing law is modified or interpreted in a manner
that subjects us to taxation as a corporation or otherwise subjects us to entity-level taxation for federal, state or local income
tax purposes, the minimum quarterly distribution amount and the target distribution amounts will be adjusted to reflect the
impact of that law on us.
The tax treatment of publicly traded partnerships or an investment in our common units could be subject to potential
legislative, judicial or administrative changes and differing interpretations, possibly on a retroactive basis.
The present federal income tax treatment of publicly traded partnerships, including us, or an investment in our
common units may be modified by administrative, legislative or judicial interpretation at any time. Any modification to the
federal income tax laws and interpretations thereof may or may not be applied retroactively. Moreover, any such modification
could make it more difficult or impossible for us to meet the exception that allows publicly traded partnerships that generate
qualifying income to be treated as partnerships (rather than corporations) for federal income tax purposes, affect or cause us
to change our business activities, or affect the tax consequences of an investment in our common units. For example,
members of the U.S. Congress have considered, and the Administration has proposed, substantive changes to the existing
federal income tax laws that would affect the tax treatment of certain publicly traded partnerships. Further, on May 5, 2015,
the U.S. Treasury Department (“Treasury”) and the IRS issued proposed regulations interpreting the scope of activities that
generate qualifying income under Section 7704 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”). We believe
that the income we currently treat as qualifying income satisfies the requirements for qualifying income under the proposed
regulations. The proposed regulations, however, could be changed before they are finalized and could modify the amount of
our gross income that we are able to treat as qualifying income for the purposes of the qualifying income requirement. We are
unable to predict whether any of these changes, or any other proposals, will ultimately be enacted. Any changes could
negatively impact the value of an investment in our common units.
Certain federal income tax preferences currently available with respect to coal exploration and development may be
eliminated in future legislation.
Among the changes contained in President Obama’s budget proposal (the “Budget Proposal”) is the elimination of
certain key U.S. federal income tax preferences relating to coal exploration and development. The Budget Proposal would:
(i) eliminate current deductions, the 60-month amortization period and the 10-year amortization period for exploration and
development costs relating to coal and other hard mineral fossil fuels, (ii) repeal the percentage depletion allowance with
respect to coal properties, (iii) repeal capital gains treatment of coal and lignite royalties and (iv) exclude from the definition
of domestic production gross receipts all gross receipts derived from the production of coal and other hard mineral fossil
fuels. The passage of any legislation effecting changes similar to those in the Budget Proposal in federal income tax laws
could eliminate certain tax deductions that are currently available with respect to coal exploration and development, and any
such change could increase the taxable income allocable to our unitholders and negatively impact the value of an investment
in our common units.
If tax authorities contest the tax positions we take, the market for our common units could be adversely impacted, and the
cost of any contest with a tax authority would reduce our cash available for distribution to our unitholders.
We have not requested a ruling from the IRS with respect to our treatment as a partnership for federal income tax
purposes or any other matter affecting us. Tax authorities may adopt positions that differ from the positions we take, and a tax
authority’s positions may ultimately be sustained. It may be necessary to resort to administrative or court proceedings to
sustain some or all of the positions we take. A court may not agree with some or all of the positions we take. Any contest with
a tax authority, and the outcome of any such contest, may increase a unitholder’s tax liability and result in adjustment to items
unrelated to us and could materially and adversely impact the market for our common units and the price at which they trade.
The rights of a unitholder owning less than a 1% profits interest in us to participate in the federal income tax audit process are
very limited. In addition, our costs of any contest with any tax authority will be borne indirectly by our unitholders and our
general partner because such costs will reduce our cash available for distribution.
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Our unitholders may be required to pay taxes on income from us even if the unitholders do not receive any cash
distributions from us.
Because a unitholder is treated as a partner to whom we allocate taxable income which could be different in amount
than the cash we distribute, a unitholder’s allocable share of our taxable income is taxable to it, which may require the
payment of federal income taxes and, in some cases, state and local income taxes on its share of our taxable income even if it
receives no cash distributions from us. Our unitholders may not receive cash distributions from us equal to their share of our
taxable income or even equal to the tax liability that results from that income.
Certain actions that we may take, such as issuing additional units, may increase the federal income tax liability of
unitholders.
In the event we issue additional units or engage in certain other transactions in the future, the allocable share of
nonrecourse liabilities allocated to the unitholders will be recalculated to take into account our issuance of any additional
units. Any reduction in a unitholder’s share of our nonrecourse liabilities will be treated as a distribution of cash to that
unitholder and will result in a corresponding tax basis reduction in a unitholder’s units. A deemed cash distribution may,
under certain circumstances, result in the recognition of taxable gain by a unitholder, to the extent that the deemed cash
distribution exceeds such unitholder’s tax basis in its units.
In addition, the federal income tax liability of a unitholder could be increased if we dispose of assets or make a
future offering of units and use the proceeds in a manner that does not produce substantial additional deductions, such as to
repay indebtedness currently outstanding or to acquire property that is not eligible for depreciation or amortization for federal
income tax purposes or that is depreciable or amortizable at a rate significantly slower than the rate currently applicable to the
our assets.
Tax gain or loss on the disposition of common units could be more or less than expected.
If a unitholder sells its common units, the unitholder will recognize a gain or loss equal to the difference between the
amount realized and the unitholder’s tax basis in those common units. Because distributions to a unitholder in excess of the
total net taxable income allocated to it for a common unit decreases its tax basis in that common unit, the amount, if any, of
such prior excess distributions with respect to the units sold will, in effect, become taxable income to the unitholder if the
common unit is sold at a price greater than its tax basis in that common unit, even if the price is less than the original cost.
Furthermore, a substantial portion of the amount realized, whether or not representing gain, may be taxed as ordinary income
due to potential recapture items, including depreciation recapture. In addition, because the amount realized includes a
unitholder’s share of our nonrecourse liabilities, if a unitholder sells its common units, the unitholder may incur a tax liability
in excess of the amount of cash the unitholder receives from the sale.
Tax-exempt entities and non-U.S. persons face unique tax issues from owning common units that may result in adverse
tax consequences to them.
Investment in common units by tax-exempt entities, such as individual retirement accounts, or IRAs, other
retirement plans and non-U.S. persons raises issues unique to them. For example, virtually all of our income allocated to
organizations that are exempt from federal income tax, including IRAs and other retirement plans, will be unrelated business
taxable income, which may be taxable to them. Distributions to non-U.S. persons will be reduced by withholding taxes at the
highest applicable effective tax rate, and non-U.S. persons will be required to file federal tax returns and pay tax on their
share of our taxable income. If a unitholder is a tax-exempt entity or a non-U.S. person, the unitholder should consult its tax
advisor before investing in our common units.
We treat each purchaser of our common units as having the same tax benefits without regard to the actual common units
purchased. The IRS may challenge this treatment, which could adversely affect the value of common units.
Because we cannot match transferors and transferees of common units and because of other reasons, we have
adopted depreciation and amortization positions that may not conform to all aspects of existing Treasury Regulations. A
successful IRS challenge to those positions could adversely affect the amount of tax benefits available to the unitholders. It
also could affect the timing of these tax benefits or the amount of gain from the sale of common units and could have a
negative impact on the value of common units or result in audit adjustments to unitholders’ tax returns.
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We prorate our items of income, gain, loss and deduction between transferors and transferees of our units each month
based upon the ownership of our units on the first day of each month, instead of on the basis of the date a particular unit
is transferred. The IRS may challenge this treatment, which could change the allocation of items of income, gain, loss
and deduction among unitholders.
We prorate our items of income, gain, loss and deduction between transferors and transferees of our units each
month based upon the ownership of our units on the first day of each month, instead of on the basis of the date a particular
unit is transferred. Treasury recently adopted final regulations that provide a safe harbor pursuant to which publicly traded
partnerships may use a similar monthly simplifying convention to allocate tax items among transferor and transferee
unitholders. We are currently evaluating these regulations, which apply to certain publicly traded partnerships, including us,
for taxable years beginning on or after August 3, 2015. However, these regulations do not specifically authorize the use of the
proration method we have previously used. Accordingly, our counsel is unable to opine as to the validity of this method. If
the IRS were to challenge our proration method, we may be required to change the allocation of items of income, gain, loss
and deduction among our unitholders.
A unitholder whose common units are loaned to a “short seller” to cover a short sale of common units may be considered
as having disposed of those common units. If so, the unitholder would no longer be treated for tax purposes as a partner
with respect to those units during the period of the loan and may recognize gain or loss from the disposition.
Because a unitholder whose common units are loaned to a “short seller” to cover a short sale of common units may
be considered as having disposed of the loaned common units, the unitholder may no longer be treated for tax purposes as a
partner with respect to those common units during the period of the loan to the short seller and the unitholder may recognize
gain or loss from such disposition. Moreover, during the period of the loan to the short seller, any of our income, gain, loss or
deduction with respect to those common units may not be reportable by the unitholder and any cash distributions received by
the unitholder as to those common units could be fully taxable as ordinary income. Unitholders desiring to assure their status
as partners and avoid the risk of gain recognition from a loan to a short seller are urged to modify any applicable brokerage
account agreements to prohibit their brokers from borrowing and lending their common units.
We have adopted certain valuation methodologies that may result in a shift of income, gain, loss and deduction between
our general partner and the unitholders. The IRS may challenge this treatment, which could adversely affect the value of
the common units.
When we issue additional common units or engage in certain other transactions, we determine the fair value of our
assets and allocate any unrealized gain or loss attributable to our assets to the capital accounts of our unitholders and our
general partner. Our methodology may be viewed as understating the value of our assets. In that case, there may be a shift of
income, gain, loss and deduction between certain unitholders and our general partner, which may be unfavorable to such
unitholders. Moreover, subsequent purchasers of common units may have a greater portion of their Code Section 743(b)
adjustment allocated to our tangible assets and a lesser portion allocated to our intangible assets. The IRS may challenge our
valuation methods, or our allocation of the Code Section 743(b) adjustment attributable to our tangible and intangible assets,
and allocations of income, gain, loss and deduction between our general partner and certain of the unitholders.
A successful IRS challenge to these methods or allocations could adversely affect the amount of taxable income or
loss being allocated to our unitholders. It also could affect the amount of gain from our unitholders’ sale of common units and
could have a negative impact on the value of the common units or result in audit adjustments to our unitholders’ tax returns
without the benefit of additional deductions.
The sale or exchange of 50% or more of our capital and profits interests during any twelve-month period will result in the
termination of our partnership for federal income tax purposes.
We will be considered to have terminated as a partnership for federal income tax purposes if there is a sale or
exchange of 50% or more of the total interests in our capital and profits within a twelve-month period. Our termination,
among other things, would result in the closing of our taxable year for all unitholders, which would result in us filing two tax
returns (and our unitholders could receive two Schedule K-1s if relief from the IRS was not granted, as described below) for
one calendar year. Our termination could also result in a significant deferral of depreciation deductions allowable in
computing our taxable income. In the case of a unitholder reporting on a taxable year other than a calendar year, the closing
of our taxable year may result in more than twelve months of our taxable income or loss being includable in its taxable
income for the year of termination. Under current law, such a termination would not affect our classification as a partnership
for federal income tax purposes, but instead, after our termination, we would be treated as a new partnership for tax purposes.
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If treated as a new partnership, we must make new tax elections and could be subject to penalties if we are unable to
determine that a termination occurred. The IRS has announced a relief procedure for publicly traded partnerships that
terminate in this manner, whereby if a publicly traded partnership that has terminated requests and the IRS grants special
relief, among other things, we will only have to provide one Schedule K-1 to unitholders for the year, notwithstanding two
partnership tax years resulting from the termination.
Unitholders may be subject to state and local taxes and return filing requirements in states and localities where they do
not reside or own properties.
In addition to federal income taxes, unitholders may be subject to other taxes, including foreign, state and local
taxes, unincorporated business taxes and estate, inheritance or intangible taxes that are imposed by the various jurisdictions in
which we do business or own property now or in the future, even if the unitholders do not live in any of those jurisdictions.
Unitholders may be required to file foreign, state and local income tax returns and pay state and local income taxes in some
or all of these jurisdictions. Further, unitholders may be subject to penalties for failure to comply with those requirements. As
we make acquisitions or expand our business, we may own assets or do business in additional states that impose a personal
income tax or an entity level tax. It is each unitholder’s responsibility to file all federal, foreign, state and local tax returns.
Our counsel has not rendered an opinion on the state, local or non-U.S. tax consequences of an investment in common units.
Some of the states in which we do business or own property may require us to, or we may elect to, withhold a
percentage of income from amounts to be distributed to a unitholder who is not a resident of the state. Withholding, the
amount of which may be greater or less than a particular unitholder’s income tax liability to the state generally, does not
relieve the nonresident unitholder from the obligation to file an income tax return. Amounts withheld may be treated as if
distributed to unitholders for purposes of determining the amounts distributed by us.
Item 1B.

Unresolved Staff Comments

None.
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Item 2. Properties
See “Part I, Item 1 - Business - Operations” for specific information about our mining operations, properties and
reserves.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings
We are subject, from time-to-time, to various proceedings, lawsuits, disputes, and claims (“Actions”) arising in the
ordinary course of our business. Many of these Actions raise complex factual and legal issues and are subject to uncertainties.
We cannot predict with assurance the outcome of Actions brought against us. Accordingly, adverse developments,
settlements, or resolutions may occur and may result in a negative impact on income in the quarter of such development,
settlement, or resolution. However, we do not believe that the outcome of any current Action would have a material adverse
effect on our financial results.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
On July 21, 2010, Congress enacted the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the "DoddFrank Act"). Section 1503(a) of the Dodd-Frank Act contains reporting requirements regarding mine safety. Mine safety
violations or other regulatory matters, as required by Section 1503(a) of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer
Protection Act and Item 104 of Regulation S-K, are included as Exhibit 95.1 to this report on Form 10-K.
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PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Unitholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities
The common units of Westmoreland Resource Partners, LP are trading on the NYSE under the symbol "WMLP." On
March 9, 2016, the closing market price for our common units was $4.08 per unit.
As of March 9, 2016, we had outstanding 5,733,560 limited partner common units, 15,656,551 Series A Convertible
limited partner common units and 35,291 general partner units. We also had outstanding warrants to purchase an aggregate of
166,557 common units. There were approximately 9 registered holders of record on March 9, 2016. The number does not
include unitholders whose units are held in trust by other entities. The actual number of unitholders is greater than the number
of registered holders of record. All of the Series A Convertible Units and general partner units, for which there is no
established public trading market, are held by WCC.
The following table sets forth the range of the daily high and low sales prices for the periods indicated:

Period
First Quarter 2014
Second Quarter 2014
Third Quarter 2014
Fourth Quarter 2014

$
$
$
$

High Price
18.60
18.24
13.20
16.68

First Quarter 2015
Second Quarter 2015
Third Quarter 2015
Fourth Quarter 2015

$
$
$
$

14.36
12.23
8.94
7.60

$
$
$
$

Low Price
13.20
9.00
8.64
7.32

$
$
$
$

8.42
8.75
6.06
2.63

Cash Distributions
On April 22, 2015, July 17, 2015, October 20, 2015 and January 22, 2016 our GP declared a cash distribution for all
of our limited partner common unitholders and warrant holders of $0.20 per unit for each of the quarters ended March 31,
2015, June 30, 2015, September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2015. The distributions were paid on May 15, 2015, August 14,
2015, November 13, 2015 and February 12, 2016, respectively, to all unitholders and warrant holders of record as of the close
of business on May 8, 2015, August 7, 2015, November 7, 2015 and February 5, 2016, respectively. There were no
distributions paid during the year ended December 31, 2014.
Cash Distribution Policies
Our partnership agreement requires that we distribute all of our available cash quarterly. Under our partnership
agreement, available cash is determined at the end of each quarter and generally defined as cash generated from our business
in excess of the amount of cash reserves established by our general partner to provide for the conduct of our business, to
comply with applicable law, to make payments related to any of our debt instruments or other agreements, or to provide for
future distributions to our unitholders for any one or more of the next four quarters. Our available cash may also include, if
our general partner so determines, all or any portion of the cash on hand on the date of determination of available cash for the
quarter resulting from working capital borrowings made subsequent to the end of such quarter.
Our general partner, who is wholly owned by WCC, is entitled to 0.2% of all quarterly distributions that we make.
This general partner interest is represented by 35,291 general partner units. Our general partner also currently holds incentive
distribution rights that entitle it to receive increasing percentages of distributions over certain amounts, up to a maximum of
48.0% of the cash we distribute from operating surplus in excess of $0.2000 per unit per quarter. The maximum distribution
of 48.0% is in addition to the distributions paid to our general partner on its 0.2% general partner interest.
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In December 2014, we closed on a new $295 million credit facility that replaced our previous term loan and
revolving credit facilities, which new credit facility has customary financial and other covenants, including restrictions on our
ability to make distributions. See “Item 7 - Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations -Recent Developments - Credit Facilities.”
Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities
In August 2015, 15,251,989 common units were issued to WCC in consideration for its contribution to us of WKL.
These transactions were exempt from registration pursuant to Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.
During 2015, we did not make any purchases of our common units and no such purchases were made on our behalf.
Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plan
Please read the information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K under “Part II, Item 12 - Security Ownership of
Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Unitholder Matters,” which is incorporated by reference into this
Item 5.
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Item 6. Selected Financial and Operating Data
The following table presents our selected financial and operating data as of the dates and for the periods indicated. The
following table should be read in conjunction with “Part II, Item 7 - Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations.”
WCC's cost of acquiring our GP has been pushed-down to establish a new accounting basis for us. Accordingly, the
accompanying consolidated financial statements are presented for two periods, Predecessor and Successor, which relate to the
accounting periods preceding and succeeding the completion of the acquisition. The Predecessor and Successor periods have been
separated by a vertical line on the face of the consolidated financial statements to highlight the fact that the financial information for
such periods has been prepared under two different historical-cost bases of accounting. The following narrative analysis of results of
operations includes a brief discussion of the factors that materially affected our operating results in the Successor year ended
December 31, 2015.
SELECTED FINANCIAL AND OPERATING DATA
Westmoreland
Resource
Partners, LP
(Successor)

Oxford Resource Partners, LP

(1)

(Predecessor)

Year Ended
December 31,

Period of
December 31,

Period from
January 1
through
December 31,

2015

2014

2014

Year Ended December 31,
2013

2012

2011

(in thousands)
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA:
Revenues:

$

Operating income (loss)
Net loss

384,700

—

$

$

322,263

$

346,767

$

373,527

$

400,377

(5,212)

(2,783)

2,306

(5,930)

(14,563)

1,528

(33,688)

(4,406)

(24,155)

(23,700)

(26,053)

(8,329)

(4.62)

(0.72)

(10.92)

(12.84)

(15.24)

(7.44)

Per common limited partner unit (basic and diluted)
Net loss applicable to limited partner unit
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
INFORMATION (end of period):
Working capital (deficit)

5,936

N/A

Net property, plant and equipment

277,641

309,757

N/A

144,426

158,483

195,607

Total Assets

425,290

483,845

N/A

224,355

220,899

261,265

Total Debt

309,389

186,666

N/A

163,276

74,450

159,461

13,154

107,987

N/A

(15,967)

73,021

(10,998)

$

Unitholders' capital (deficit)

4,188

$

$

(1,452) $

(84,129) $

(4,758)

OTHER CONSOLIDATED DATA:
Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities

$

31,994

$

(1,820)

$

24,385

$

9,716

$

31,776

$

43,951

Investing activities

(134,878)

83

(8,253)

(22,463)

(8,059)

Financing Activities

100,590

7,741

(19,221)

11,859

(22,772)

3,954

20,056

—

15,903

22,332

22,687

33,859

66,135

—

36,296

39,058

47,917

58,785

11,510

(4,119)

4,913

3,292

5,631

6,602

7,350

8,458

Capital expenditures
Adjusted EBITDA2
3

Distributable cash flow

16,402

Tons sold

(2,922)

8,481

—

(31,914)

Distributions paid per unit:
Limited partners:
Common
Series A Convertible
General partner

$

0.6000

—

$

$

—

$

—

$

1.5125

$

1.7500

0.2000

—

—

—

—

—

0.6000

—

—

—

1.0750

1.7500

1

See Note 3: Acquisition and Pushdown Accounting included in the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in “Item 8 - Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data.”
2

Adjusted EBITDA is not defined in GAAP. Adjusted EBITDA is presented because it is helpful to management, industry analysts, investors and lenders in assessing
the financial performance and operating results of our fundamental business activities. For a definition of Adjusted EBITDA and a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA
to its most directly comparable financial measures calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP, please see “Non-GAAP Financial Measures."
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Distributable Cash Flow is not defined in GAAP. Distributable Cash Flow is presented because it is helpful to management, industry analysts, investors and lenders in
assessing the financial performance and operating results of our fundamental business activities. For a definition of Distributable Cash Flow and a reconciliation of
Distributable Cash Flow to its most directly comparable financial measures calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP, please see “Non-GAAP Financial
Measures."

Non-GAAP Financial Measures
Adjusted EBITDA
EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are supplemental measures of financial performance that are not required by, or presented
in accordance with, GAAP. EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are key metrics used by us to assess our operating performance, and we
believe that EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are useful to an investor in evaluating our operating performance because these
measures:
• are used widely by investors to measure a company’s operating performance without regard to items excluded from the
calculation of such terms, which can vary substantially from company to company depending upon accounting methods and
book value of assets, capital structure and the method by which assets were acquired, among other factors; and
• help investors to more meaningfully evaluate and compare the results of our operations from period to period by removing
the effect of our capital structure and asset base from our operating results.
Neither EBITDA nor Adjusted EBITDA is a measure calculated in accordance with GAAP. The items excluded from
EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are significant in assessing our operating results. EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA have limitations
as analytical tools, and should not be considered in isolation from, or as a substitute for, analysis of our results as reported under
GAAP. For example, EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA:
• do not reflect our cash expenditures or future requirements for capital and major maintenance expenditures or contractual
commitments;
• do not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs; and
• do not reflect the significant interest expense, or the cash requirements necessary to service interest or principal payments,
on certain of our debt obligations.
In addition, although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized will
often have to be replaced in the future, and EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA do not reflect any cash requirements for such
replacements. Other companies in our industry and in other industries may calculate EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA differently
from the way that we do, limiting their usefulness as comparative measures. Because of these limitations, EBITDA and Adjusted
EBITDA should not be considered as measures of discretionary cash available to us to invest in the growth of our business. We
compensate for these limitations by relying primarily on our GAAP results and using EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA only as
supplemental data.
Distributable Cash Flow
Distributable Cash Flow represents Adjusted EBITDA less cash interest expense (net of interest income), reserve
replacement expenditures, maintenance capital expenditures, cash reclamation expenditures and noncontrolling interest. Cash interest
expense represents the portion of our interest expense accrued and paid in cash during the reporting periods presented or that we will
pay in cash in future periods as the obligations become due. Other maintenance capital expenditures represent expenditures for coal
reserve replacement, and for plant, equipment and mine development. Cash reclamation expenditures represent the reduction to our
reclamation and mine closure costs resulting from cash payments. Earnings attributable to the noncontrolling interest are not
available for distribution to our unitholders and accordingly are deducted.
Distributable Cash Flow should not be considered as an alternative to net income (loss) attributable to our unitholders,
income from operations, cash flows from operating activities or any other measure of performance presented in accordance with
GAAP. Although Distributable Cash Flow is not a measure of performance calculated in accordance with GAAP, we believe
Distributable Cash Flow is useful to investors because this measurement is used by many analysts and others in the industry as a
performance measurement tool to evaluate our operating and financial performance, facilitating comparison with the performance of
other publicly traded limited partnerships.
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The tables below show how we calculated EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA and reconciles Adjusted EBITDA to net loss, the
most directly comparable GAAP financial measure.
Reconciliation of Net Loss to Adjusted EBITDA
Westmoreland
Resource
Partners, LP
(Successor)1

Oxford Resource Partners, LP
(Predecessor)

Year Ended
December 31,

Period of
December 31,

Period from
January 1
through
December 31,

2015

2014

2014

Year Ended December 31,
2013

2012

2011

(in thousands)
Reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to Net Loss
Net loss

(33,688) $

(4,406)

—

1,623

157

Interest expense, net of interest income
Depreciation, depletion and amortization

$

Loss (gain) on extinguishment of debt
Income tax expense

Accretion of ARO and receivable
EBITDA

(24,155) $

(23,700) $

(26,053) $

(500)

808

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

29,904

—

27,783

20,242

11,490

9,857

54,503

—

39,315

48,081

51,170

51,905

5,085

—

2,337

2,293

1,567

3,355

44,780

47,724

38,174

56,788

1,761

15,650

—

—

—

—

—

55,961

Restructuring charges

$

(2,783)

656

2,783

Legal settlements

—

—

(17,548)

Recapitalization costs

—

—

5,470

6,890

—

14

(Gain)/loss on sale of assets
Share-based compensation

75

(2,100)
—
(372)

(8,329)

(1,692)

1,352
1,077

438

—

4,559

1,441

1,262

2,190

—

(1,054)

(9,396)

(5,477)

Adjusted EBITDA

66,135

—

36,296

39,058

47,917

58,785

Deferred revenue

2,513

—

—

—

—

—

(8,216)

—

(4,999)

(8,666)

(8,966)

(5,751)

(15,763)

—

(14,066)

(18,640)

(23,613)

(31,969)

Other non-cash and non-recurring costs

Reclamation and mine closure costs
Maintenance capital expenditures and other
capitalized items
Pension and postretirement medical
Cash interest expense, net of interest income

2,552
$

Legal and insurance settlement proceeds

(2,922)

—

Other
Distributable Cash Flow

—

(20,740) $

(10,079)
$

16,402

$

—

—

—

(15,952) $

(12,258) $

(9,461) $

—

17,548

2,100

—

(7,317)

(5,713)

(2,922)

1

$

$

(432)

11,510

$

(4,119) $

—

600

1,096

(1,564)
4,913

(8,208)

(10,661)
$

3,292

See Note 3: Acquisition and Pushdown Accounting included in the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in “Item 8 - Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data.”
2
Includes non-cash activity from the change in fair value of investments and warrants as well as non-recurring cost associated with the Kemmerer Drop.
3
Includes payments made to pay down our Term Loan as well as capital lease payments and debt issuance costs.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
The following discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements and estimates that involve risks and
uncertainties. Actual results could differ materially from these estimates. Factors that could cause or contribute to differences
from estimates include those discussed under “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” and “Risk Factors”
contained in Item 1 above.
Overview
We are a low-cost producer and marketer of high-value thermal coal to U.S. utilities and industrial users. We focus on
acquiring thermal coal reserves that we can efficiently mine with our large-scale equipment. Our reserves and operations are
strategically located to serve our primary market area of Indiana, Kentucky, Michigan, Ohio, Pennsylvania, West Virginia and
Wyoming.
We operate in a single business segment and have five operating subsidiaries, Oxford Mining Company, LLC, Oxford
Mining Company-Kentucky, LLC, WKL, Westmoreland Kemmerer Fee Coal Holdings, LLC and Harrison Resources. All of
our operating subsidiaries participate primarily in the business of utilizing surface mining techniques to extract coal and
prepare it for sale to our customers.
One of the major factors affecting the volume of coal that we sell in any given year is the demand for coal-generated
electric power, as well as the specific demand for coal by our customers. Numerous factors affect the demand for electric
power and the specific demands of customers including weather patterns, the presence of hydro or wind in our particular
energy grids, environmental and legal challenges, political influences, energy policies, domestic economic conditions, power
plant outages and other factors discussed herein.
We sell almost all of our coal and electricity production under long-term agreements. Our long-term coal contracts
typically contain price escalation and adjustment provisions, pursuant to which the price for our coal may be periodically
revised in line with broad economic indicators such as the consumer price index, commodity specific indices and/or changes in
our actual costs.
For our contracts that are not cost protected in nature, we have exposure to inflation and price risk for supplies used
in the normal course of production such as diesel fuel and explosives. In line with the worldwide mining industry, we have
experienced increased for time-to-time operating costs for mining equipment, diesel fuel and other supplies, such as tires. We
manage these items through strategic sourcing contracts in normal quantities with our suppliers and may use derivatives from
time-to-time.
Please see Item 1 - Business, under “Overview,” “2015 Transactions,” and “Recent Developments” information
regarding the Kemmerer Drop that occurred during 2015.
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Results of Operations
Items that Affect Comparability of Our Results
For 2015 and each of the prior two years, our results have included items that do not relate directly to ongoing
operations. The (income) expense components of these items were as follows (in thousands):

Westmoreland Resource Partners,
LP

Oxford Resource Partners, LP

(Successor)

(Predecessor)

Year Ended
December 31,

Period of
December 31,

Period from
January 1
through
December 31,

2015

2014

2014

Year Ended
December 31,
2013

Items that Affect Comparability of Our Results
Acquisition and transaction costs

$

2,552

$

—

—

$

—

$

Restructuring and impairment charges

656

2,783

75

Loss (gain) on extinguishment of debt

—

1,623

(500)

Recapitalization costs

—

—

5,470

Legal and insurance settlement proceeds

—

—

(17,548)

(2,100)

Debt issuance costs

—

—

(6,993)

(3,109)

Total Impact

$

3,208

$

4,406

$

(19,496) $

1,761
808
—

(2,640)

Items recorded in 2015:
•

We incurred $2.6 million in various investment banker and legal costs related to the Kemmerer Drop.

•

We incurred $0.7 million in restructuring costs resulting from the right sizing of the financing and accounting team
after the acquisition of our general partner by Westmoreland Coal Company in December 2014.

Items recorded in 2014 (Successor):
•

We incurred $2.8 million in restructuring costs resulting from termination of the executive team after the acquisition
of our general partner by Westmoreland Coal Company on December 31, 2014.

•

We incurred $1.6 million in loss on extinguishment debt related to the payoff of the 2013 Financing Agreement.

Items recorded in 2014 (Predecessor):
•

We incurred $0.1 million in restructuring costs related to the idling of our Illinois Basin operations on December 31,
2013. These charges included professional and legal fees, and transportation costs associated with moving idled
equipment to our Northern Appalachian operations.

•

We incurred a $0.5 million gain on extinguishment of debt resulting from the forgiveness of a note payable.

•

We incurred $5.5 million in various investment banker and legal costs associated with Westmoreland Coal Company's
acquisition of our general partner on December 31, 2014.

•

We received $17.5 million in litigation settlement proceeds, net of legal expenses, from a former customer
compensating us for lost profits on coal sales due to a wrongful termination of a coal supply agreement.

•

We incurred $7.0 million in debt refinancing costs related to the 2014 Financing Agreement.

49

WESTMORELAND RESOURCE PARTNERS, LP AND SUBSIDIARIES
Items recorded in 2013:
•

We incurred $1.8 million in restructuring costs related to the idling of our Illinois Basin operations on December 31,
2013. These charges included termination costs for employees, professional and legal fees, and transportation costs
associated with moving idled equipment to our Northern Appalachian operations.

•

We incurred $0.8 million in loss on extinguishment debt related to the payoff of the 2010 Credit Agreement.

•

We received $2.1 million in settlement proceeds resulting from an agreement with a supplier in February 2013 under
which the parties agreed to terminate the contract with the supplier making a one-time payment.

•

We incurred $3.1 million in debt refinancing costs related to the 2013 Financing Agreement.

Year Ended December 31, 2015 (Successor) Compared to Period of January 1, 2014 through December 31, 2014
(Predecessor)
Overview
Westmoreland
Resource
Partners, LP
(Successor)

Total Revenues
Net Loss
Adjusted EBITDA1

Year Ended
December 31,
2015
384.7
$
(33.7)
66.1

Oxford
Resource
Partners, LP
(Predecessor)
Period from
January 1
through
December 31,
2014
322.3 $
$
(24.2)
36.3

Increase (Decrease)
$
%
62.4
19.4%
(9.5)
39.3%
29.8
82.1%

1

Adjusted EBITDA is not defined in GAAP. Adjusted EBITDA is presented because it is helpful to management, industry analysts, investors and lenders in
assessing the financial performance and operating results of our fundamental business activities. For a definition of Adjusted EBITDA and a reconciliation of
Adjusted EBITDA to its most directly comparable financial measures calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP, please see “Non-GAAP Financial
Measures."

Total revenue was $384.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, an increase of $62.4 million, or 19.4%,
from $322.3 million for the predecessor period ended December 31, 2014. Net loss for the year ended December 31, 2015
was $33.7 million, compared to a net loss for the year ended December 31, 2014 of $24.2 million. Adjusted EBITDA was
$66.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, an increase of $29.8 million from $36.3 million for the predecessor
period ended December 31, 2014.
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Coal Sales Revenues
Westmoreland
Resource
Partners, LP
(Successor)

Total coal sales revenue

Year Ended
December 31,
2015
375.1
$

Oxford
Resource
Partners, LP
(Predecessor)
Period from
January 1
through
December 31,
2014
295.7
$

$

Increase (Decrease)
$
%
79.4
26.9%

Coal sales revenue was $375.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, an increase of $79.4 million, or 26.9%,
from $295.7 million for the predecessor period ended December 31, 2014. The increase was primarily attributable to a 50.6%
increase in sales tons in the amount of $149.7 million that was primarily the result of the Kemmerer Drop, partially offset by a
$8.27 per ton, or an aggregate $70.3 million, decrease in the average sale price per ton for the year ended December 31, 2015.
Non-coal Revenues
Westmoreland
Resource
Partners, LP
(Successor)

Year Ended
December 31,
2015
9.6
$

Total non-coal revenue

Oxford
Resource
Partners, LP
(Predecessor)
Period from
January 1
through
December 31,
2014
26.6
$

$

Increase (Decrease)
$
%
(17.0)
(63.9)%

Non-coal revenues, primarily from limestone sales, non-coal services and other miscellaneous revenue was $9.6
million for the year ended December 31, 2015, a decrease of $17.0 million, from $26.6 million for the predecessor period
ended December 31, 2014. Other miscellaneous revenue decreased by $17.7 million to $2.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2015 from $20.4 million in the prior year, due primarily to the receipt of $19.5 million in litigation settlement
proceeds from a former customer compensating us for lost profits on coal sales due to a wrongfully terminated coal supply
agreement in the predecessor period ended December 31, 2014. The $17.7 million decrease in miscellaneous revenue and $1.8
million decrease in limestone revenue was offset in part by a $1.9 million increase in non-coal services and a $0.6 million
increase in oil and gas royalties the year ended December 31, 2015.
Cost of Coal Revenues
Westmoreland
Resource
Partners, LP
(Successor)

Year Ended
December 31,

Oxford
Resource
Partners, LP
(Predecessor)
Period from
January 1
through
December 31,

2015
Total Cost of Coal Revenue

$

307.0
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$

2014
258.6

Increase (Decrease)
$
$

%
48.4

18.7%
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Cost of coal revenues (excluding DD&A) was $307.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, an increase of
$48.4 million, or 18.7%, from $258.6 million for the predecessor period ended December 31, 2014. The increase was
primarily attributable to an increase of 2.9 million in tons sold, which corresponds to a $131.1 million increase in cost of coal
revenues, partially offset by a decrease in the cost to produce coal of $9.73 per ton, or an aggregate $82.7 million, for the year
ended December 31, 2015.
Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization
Westmoreland
Resource
Partners, LP
(Successor)

Depreciation, depletion and amortization

Year Ended
December 31,
2015
54.5
$

Oxford
Resource
Partners, LP
(Predecessor)
Period from
January 1
through
December 31,
2014
39.3
$

$

Increase (Decrease)
$
%
15.2
38.7%

DD&A expense was $54.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, an increase of $15.2 million, or 38.7%,
from $39.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2014. Depreciation expense increased $12.6 million, or 47.2%, to $39.3
million for the year ended December 31, 2015, from $26.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, the increase was
primarily attributable to the August 1, 2015 Kemmerer Drop. Amortization expense was $6.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2015, a $0.4 million decrease from $7.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2014. The decrease was
primarily attributable to changes in the amortization for asset retirement costs based on revisions to cost estimates and useful
lives. Depletion expense was $8.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, a $3.0 million increase from $5.3 million for
the year ended December 31, 2014, which was primarily attributable to an increase in the depletion rate per ton.
Selling and Administrative
Westmoreland
Resource
Partners, LP
(Successor)

Total selling, general and administrative

Year Ended
December 31,
2015
17.1
$

Oxford
Resource
Partners, LP
(Predecessor)
Period from
January 1
through
December 31,
2014
20.5
$

$

Increase (Decrease)
$
%
(3.4)
(16.6)%

Selling and administrative expenses were $17.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, a decrease of $3.4
million, or 16.6%, from $20.5 million for the predecessor period ended December 31, 2014. The decrease is primarily the
result of one-time expenses resulting from the WCC transactions which includes $2.0 million in equity-based compensation
expense related to change of control provisions for the LTIP for the predecessor period ended December 31, 2014 and other
cost reduction efforts made during the year ended December 31, 2015.
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Nonoperating Results (including interest expense, interest income, (loss) gain on debt extinguishment other income, change in
fair value of warrants, and net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest)
Westmoreland
Resource
Partners, LP
(Successor)

Interest expense
Interest income
(Loss) gain on debt extinguishment
Other income
Change in fair value of warrants
Less net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest

Year Ended
December 31,
2015
(30.8)
$
0.9
—
0.3
1.3
—

Oxford
Resource
Partners, LP
(Predecessor)
Period from
January 1
through
December 31,
2014
(27.8) $
$
—
0.5
—
0.8
1.3

Increase (Decrease)
$
%
(3.0)
10.8 %
0.9
100.0 %
(0.5)
(100.0)%
0.3
100.0 %
0.5
62.5 %
(1.3)
(100.0)%

Our interest expense increased $3.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 to 30.8 million compared to $27.8
million of the predecessor period ended December 31, 2014 primarily due to the $120.0 million in additional debt incurred
through the Kemmerer Drop on August 1, 2015.
Our interest income was $0.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 through an increase in cash on hand
throughout the year ended December 31, 2015.
We incurred a $0.5 million gain on extinguishment debt for the predecessor period ended December 31, 2014 related
to the forgiveness of a note.
We recognized income from the change in fair value of warrants of $1.3 million for the year ended December 31,
2015, an increase of $0.5 million compared to $0.8 million for the predecessor period ended December 31, 2014. The increase
is the result of the declining value of our units traded on the NYSE.
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest relates to the 49% ownership interest in Harrison Resources owned
by a subsidiary of CONSOL through September 30, 2014. Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest was $1.3 million for
the predecessor period ended December 31, 2014.
Period of December 31, 2014 (Successor)
Restructuring and Impairment Charges
Restructuring and impairment charges were $2.8 million for the successor period ended December 31, 2014, due to
severance compensation resulting from the WCC transactions.
Nonoperating Results (including loss on debt extinguishment)
We incurred a $1.6 million loss on extinguishment debt for the successor period ended December 31, 2014 related to
the payoff of the 2013 Financing Agreement.
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Period of January 1, 2014 through December 31, 2014 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2013 (Predecessor)
Overview

Total Revenues
Net Loss
Adjusted EBITDA1

Oxford Resource Partners, LP
(Predecessor)
Period from
January 1
through
Year Ended
December 31,
December 31,
2014
2013
322.3 $
346.8 $
$
(24.2)
(23.7)
36.3
39.1

Increase (Decrease)
$
%
(24.5)
(7.1)%
(0.5)
2.1 %
(2.8)
(7.2)%

1

Adjusted EBITDA is not defined in GAAP. Adjusted EBITDA is presented because it is helpful to management, industry analysts, investors and lenders in
assessing the financial performance and operating results of our fundamental business activities. For a definition of Adjusted EBITDA and a reconciliation of
Adjusted EBITDA to its most directly comparable financial measures calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP, please see “Non-GAAP Financial
Measures."

Total revenue was $322.3 million for the predecessor period ended December 31, 2014, a decrease of $24.5 million,
or 7.1%, from $346.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2013. Net loss for the predecessor period ended December 31,
2014 was $24.2 million, compared to a net loss for the year ended December 31, 2013 of $23.7 million. Adjusted EBITDA
was $36.3 million for the predecessor period ended December 31, 2014, a decrease of $2.8 million from $39.1 million for the
year ended December 31, 2013.
Coal Sales Revenues

Total coal sales revenue

Oxford Resource Partners, LP
(Predecessor)
Period from
January 1
through
Year Ended
December 31,
December 31,
2014
2013
295.7 $
336.2
$

$

Increase (Decrease)
$
%
(40.5)
(12.0)%

Coal sales revenue was $295.7 million for the predecessor period ended December 31, 2014, a decrease of $40.5
million, or 12.0%, from $336.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2013. The decrease was primarily attributable to a
14.7% decrease in sales tons in the amount of $49.3 million, partially offset by a $1.57 per ton, or an aggregate $8.8 million,
increase in the average sale price per ton for the predecessor period ended December 31, 2014.
Non-coal Revenues

Total non-coal revenue

Oxford Resource Partners, LP
(Predecessor)
Period from
January 1
through
Year Ended
December 31,
December 31,
2014
2013
26.6 $
10.6
$

$

Increase (Decrease)
$
%
16.0
150.9%

Non-coal revenues, primarily from limestone sales, non-coal services and other miscellaneous revenue was $26.6
million for the predecessor period ended December 31, 2014, an increase of $16.0 million, from $10.6 million for the year
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ended December 31, 2013. Other miscellaneous revenue increased by $15.2 million to $20.4 million for the predecessor period
ended December 31, 2014 from $5.2 million in the prior year, due primarily to the receipt of $19.5 million in litigation
settlement proceeds from a former customer compensating us for lost profits on coal sales due to a wrongfully terminated coal
supply agreement in predecessor period ended December 31, 2013. The $15.2 million increase in miscellaneous revenue, $0.8
million increase in non-coal services and $0.3 million increase in oil and gas royalties was offset in part by a $0.3 million
decrease in limestone revenue for the predecessor period ended December 31, 2014.
Cost of Coal Revenues

Total Cost of Coal Revenue

Oxford Resource Partners, LP
(Predecessor)
Period from
January 1
through
Year Ended
December 31,
December 31,
2014
2013
258.6 $
290.4
$

$

Increase (Decrease)
$
%
(31.8)
(11.0)%

Cost of coal revenues (excluding DD&A) was $258.6 million for the predecessor period ended December 31, 2014, a
decrease of $31.8 million, or 11.0%, from $290.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2013. The decrease was primarily
attributable to a decrease of 1.0 million in tons sold, which corresponds to a $42.6 million decrease in cost of coal revenues,
partially offset by an increase in the cost to produce coal of $1.93 per ton, or an aggregate $10.8 million, for the predecessor
period ended December 31, 2014.
Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization

Depreciation, depletion and amortization

Oxford Resource Partners, LP
(Predecessor)
Period from
January 1
through
Year Ended
December 31,
December 31,
2014
2013
39.3 $
48.1
$

$

Increase (Decrease)
$
%
(8.8)
(18.3)%

DD&A expense was $39.3 million for the predecessor period ended December 31, 2014, a decrease of $8.8 million,
or 18.3%, from $48.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2014. Depreciation expense decreased $4.1 million, or 13.3%,
to $26.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, from $30.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, which
decrease was primarily attributable to the restructuring related to our Illinois Basin operations. Amortization expense was $7.3
million for the year ended December 31, 2014, a $5.5 million decrease from $12.8 million for the year ended December 31,
2013. The decrease was primarily attributable to changes in the amortization for asset retirement costs based on revisions to
cost estimates and useful lives. Depletion expense was $5.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, a $0.8 million
increase from $4.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, which was primarily attributable to an increase in the
depletion rate per ton.
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Selling and Administrative

Total selling, general and administrative

Oxford Resource Partners, LP
(Predecessor)
Period from
January 1
through
Year Ended
December 31,
December 31,
2014
2013
20.5 $
17.3
$

$

Increase (Decrease)
$
%
3.2
18.5%

Selling and administrative expenses were $20.5 million for the predecessor period ended December 31, 2014, an
increase of $3.2 million, or 18.5%, from $17.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2013. The increase is primarily the
result of one-time expenses resulting from the WCC transactions which includes $2.0 million in equity-based compensation
expense related to change of control provisions for the LTIP for the predecessor period ended December 31, 2014.
Nonoperating Results (including interest expense, loss on debt extinguishment, change in fair value of warrants, and net loss
attributable to noncontrolling interest)

Interest expense
(Loss) gain on debt extinguishment
Change in fair value of warrants
Less net loss (income) attributable to noncontrolling
interest

Oxford Resource Partners, LP
(Predecessor)
Period from
January 1
through
Year Ended
December 31,
December 31,
2014
2013
(27.8) $
(20.2) $
$
0.5
(0.8)
0.8
3.3
1.3

(1.2)

Increase (Decrease)
$
%
(7.6)
37.6 %
1.3
(162.5)%
(2.5)
(75.8)%
2.5

(208.3)%

Our interest expense increased $7.6 million for the predecessor period ended December 31, 2014 to $27.8 million
compared to $20.2 million or the year ended December 31, 2013 primarily due to an increased interest rate under the 2013
Financing Agreement compared to the 2010 Credit Agreement.
We incurred a $0.5 million gain on extinguishment debt for the predecessor period ended December 31, 2014 related
to the forgiveness of a note. We incurred a $0.8 million loss on extinguishment debt for the year ended December 31, 2013
related to the payoff of the 2010 Credit Agreement.
We recognized income from the change in fair value of warrants of $0.8 million for the predecessor period ended
December 31, 2014, a decrease of $2.5 million compared to $3.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2013. The
December 31, 2014 decrease is the result of the continued declining value of our units traded on the New York Stock
Exchange.
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest relates to the 49% ownership interest in Harrison Resources owned
by a subsidiary of CONSOL through September 30, 2014. Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest was $1.3 million for
the predecessor period ended December 31, 2014, a decrease of $2.5 million from net income attributable to noncontrolling
interest of $1.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2013. This decrease in net income attributable to noncontrolling
interest was primarily due to lower operating margins at the Harrison mine.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Liquidity
We had the following liquidity at December 31, 2015 and 2014 :
Westmoreland Resource Partners, LP
(Successor)
December 31,
2015
Cash and cash equivalents

$

Revolving Credit Facility

2014
3.7

$

6.0

$

6.0

15.0

Total

$

18.7

—

Our business is capital intensive and requires substantial capital expenditures for, among other things, purchasing,
maintaining and upgrading equipment used in developing and mining our coal, and acquiring reserves. Our principal liquidity
needs are to finance current operation, replace reserves and fund capital expenditures, including costs of acquisitions from
time to time, servicing of our debt and paying cash distributions to our unitholders when we are in a position to do so. Our
primary sources of liquidity to meet these needs are cash generated by our operations and the limited remainder of our initial
term loan borrowing under the 2014 Financing Agreement. Also, if we are able to sell the remaining excess Illinois Basin
equipment, a large-capacity shovel and several smaller pieces of equipment, our liquidity will be enhanced. Additionally, we
would consider offers for the remaining coal reserves and/or facilities related to our Illinois Basin operations, which could
further enhance our liquidity.
Our ability to satisfy our working capital requirements, meet debt service obligations, and fund planned capital
expenditures substantially depends upon our future operating performance, which may be affected by prevailing economic
conditions in the coal industry. To the extent our future operating cash flow or access to financing sources and the costs thereof
are materially different than expected, our future liquidity may be adversely affected.
We have managed our liquidity for the year ended December 31, 2015, with $32.0 million of cash flows provided
from operations and $100.6 million of cash flows provided from financing activities. As of December 31, 2015, our available
liquidity was $18.7 million, which consisted of cash on hand and available borrowing capacity under our Revolving Credit
Facility. Due to refinancing our credit facility and the Kemmerer Drop, we believe that our cash from operations will provide
sufficient liquidity for at least the next twelve months.
Credit Facilities Generally
On December 31, 2014, we closed on a new credit facility under a Financing Agreement (the “2014 Financing
Agreement”) with the lenders party thereto and U.S. Bank National Association as Administrative and Collateral Agent. The
credit facility consists of a $175 million term loan, with an option for an additional up to $120 million in term loans for
acquisitions which was exercised on August 1, 2015 to finance the Kemmerer Drop. The 2014 Financing Agreement matures
in December 2018. The 2014 Financing Agreement contains customary financial and other covenants. Borrowings under the
2014 Financing Agreement are secured by substantially all of our physical assets. Proceeds of the credit facility were used to
retire our then existing first and second lien credit facilities and to pay fees and expenses related to our existing credit facility,
with the limited amount of remaining proceeds being available as working capital.
As of December 31, 2015, the $299.2 million outstanding under the 2014 Financing Agreement bears interest at a
variable rate per annum equal to, at our option, the London Interbank Offered Rate (as defined in the 2014 Financing
Agreement) (“LIBOR”) (floor of 0.75% plus 8.5%) or the Reference Rate. As of December 31, 2015, we had a cash interest
rate of 9.25%, consisting of the LIBOR floor (0.75%) plus 8.50%.
The 2014 Financing Agreement also provides for “PIK Interest” (paid-in-kind interest as defined in the 2014
Financing Agreement) at a variable rate per annum between 1.00% and 3.00% based on our Consolidated Total Net Leverage
Ratio (as defined in the 2014 Financing Agreement). The rate of PIK Interest is recalculated on a quarterly basis with the PIK
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Interest added quarterly to the then-outstanding principal amount of the term loan under the 2014 Financing Agreement. PIK
Interest under the 2014 Financing Agreement was $6.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2015.
In connection with the Kemmerer Drop, we amended the 2014 Financing Agreement on July 31, 2015 to (i) allow us
to make distributions in an aggregate amount not to exceed $15.0 million (previously $7.5 million) without pro forma
compliance with the consolidated total net leverage ratio or fixed charge coverage ratio, and (ii) at any time that we have a
revolving loan facility available, require us to have liquidity of at least $7.5 million (previously $5.0 million), after giving
effect to such distributions and applying availability under such revolving loan facility towards satisfying the liquidity
requirement.
Revolving Credit Facility
On October 23, 2015, the Partnership and its subsidiaries (together with the Partnership, the “Borrowers”), entered
into the Loan Agreement with the lenders party thereto and The PrivateBank and Trust Company, as administrative agent. The
Loan Agreement permits borrowings by the Borrowers under the Revolving Credit Facility up to the aggregate principal
amount of $15 million. The Revolving Credit Facility permits the Borrowers to obtain letters of credit in an aggregate
outstanding amount of $10 million, which will reduce availability under the Revolving Credit Facility on a dollar-for-dollar
basis. The Borrowers have not incurred any borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility.
The Loan Agreement has a maturity date of December 31, 2017. Borrowers may elect interest under the Revolving
Credit Facility to accrue at either (i) the Base Rate, which bears interest at the greater of (A) the Federal Funds Rate plus
0.50% or (B) the Prime Rate, in each case, plus 0.75% (payable monthly), or (ii) the LIBOR Rate, which bears interest for the
relevant period as offered in the London Interbank Eurodollar market plus 2.75% (payable on the last day of the applicable
interest period). In addition, an unused line fee of 0.50% of the average unused portion of the Revolving Credit Facility is
payable monthly.
The Loan Agreement includes a quarterly fixed charge coverage ratio covenant as well as incurrence-based financial
covenants regarding the Partnership’s fixed charges and total net leverage, and otherwise contains customary affirmative covenants,
negative covenants and events of default. All extensions of credit under the Loan Agreement are collateralized by a first priority
security interest in and lien upon the inventory, accounts receivable and cash of the Borrowers.
Historical Sources and Uses of Cash
The following table reflects cash flows for the years indicated.
Westmoreland Resource
Partners, LP
(Successor)
For the Year
Ended
December 31,
2015

Oxford Resource Partners, LP

1

(Predecessor)
Period from
January 1,
through
December 31,
2014

Period of
December 31,
2014

Year Ended
December 31,
2013

(in thousands)
Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities

$

31,994

Investing activities

(134,878)

Financing activities

100,590

$

(1,820)

$

24,385

$

9,716

83

(8,253)

(22,463)

7,741

(19,221)

11,859

1

See Note 3: Acquisition and Pushdown Accounting included in the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in “Item 8 - Financial Statements
and Supplementary Data.”

Year Ended December 31, 2015 (Successor) Compared to Period from January 1, 2014 through December 31, 2014
(Predecessor)
Net cash provided by operating activities was $32.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to $24.4
million of net cash provided in operating activities for the predecessor period ended December 31, 2014, an increase of $7.6
million. We experienced a net loss for the year ended December 31, 2015 of $33.7 million, an increase of $9.5 million
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compared to a net loss for the predecessor period ended December 31, 2014 of $24.2 million. The increase in the net loss was
attributable lower coal sales volumes and cost incurred to execute the Kemmerer Drop. The $9.5 million increase in net loss
combined with unfavorable changes in equity-based compensation of $4.1 million and an unfavorable change in working
capital of $1.8 million was offset by favorable changes of $15.2 million in depreciation, depletion and amortization, $6.9
million of losses on disposals of assets and $2.7 million of accretion of asset retirement obligations.
.Net cash used in investing activities was $134.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to $8.3
million for the predecessor period ended December 31, 2014, an increase of $126.6 million was largely attributable to $115.0
million cash used for the Kemmerer Drop combined with a decrease in cash provided from restricted investments and bond
collateral of $4.7 million and an increase in capital expenditures of $4.2 million, offset in part by $2.8 million in proceeds
from the sale of assets.
Net cash provided by financing activities was $100.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, an increase of
$119.8 million from net cash used in financing activities of $19.2 million for the predecessor period ended December 31,
2014. The $119.8 million increase in net cash used in financing activities was primarily attributable to the $120.0 million in
additional borrowing related to the Kemmerer Drop.
Period of December 31, 2014 (Successor)
Net cash used in operating activities was $1.8 million for the period of December 31, 2014 which comprised of net
loss of $4.4 million that comprised of $2.8 million in restructuring charges and $1.6 million in loss on the extinguishment of
debt offset in part by a $1.8 million change in working capital.
Net cash provided by financing activities of $7.7 million for the period of December 31, 2014, resulted from the
refinanced our credit facility with a $175.0 million credit facility. Proceeds of the new credit facility were used to retire our
then existing first and second lien credit facilities totaling $158.8 million and to pay $8.4 million fees and expenses related to
our new credit facility.
Period from January 1, 2014 through December 31, 2014 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2013 (Predecessor)
Net cash provided by operating activities was $24.4 million for the predecessor period ended December 31, 2014
compared to $9.7 million of net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2013, an increase of
$14.7 million. We experienced a net loss for the predecessor period ended December 31, 2014 of $24.2 million, an increase of
$0.5 million compared to a net loss for the year ended December 31, 2013 of $23.7 million. The increase in the net loss was
attributable in part to the WCC transactions which generated $8.2 million in nonrecurring costs. The $8.2 million in
transaction-related costs consisted of $5.5 million in recapitalization costs and $2.8 million in share-based compensation
expense which was triggered by change of control provisions for the LTIP. The $8.2 million in transaction expenses was offset
in part by the receipt of $17.5 million in net legal settlement proceeds, a $8.7 million decrease in depreciation, depletion and
amortization expense and a $1.7 million decrease in restructuring and impairment charges, respectively. These differences,
combined with a $10.4 million favorable change in working capital, are the primary drivers of the increase in net cash
provided by operating activities. The favorable change in working capital was primarily attributable to favorable changes of
$9.4 million in accounts receivable, and $3.9 million in reclamation and mine closure costs, partially offset by an unfavorable
change in accounts payable and accrued expenses of $2.0 million.
Net cash used in investing activities was $8.3 million for the predecessor period ended December 31, 2014 compared
to $22.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, a decrease of $14.2 million. The $14.2 million decrease was
attributable to a $14.0 million decrease in the cash used for restricted investments and bond collateral and a $6.4 million
decrease in property, plant and equipment spend, partially offset by a $3.2 million reduction in net proceeds from the sale of
assets and a $3.0 million reduction in insurance proceeds received.
Net cash used in financing activities was $19.2 million for the predecessor period ended December 31, 2014, a
decrease of $31.1 million from net cash provided by financing activities of $11.9 million for the year ended December 31,
2013. The $31.1 million decrease in net cash used in financing activities was primarily attributable to the $12.6 million
principal prepayment paid in conjunction with the receipt of $19.5 million in litigation settlement proceeds from a former
customer compensating us for lost profits on coal sales due to a wrongful termination of a coal supply agreement and the $3.6
million redemption payment for the noncontrolling interest in Harrison.
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Contractual Obligations
Payments Due by Period
2016
2017-2018
2019-2020

Total

After 2020

(In thousands)

Long-term debt obligations (principal
and interest)
Capital lease obligations (principal and
interest)
Operating lease obligations
Fixed-price diesel fuel purchase
contracts
Other obligations1, 2
Totals

$

$

414,739

$

28,231

$

386,356

$

152

$

—

9,919
6,454

2,609
4,380

4,758
1,559

2,552
515

—
—

22,568
133,197
586,877

22,568
16,032
73,820

—
25,868
418,541

—
13,142
16,361

—
78,155
78,155

$

$

$

$

1

Represents payments due under the terms of the Services Agreement with our GP who provides services through its employees to us and is reimbursed for all
related costs incurred on our behalf and final reclamation costs.
2
In accordance with the contribution agreement related to the Kemmerer Drop, WCC shall, in compliance with the Services Agreement and the Partnership
Agreement, allocate expenses incurred for post retirement pension, medical, and other benefit liabilities attributable to Transferred Employees on a cash basis
through the period ending December 31, 2017. Thereafter, WCC shall allocate such expenses in its sole discretion, in compliance with the Services Agreement
and the Partnership Agreement.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during
the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
We have provided a summary of all significant accounting policies in Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies, to the audited consolidated financial statements presented elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The most
significant policies requiring the use of management estimates and assumptions relate to the collectability of accounts
receivable, useful lives of fixed assets, valuation of coal reserves, reserve estimates of coal reserves, evaluations of asset
impairment, recoverability of advanced royalties, useful lives of intangible assets, fair value of assets and liabilities under
purchase accounting, and estimates of future asset retirement obligations. We believe that these significant policies involve a
high degree of judgment and/or complexity.
Asset Retirement Obligations, Final Reclamation Costs and Reserve Estimates
Our asset retirement obligations primarily consist of cost estimates for final reclamation of surface land and support
facilities at both surface mines and coal processing plants in accordance with federal and state reclamation laws. Asset
retirement obligations are based on projected pit configurations at the end of mining and are determined for each mine using
estimates and assumptions including estimates of disturbed acreage as determined from engineering data, estimates of future
costs to reclaim the disturbed acreage, the timing of these cash flows, and a credit-adjusted, risk-free rate. As changes in
estimates occur such as mine plan revisions, changes in estimated costs, or changes in timing of the final reclamation
activities, the obligation and asset are revised to reflect the new estimate after applying the appropriate credit-adjusted, riskfree rate to the changes. If our assumptions do not materialize as expected, actual cash expenditures and costs that we incur
could be materially different from currently estimated. Moreover, regulatory changes could increase our obligation to perform
final reclamation and mine closing activities.
See additional information regarding our asset retirement obligations in Note 12 to our consolidated financial
statements.
Purchase and Pushdown Accounting
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WCC's acquisition of our GP was accounted for using the acquisition method under ASC 805, Business Combination.
Under the acquisition method, the purchase price was allocated to the underlying tangible and intangible assets acquired and
liabilities assumed based on their respective fair values.
Per ASC 805-50-25-4 (effective November 18, 2014), we, as an acquiree of WCC through our GP, have the option to
apply pushdown accounting in our consolidated financial statements when an acquirer (WCC) obtained control of us. We
have chosen to adopt pushdown accounting and will reflect purchase accounting adjustments in our consolidated financial
statement.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
The accounting standards adopted in 2015 did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
See Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements for a discussion of recently adopted accounting pronouncements.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
In the normal course of business, we are a party to certain off-balance sheet arrangements. These arrangements
include guarantees and financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk, such as letters of credit and surety, performance, and
road bonds. No liabilities related to these arrangements are reflected in our consolidated balance sheet, and we do not expect
any material adverse effects on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows to result from these arrangements.
Federal and state laws require us to secure certain long-term obligations, such as ARO, and contractual performance.
Historically, we secured these obligations with surety bonds supported by letters of credit.
As of December 31, 2015, we had $132.5 million in surety bonds outstanding to secure certain reclamation
obligations which were collateralized by cash deposits and restricted investments of $34.5 million. Such cash collateral is
included in Restricted investments and bond collateral on our consolidated balance sheets and Change in restricted
investments and bond collateral within investing activities on our consolidated statements of cash flow. Additionally, we had
road bonds totaling $0.3 million and performance bonds totaling $2.9 million outstanding to secure contractual performance.
We believe these bonds will expire without any claims or payments thereon and therefore will not have a material adverse
effect on our financial position, liquidity or operations.
Item 7A.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Market risk includes risks that arise from changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates, commodity
prices, equity prices and other market changes that affect market-sensitive instruments. We believe our principal market risks
are commodity price risks and interest rate risks.
Commodity Price Risks
We manage our commodity price risks for coal sales through the use of supply contracts and the use of forwardpurchase contracts.
Some of the products used in our mining activities, such as diesel fuel, is subject to price volatility. Through our
suppliers, we utilize forward-purchase contracts to manage the exposure related to this volatility. Additionally, our expected
diesel fuel needs are protected, in varying amounts, by diesel fuel escalation provisions contained in coal supply contracts
with some of our customers, allowing for a change in the price per coal ton sold. Price changes typically lag the changes in
diesel fuel costs by one quarter and are recorded in coal sales. A hypothetical increase of $0.30 per gallon for diesel fuel
would have increased the net loss by $2.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2015.
Interest Rate Risks
For the balance of our indebtedness that is not subject to the interest rate swap arrangements, we have exposure to
changes in interest rates on our indebtedness associated with our 2014 Financing Agreement. At December 31, 2015, the
weighted average cash interest rate on our debt under the 2014 Financing Agreement was 9.25%. Based on our borrowings at
the end of 2015, a hypothetical 100 basis point increase in short-term interest rates would result, over the subsequent twelvemonth period, in reduced net income of approximately $2.4 million.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
The Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, Consolidated Financial Statements and
supplementary financial data required for this Item are set forth on pages F-1 through F-48 of this Annual Report on Form
10-K and are incorporated herein by reference.
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountant on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A.

Controls and Procedures

Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
As of December 31, 2015, management conducted an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of
our chief executive officer (“CEO”) and chief financial officer (“CFO”), of the effectiveness of the design and operation of
our disclosure controls and procedures, as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act. Based
upon that evaluation, our CEO and CFO concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of
December 31, 2015 in ensuring that information required to be disclosed was recorded, processed, summarized and reported
within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and to provide reasonable assurance that information required
to be disclosed by us in such reports is accumulated and communicated to management, including our CEO and CFO, as
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as
such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Internal control over financial reporting refers
to a process designed by, or under the supervision of, our principal executive and principal financial officers or persons
performing similar functions, and effected by the board of directors, management and other personnel, to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and includes those policies and procedures that:
• pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of our assets;
• provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and our directors; and
• provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on our financial statements.
Management evaluated the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015,
using the framework set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in their
2013 Internal Control-Integrated Framework.. Based upon management’s evaluation, our CEO and CFO concluded that our
internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2015.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the quarter ended December 31, 2015 that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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Item 9B.

OTHER INFORMATION

None
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PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
Partnership Management
We are managed and operated by the directors and executive officers of our general partner, Westmoreland
Resources GP, LLC. Westmoreland Coal Company owns 93.9% of our limited partner interests on a fully diluted basis,
100% of the membership interests in our general partner and our incentive distribution rights. Our general partner was not
elected and is not subject to election in the future by our unitholders. Our general partner has a board of directors (the
"Board"), and our unitholders are not entitled to elect the directors or participate in our management or operations. Our
general partner owes certain fiduciary duties to our unitholders as well as a fiduciary duty to its owners. Our general partner
is liable, as general partner, for all of our debts (to the extent not paid from our assets), except for indebtedness or other
obligations that are made specifically nonrecourse to it. Whenever possible, we intend to incur indebtedness that is
nonrecourse to our general partner.
During 2015, our general partner’s board of directors had eight directors, four of whom are "independent" as defined
under the independence standards established by the NYSE and the Exchange Act. The NYSE does not require a listed
publicly traded partnership, such as ours, to have a majority of independent directors on the Board of Directors of its general
partner or to establish a compensation or nominating committee. However, our general partner is required to have an audit
committee of at least three members, and all of its members are required to meet the independence and experience standards
established by the NYSE and the Exchange Act. Our general partner’s board of directors has affirmatively determined that
Robert T. Clutterbuck, Keith D. Horton, Kurt D. Kost and Gerald A. Tywoniuk are independent as described in the rules of
the NYSE and the Exchange Act.
In this report, we provide executive compensation information on our general partner’s current and former principal
executive officers, and our next two most highly paid executive officers, in each case as of December 31, 2015, based on total
compensation determined under Item 402 of Regulation S-K. We refer to these officers in this report as our “named executive
officers.” All of our general partner’s named executive officers are employed as executive officers of Westmoreland Coal
Company. Our general partner’s executive officers allocate their time between managing our business and affairs and those of
Westmoreland Coal Company. Such executive officers devote as much time to the management of our business and affairs as
is necessary for the proper conduct of our business. However, certain of these executive officers devoted a majority of their
professional time to Westmoreland Coal Company during 2015. Our named executive officers participate in the employee
benefit plans and compensation arrangements of Westmoreland Coal Company, and the compensation committee of
Westmoreland Coal Company’s board of directors sets the components of their compensation, including salary, annual
incentive and long-term incentive plans. We have no control over this compensation determination process. Please refer to
Westmoreland Coal Company’s Proxy Statement for its 2016 Annual Meeting of Shareholders (the "WCC Proxy Statement")
for further information on the compensation of certain of out named executive officers during 2015.
Under the terms of our Services Agreement with WCC, we pay a fixed management fee in connection with our general
partner’s management of our business. We also reimburse our general partner and its affiliates (including WCC) for direct costs
and expenses they incur and payments they make in providing general and administrative services for our benefit. Corporate
and other costs and expenses incurred by WCC and its affiliates that are directly attributable to Partnership entities will be
allocated to us. WCC allocates these corporate and other costs on the basis of the costs and the level of support attributable to
the applicable operating facilities for each function performed by the WCC (e.g., legal, accounting, treasury, insurance
administration and claims processing, risk management, health, safety and environmental, information technology, human
resources, credit, payroll, internal audit, taxes and engineering), rather than on the basis of time spent by individual officers
acting within a function. The estimated cost and level of support for each of our operating facilities is based on a weighted
average of certain factors determined by management of WCC, including the type of operations and headcount at the facilities
supported. Our Partnership Agreement does not set a limit on the amount of expenses for which our general partner and its
affiliates may be reimbursed.
Where costs are specifically incurred on behalf of one of our affiliates, the costs are billed directly to us by WCC
under the Services Agreement. Costs may also be allocated to us in a variety of methods when a cost or service applies
equally to all employees. Additionally, the Services Agreement provides for an annual fixed fee to reimburse our general
partner for executive officers and other employees who devote less than a majority of their time to us. Each year, our general
partner determines the aggregate amount, including the annual fixed fee, to be reimbursed to WCC, by us, taking into account
the totality of services performed for our benefit by the executive officers during the calendar year. The amounts reimbursed
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to WCC are not calculated with regard to an executive officer's time spent on our business matters versus those of WCC.
There is no specific allocation of a portion of a shared officer's compensation in connection with services rendered on our
behalf. During 2015, Westmoreland Coal Company allocated $57.3 million of expenses in the aggregate for the services they
provided to us, of which $1.1 million is attributable to the annual fixed fee consisting of $0.5 million for executive services
and $0.6 million for corporate and other costs described above. See Item 13, “Certain Relationships and Related
Transactions, and Director Independence” for further discussion of our relationships and transactions with WCC and its
affiliates.
Directors and Executive Officers
Directors of our general partner, which we refer to as our Board, are appointed for a term of one year and hold office
until their successors have been elected or qualified or until the earlier of their death, resignation, removal or disqualification.
All of the directors of our general partner were appointed to the Board on January 6, 2015, except for Mr. Veenstra who was
appointed December 1, 2015. The executive officers of our general partner serve at the discretion of the Board. The
following table shows certain information for the directors and executive officers of our general partner from January 1, 2015
to December 31, 2015.
Name
Kevin A. Paprzycki

Age
(a)

Position

45

Chairman of the Board, President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

Jason W. Veenstra(b)

37

Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Director

Jennifer S. Grafton

39

Chief Legal Officer and Director

Gregory J. Honish

59

Senior Vice President, Operations

Michael J. Meyer(c)

39

Chief Accounting Officer and Corporate Controller

Robert T. Clutterbuck

65

Director

Keith D. Horton

62

Director

Kurt D. Kost

59

Director

Gerald A. Tywoniuk

54

Director

Charles C. Ungurean

65

Director

Keith E. Alessi(d)

61

Former Director, Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer

(a)

Mr. Paprzycki served as Chief Financial Officer and Director, until December 1, 2015, when he was appointed to his current position. He also held the
Treasurer title from December 31, 2014, until July 27, 2015.

(b)

Mr. Veenstra served as Treasurer from July 27, 2015, until December 1, 2015, when he was appointed to his current position.

(c)

Mr. Meyer was appointed to his current position on February 18, 2015.

(d)

Mr. Alessi retired from his positions effective December 1, 2015.

Kevin A. Paprzycki, was elected and has served as Chief Executive Officer, President and Director of our general partner
since December 1, 2015. He was previously appointed Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of our general partner in December
2014, and held the Treasurer title until July 2015. He was elected and has served as a member of the board of directors of our
general partner since January 6, 2015. Mr. Paprzycki joined WCC as Controller and Principal Accounting Officer in June 2006
and was named Chief Financial Officer in April 2008, and then Treasurer in June 2010. Prior to WCC, Mr. Paprzycki was
Corporate Controller at Applied Films Corporation from 2005 to 2006. Mr. Paprzycki became a certified public accountant in
1994 and a certified financial manager and certified management accountant in 2004. His experience at WCC with the coal
industry and as Chief Financial Officer provide him with the necessary skills to be a member of the Board. Mr. Paprzycki earned
his B.S. in Accountancy from Case Western Reserve University and his M.B.A from the University of Utah.
Jason W. Veenstra, was Treasurer of our general partner from July 27, 2015, until he was appointed Chief Financial
Officer, Treasurer and Director of our general partner on December 1, 2015. Mr. Veenstra was also appointed Chief Financial
Officer at Westmoreland Coal Company on December 1, 2015, where he had previously held the role of CFO - Canada since
April 2014. Previously Mr. Veenstra had held various roles at Sherritt International from 2006 until 2014, including serving
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as director of business development and Chief Financial Officer for the coal division. Mr. Veenstra's experience with WCC
and financial background, specifically in the coal industry, provide him with the necessary skills to be a member of the
Board. Mr. Veenstra received a bachelor of Commerce degree in Accounting from the University of Alberta and articled at
Ernst & Young LLP to complete his Chartered Accountant designation.
Jennifer S. Grafton was elected and has served as Chief Legal Officer of our general partner since January 1, 2015,
and Secretary from January 1 until February 18, 2015. She was elected and has served as a member of the Board since
January 6, 2015. Ms. Grafton joined WCC as Associate General Counsel in December 2008. She was named General
Counsel and Secretary in February 2011 and was promoted to Senior Vice President, Chief Administrative Officer and
Secretary in November 2014. Prior to WCC, Ms. Grafton worked in the corporate group of various Denver-based and
national law firms focusing her practice on securities and corporate governance. She is a member of the Colorado bar. Ms.
Grafton’s experience at WCC with the coal industry as Associate General Counsel, General Counsel and then Senior Vice
President and Chief Administrative Officer provide her with the necessary skills to be a member of the Board. Ms. Grafton
graduated from the University of Michigan Ross School of Business with her M.B.A. with High Distinction, graduated from
the University of Denver Sturm College of Law with her J.D., Order of St. Ives, and received her B.S. from the University of
Puget Sound.
Charles C. Ungurean served as President and Chief Executive Officer of our general partner from its formation in
2007 through December 31, 2014, and has served as a member of the Board since its formation in 2007. In 1985, he cofounded our predecessor and wholly owned subsidiary, Oxford Mining Company. Mr. Ungurean served as President and
Treasurer of our predecessor from 1985 to August 2007. He currently serves on the board of directors of the National Mining
Association. In addition, Mr. Ungurean served as Chairman of the Ohio Coal Association from July 2002 to July 2004. His
more than 40 years of experience in the coal industry, over 25 of which have been spent running our operations or the
operations of our predecessor and wholly owned subsidiary, Oxford Mining Company, provide him with the necessary skills
to be a member of the Board and a member of the executive committee of our general partner. Mr. Ungurean received a B.A.
in General Studies from Ohio University and is a certified surface mine foreman in Ohio.
Robert T. Clutterbuck was elected and has served as a member of the Board since January 6, 2015. He has been the
managing partner and portfolio manager at Clutterbuck Capital Management LLC for the past nine years. Prior thereto, Mr.
Clutterbuck was Chairman of Key Capital Partners, which provided brokerage, capital markets, insurance, investment
banking and asset management expertise to business and private clients nationwide. He was also Chief Executive Officer of
McDonald Investments Inc. and was a Senior Executive Vice President of KeyCorp. In addition to serving on the McDonald
Investments Board, Mr. Clutterbuck has served on numerous philanthropic boards as well as several advisory boards of
financial institutions. His extensive financial experience provide him with the necessary skills to be a member of the Board
and a member of the audit committee of our general partner. With respect to the audit committee, Mr. Clutterbuck was
designated as financially literate in accordance with NYSE listing standards based on his education and experience. He
earned a bachelor’s degree from Ohio Wesleyan University and a M.B.A. from the University of Pennsylvania Wharton
School of Business.
Keith D. Horton was elected and has served as a member of the Board since January 6, 2015. On January 1, 2015,
he retired from his position as President of PVR Coal, a subsidiary of Regency Gas Partners. From March 2010 until March
2014, Mr. Horton was Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer - Coal at PVR Partners, a publicly traded master
limited partnership. He has an extensive background in coal operations and management, including a mine engineer position
with WCC that was his first position out of college. Mr. Horton’s extensive experience in the coal industry provide him with
the necessary skills to be a member of the Board, a member of the executive and audit committees of our general partner.
With respect to the audit committee, Mr. Horton was designated as financially literate in accordance with NYSE listing
standards based on his education and experience. He earned a bachelor’s degree in Engineering of Mines from West Virginia
University and completed the University of Virginia Darden School of Business’ Executive Management Program.
Kurt D. Kost was elected and has served as a member of the Board since January 6, 2015. He has over 35 years'
experience in the mining industry. Mr. Kost’s expertise includes coal operations and engineering; safety and process
management related to operational and maintenance improvements; deploying technology in practical field applications;
post-merger organization design and implementation; and executive management and leadership. From September of 2013
until May of 2014 he was a Senior Vice President with Norwest Corporation and from 2009 until 2012 was President of
Alpha Natural Resources. Mr. Kost’s extensive experience in the coal industry provide him with the necessary skills to be a
member of the Board and a member of the audit committee of our general partner. With respect to the audit committee, Mr.
Kost was designated as financially literate in accordance with NYSE listing standards based on his education and experience.
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Mr. Kost earned a bachelor’s degree in Mining Engineering from South Dakota School of Mines and Technology and in 2004
completed Harvard Business School’s Advanced Management Program.
Gerald A. Tywoniuk has served as a member of the Board since January 2009. He also serves as a director and audit
committee chairperson of the general partner of American Midstream Partners, LP, as well as a director and audit committee
member of the general partner of Landmark Infrastructure Partners LP. In addition to his board of director roles, Mr.
Tywoniuk has provided various interim and project Chief Financial Officer services since May 2010. From June 2008 until
August 2013, he held various management and finance roles, including Plan Representative, acting Chief Executive Officer,
and Chief Financial Officer of Pacific Energy Resources Ltd., an oil production company. Mr. Tywoniuk joined that
company in June 2008 to help the management team work through the company’s financially distressed situation. The board
of the company elected to file for Chapter 11 protection in March 2009. In December 2009, the company completed the sale
of its assets, and by August 2013 the company completed its liquidation. Mr. Tywoniuk previously served as Chief Financial
Officer of Pacific Energy Partners, LP, an oil and refined products pipeline and storage partnership from 2002 to 2006, and
MarkWest Energy Partners, L.P. and its predecessor, principally a natural gas and liquids midstream services partnership,
from 1997 to 2002. He has over 33 years of experience in accounting and finance, including 12 years as the Chief Financial
Officer of three public companies and 4 years as Vice President/Controller of a fourth public company. Mr. Tywoniuk’s
extensive accounting, financial and executive management experience, as well as his in-depth knowledge of the mining
industry generally and our partnership in particular, and his prior experience with publicly traded partnerships, provide him
with the necessary skills to be a member of the board of directors and a member and chairman of the audit committee of our
general partner. With respect to the audit committee, Mr. Tywoniuk was designated as an audit committee financial expert
and financially literate in accordance with NYSE listing standards based on his education and experience. He earned a
Bachelor of Commerce degree from The University of Alberta, Canada, and is a Canadian chartered accountant.
Gregory J. Honish has served as Senior Vice President, Operations of our general partner since March 2009.
Mr. Honish has served in other capacities with us and our predecessor since January 1999, including Vice President, Mining
and Business Development from September 2007 to March 2009 and Senior Mining Engineer from January 1999 to
September 2007. Mr. Honish has held various positions in engineering, operations and management in the coal industry
during his more than thirty-year professional career at mines in Northern Appalachia, Central Appalachia, the Illinois Basin
and the Powder River Basin. He is a licensed professional engineer in Ohio and West Virginia and a certified surface mine
foreman in Ohio and Wyoming. Mr. Honish received a B.S. in Mining Engineering from the University of Wisconsin.
Michael J. Meyer was appointed Chief Accounting Officer in February of 2015 and has served as Controller of our
general partner since October 2012. Prior to joining Westmoreland GP, he was an Internal Audit Manager with L Brand, a
specialty retailer, from May 2010 through October 2012. Mr. Meyer has over 11-years of public accounting experience and has
focused on global consumer industrial clients. Prior to May 2010 Mr. Meyer was an Audit Senior Manager with KPMG LLP.
He earned a B.B.A. with a double major in accounting and finance from the Carl H. Lindner College of Business at the University
of Cincinnati in June of 1999 and became a certified public accountant in March 2002.
Keith E. Alessi was elected and has served as Chief Executive Officer and President of our general partner from
January 1, 2015, through December 1, 2015. He was elected and has served as a member of the Board since January 6, 2015,
and was appointed Chairman of the Board of our general partner on January 13, 2015, also retiring from those positions as of
December 1, 2015. Mr. Alessi has served in various capacities at Westmoreland Coal Company since 2007, and served as its
Chief Executive Officer until his December 1, 2015, retirement. He was an adjunct lecturer at the University of Michigan
Ross School of Business from 2001 to 2010 and was an Adjunct Professor at The Washington and Lee University Law
School from 1999 to 2007. Mr. Alessi previously served as Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officer or Chief
Financial Officer of a number of public and private companies from 1982 to 2000. Mr. Alessi has a M.B.A. from the
University of Michigan and a B.S. from Wayne State University and is a certified public accountant.
Corporate Governance
The Board has adopted corporate governance guidelines to assist it in the exercise of its responsibilities to provide
effective governance over our affairs for the benefit of our unitholders. In addition, we have adopted a code of business
conduct and ethics, which sets forth legal and ethical standards of conduct for all our officers, directors and employees, as
applicable. The corporate governance guidelines, the code of business conduct and ethics, the charters of our audit and
executive committees and our lead independent director charter are available on our website at www.westmorelandMLP.com
and in print without charge to any unitholder who requests any of them. A unitholder may make such a request in writing by
mailing such request to Investor Relations, Westmoreland Resource Partners, LP, 9450 South Maroon Circle, Suite 200,
Englewood, Colorado 80112, or by emailing such request to Investor Relations at ir@westmoreland.com. Amendments to, or
67

WESTMORELAND RESOURCE PARTNERS, LP AND SUBSIDIARIES
waivers from, the code of business conduct and ethics will also be available on our website and reported as may be required
under SEC rules; however, any technical, administrative or other non-substantive amendments to the code of business
conduct and ethics may not be posted. Please note that the preceding Internet address is for information purposes only and is
not intended to be a hyperlink. Accordingly, no information found or provided at that Internet address or at our website in
general is intended or deemed to be incorporated by reference herein.
Board Meetings; Committees of the Board of Directors
Our Board has audit, executive and conflicts committees. Our Board dissolved our compensation committee as of
February 24, 2016. However, the full Board approves equity grants when necessary. No grants of Partnership equity were awarded
to executive officers during 2015. The Board held eight meetings in fiscal year 2015. Each director who served during fiscal
year 2015 attended at least 75 percent of the meetings of the Board and 76 percent of the meetings of the committees on which
he or she served during the periods that he or she served in fiscal 2015.
Audit Committee Report and Independence
The Board has established an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) that complies with NYSE requirements and
Section 3(a)(58)(A) of the Exchange Act. Our general partner is required to have at least three independent directors serving
on its board at all times. Gerald A. Tywoniuk, Robert T. Clutterbuck, Keith D. Horton and Kurt D. Kost are our independent
directors and serve as the members of the Audit Committee, and all have the requisite education and experience sufficient to
be designated as financially literate under NYSE listing standards. The Board has determined that Mr. Tywoniuk, who serves
as the chairman of the Audit Committee, has the accounting or related financial management expertise sufficient to qualify as
the Audit Committee financial expert in accordance with Item 401 of Regulation S-K.
The Audit Committee meets on a regularly-scheduled basis and with our independent accountants at least four times
each year. The Audit Committee has the authority and responsibility to review our external financial reporting, to review our
procedures for internal auditing, to review the adequacy of our internal accounting controls, to consider the qualifications and
independence of our independent accountants, to engage and resolve disputes with our independent accountants, including
the letter of engagement and statement of fees relating to the scope of the annual audit work and any special audit work that
may be recommended or required by the independent accountants, and to engage the services of any other advisors and
accountants as the Audit Committee deems advisable. The Audit Committee reviews and discusses the audited financial
statements with management, discusses with our independent auditors matters required to be discussed by statement on
auditing standards No. 16 (PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 16, Communications With Audit Committees, Related
Amendments to PCAOB Standards and Transitional Amendments to AU Section 380), and makes recommendations to the
Board regarding the inclusion of our audited financial statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Conflicts Committee
Our partnership agreement provides for the conflicts committee (the “Conflicts Committee”), as circumstances
warrant, to review conflicts of interest between us and our general partner or between us and affiliates of our general partner.
The Conflicts Committee, consisting solely of independent directors, determines if the resolution of a conflict of interest that
has been presented is fair and reasonable to us. The members of the Conflicts Committee may not be executive officers or
employees of our general partner or directors, executive officers or employees of its affiliates. In addition, the members of
the Conflicts Committee must meet the independence and experience standards established by the NYSE and the Exchange
Act. The composition of our Audit Committee qualifies it to be, and our Audit Committee presently serves as, our Conflicts
Committee.
Executive Committee
The board of directors of our general partner has established an executive committee (the “Executive Committee”).
The Executive Committee handles matters that arise during the intervals between meetings of the board of directors and that,
in the opinion of the chairman of the Executive Committee, do not warrant convening a special meeting of the board of
directors but should not be postponed until the next scheduled meeting. Kevin A. Paprzycki, Keith D. Horton and Charles C.
Ungurean serve as the members of the Executive Committee. Mr. Paprzycki serves as the chairman of the Executive
Committee.
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Meeting of Non-Management Directors and Communications with Directors
At least quarterly all of the independent directors of our general partner meet in an executive session without
management participation or participation by non-independent directors. Mr. Gerald A. Tywoniuk, as chairman of the Audit
Committee, presides over these executive sessions.
The board of directors of our general partner welcomes questions or comments about us and our operations.
Unitholders or interested parties may contact the board of directors, including any individual director, by contacting the
Secretary of our general partner at www.westmorelandmlp.com/investors/investor-relations-contact-form/ or at the following
address: Name of the Director(s), c/o Secretary, Westmoreland Resource Partners, LP, 9450 South Maroon Circle, Suite 200,
Englewood, Colorado 80112.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance
Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires the Board and executive officers of our general partner, and persons who
own more than 10 percent of a registered class of our equity securities, to file with the SEC and any exchange or other system
on which such securities are traded or quoted initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in ownership of our common
units and other equity securities. Officers, directors and greater than 10 percent unitholders are required by the SEC’s
regulations to furnish to us and any exchange or other system on which such securities are traded or quoted with copies of all
Section 16(a) forms they filed with the SEC. To our knowledge, based solely on a review of the copies of such reports
furnished to us and written representations that no other reports were required, we believe that all reporting obligations of the
officers, directors and greater than 10 percent unitholders of our general partner under Section 16(a) were satisfied during the
year ended December 31, 2015, other than (a) late Form 3 filings by each of Keith Alessi, Kevin Paprzycki, Kurt Kost,
Robert Clutterbuck, Keith Horton, and Jennifer Grafton filed on January 21, 2015, (b) a late Form 3 filing by Westmoreland
Coal Company filed on February 17, 2015, (c) late Form 3 filings by each of Joseph Micheletti and Michael Meyer filed on
March 4, 2015, (d) a late Form 4 filing by Westmoreland Coal Company filed October 16, 2015, and (e) a late filing by our
director Charles Ungurean, filed February 12, 2016, as a Form 5 referencing transactions on December 1, 2015, and
December 10, 2015.
Item 11. Executive Compensation
On December 31, 2014, our general partner was acquired by WCC. In connection with the acquisition by WCC, a
number of our general partners' executive officers were terminated on that date. Mr. Honish is the only named executive
officer that was compensated for services to the Partnership as a named executive officer prior to 2015. As such, there are no
compensation disclosures in the Summary Compensation Table below with respect to our named executive officers, other
than Mr. Honish, for periods prior to fiscal year 2015. Additionally, Mr. Meyer worked as an employee of our general partner
for a short time in 2015 before becoming an employee of WCC on February 18, 2015.
Compensation Discussion and Analysis
We are managed by the executive officers of our general partner who are employed by WCC and participate in the
employee benefit plans and compensation arrangements of WCC. Two of our named executive officers, Mr. Paprzycki and
Mr. Alessi, were also executive officers of WCC for all or some of 2015. Neither we nor our general partner has a
compensation committee. For fiscal year 2015, all of our named executive officers other than Mr. Honish were compensated
directly by WCC pursuant to the Services Agreement. Mr. Honish's 2015 compensation was determined pursuant to his
employment agreement, which expired on December 31, 2015. All decisions as to the compensation of our named executive
officers are made by the compensation committee of WCC. Therefore, we do not have any policies or programs relating to
compensation of the executive officers of our general partner, we make no decisions relating to such compensation and we
have no control over determining such compensation. Other than any awards that may be granted in the future under our
Long-Term Incentive Plan, or LTIP, the compensation of our general partner’s executive officers currently is, and in the
future will be, set by Westmoreland Coal Company. The executive officers of our general partner will continue to participate
in Westmoreland Coal Company’s employee benefit plans and arrangements, including any Westmoreland Coal Company
plans that may be established in the future.
Pursuant to the terms of our Services Agreement, we reimburse WCC for a portion of WCC's compensation expense
related to our general partner’s executive officers (which expenses include the share of the compensation paid to the
executive officers of our general partner attributable to the time they spend managing our business). See “Item 13, Certain
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Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence - Services Agreement” for information regarding the
Services Agreement and allocation of expenses between the entities that share the services of these executives. Currently,
none of the executive officers of our general partner has an employment agreement with us or is otherwise specifically or
directly compensated by us for his service as an executive officer of our general partner. However, as noted above, Mr.
Honish's compensation was determined pursuant to an employment agreement that expired on December 31, 2015.
A full discussion of the policies and programs of the Compensation Committee of Westmoreland Coal Company will
be set forth in the WCC Proxy Statement which will be available upon its filing on the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov and on
Westmoreland Coal Company’s website at www.westmoreland.com at the “Investors - SEC Filings” tab. The WCC Proxy
Statement also will be available upon request, free of charge, from the Corporate Secretary of our general partner.
Summary Compensation Table
The following table sets forth certain information with respect to Westmoreland Coal Company's compensation of
the named executive officers, consisting of our principal executive officer, our former principal executive officer during fiscal
year 2015, and our two other most highly compensated executive officers, as required of smaller reporting companies. The
table summarizes the compensation attributable to services performed for us by the named executive officers during fiscal
year 2015, but determined and paid by Westmoreland Coal Company. Information for 2014 included for Mr. Honish due to
his status as a named executive officer in 2014, during which time his compensation was determined by our compensation
committee. Mr. Honish’s 2015 compensation was determined pursuant to an employment agreement that expired on
December 31, 2015. Aside from Mr. Honish, the amounts reported in the table below are based on an estimate of the portion
of each named executive officer’s total compensation paid by Westmoreland Coal Company and reimbursed by us pursuant to
the terms of the Services Agreement for services provided to the partnership. Further information regarding the compensation
of Mr. Paprzycki and Mr. Alessi, the named executive officers who were also named executive officers of Westmoreland Coal
Company for all or a portion of 2015, will be set out in the WCC Proxy Statement. Compensation amounts set forth in the
WCC Proxy Statement will include all compensation paid by Westmoreland Coal Company, including the amounts shown in
the table below, which are attributable to services performed for us.

Name and Principal
Position(1)

Fiscal
Year

Salary ($)

Bonus ($)(2)

Stock
Awards
($)(3)

Option
Awards(4)

Non-equity
Incentive
Plan
Compensati
on(2)

Change in
Pension
Value(5)

All Other
Compensati
on
($)(6)

Total ($)

Kevin A. Paprzycki
President and Chief
Executive Officer

2015

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

Michael J. Meyer
Chief Accounting
Officer and Corporate
Controller

2015

147,266

—

26,925

—

30,091

—

9,717

213,999

2015

220,500

220,500

—

—

—

5,948

446,948

2014

221,146

426,650

—

—

—

—

283

648,079

2015

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

Gregory J. Honish
Senior Vice President,
Operations
Keith E. Alessi
Former President and
Chief Executive Officer
(1)

Messrs. Paprzycki and Alessi split their professional time in 2015 between WCC and us, and all compensation paid to them is determined by
WCC. In accordance with SEC rules, a portion of the total compensation paid by WCC to these named executive officers is allocated to the
services performed for us, based on an estimate of the portion of each named executive officer's compensation which was reimbursed by us to
WCC pursuant to the terms of the Services Agreement. For 2015, the applicable allocation for Mr. Paprzycki was 30% and for Mr. Alessi was
10%. The total compensation paid by WCC to Messrs. Paprzycki and Alessi in 2015, as well as a discussion of how their compensation was
determined, will be disclosed in the WCC Proxy Statement. Mr. Meyer is also an employee of WCC and all of the compensation paid to him is
determined by WCC. However, under the Services Agreement, since Mr. Meyer devoted substantially all of his professional time in 2015
providing services to the partnership, all of his costs of employment have been passed on to us. Mr. Honish’s 2015 compensation was determined
pursuant to an employment agreement that expired on December 31, 2015. Effective as of January 1, 2016 Mr. Honish is an employee of WCC.
Mr. Alessi retired from his position as our general partner’s President and Chief Executive Officer on December 1, 2015, and was replaced by Mr.
Paprzycki, who was formerly our general partner’s Chief Financial Officer.

(2)

Mr. Honish's employment agreement for 2015 included a cash bonus of 100% of salary, which was awarded to him for his performance in 2015.
Mr. Meyer is part of WCC's annual incentive plan for non-equity incentive compensation ("AIP"), which was determined solely by WCC,
whereby based on predetermined goals Mr. Meyer was awarded an AIP bonus of $30,091.
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(3)

No Partnership equity was awarded to the named executive officers for 2015. Mr. Meyer's 2015 stock grant was determined solely by WCC and
granted solely in WCC equity. Mr. Meyer's grants consisted of 507 time-based restricted stock units representing common stock ("RSU") vesting
annually in thirds and 505 performance-based RSUs that vest in their entirety after three years upon attainment of previously determined
performance goals. The amount shown for Mr. Meyer represents the grant date fair value of the awards computed in accordance with FASB ASC
Topic 718. Mr. Honish did not receive equity compensation as part of his compensation package in 2015. Please refer to the "Grants of PlanBased Awards" and "Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End" tables in the WCC Proxy Statement for further details regarding equity held
by Messrs. Paprzycki and Alessi. The following table describes Mr. Meyer's long-term incentive awards wholly determined by WCC and granted
in WCC RSUs during 2015.

Name
Michael Meyer

Percentage of Base Salary

Cash Value of WCC TimeBased RSUs

Cash Value of WCC
Performance-Based RSUs

Total Cash Value of WCC
RSUs

20%

$13,436

$13,489

$26,925

(4)

No Partnership stock options were awarded during 2015 and each of Messrs. Meyer and Honish have no outstanding options in Partnership or
WCC equity. For Messrs. Paprzycki and Alessi, the number and value of outstanding WCC equity awards (including unexercised stock options)
at year-end will be reported in the WCC Proxy Statement.

(5)

Neither the Partnership nor WCC actively maintains a pension plan, nor a non-qualified deferred compensation plan, for executives. Effective
July 1, 2009, WCC froze its pension plan for non-union employees, including named executive officers, resulting in no future benefits accruing
under these plans. Please refer to the "Pension Benefits Upon Retirement, Termination, Disability or Death" table in the WCC Proxy Statement
for further details on current pension balances for Messrs. Paprzycki and Alessi.

(6)

For named executive officers, the 2015 amounts shown include a holiday-related allowance paid in 2015 to each of Messrs. Meyer and Honish,
and an automobile allowance paid to Mr. Honish for automobile wear due to work-related use. The amount shown for Mr. Meyer includes a
matching contribution by WCC under its 401(k) plan, which matches 6% of the executives salary in cash contributions up to the maximum
amount allowed under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and is more thoroughly described in the WCC Proxy Statement.

Long-Term Incentive Plan
Our LTIP was originally adopted in 2007 in connection with our formation and subsequently amended and restated
in July 2010 in connection with our initial public offering. The LTIP allows for grants of (1) restricted units, (2) unit
appreciation rights, referred to as UARs, (3) unit options, referred to as Options, (4) phantom units, (5) unit awards, (6)
substitute awards, (7) other Unit-based awards, (8) cash awards, (9) performance awards and (10) distribution equivalent
rights, referred to as DERs ((1)-(9) collectively, "Awards"). The LTIP provides for flexibility in determining the
compensatory arrangements for employees, officers, consultants, and directors of our general partner and any of its affiliates
providing services to us. However, the only equity issued under the LTIP as of December 31, 2015 were annual grants of
phantom units to our non-employee directors of our general partner. Please see the section entitled “Director Compensation”
for additional information regarding the compensation program for the non-employee directors of our general partner.
The LTIP is administered by the Board, or an alternative committee appointed by the Board, which we refer to
together as the “committee” for purposes of this summary. The committee has the power to determine to whom and when
Awards will be granted, determine the amount of Awards (measured in cash or in shares of our common units), proscribe and
interpret the terms and provisions of each Award agreement (the terms of which may vary), accelerate the vesting provisions
associated with an Award, delegate duties under the LTIP and execute all other responsibilities permitted or required under
the LTIP. The maximum aggregate number of common units that may be issued pursuant to the LTIP is 233,840 common
units, subject to adjustment due to recapitalization or reorganization, or related to forfeitures or the expiration of Awards, in
each case as provided under the LTIP. During 2015, the Board appointed the compensation committee, which was dissolved
in 2016, to administer the LTIP.
If a common unit subject to any Award is not issued or transferred, or ceases to be issuable or transferable for any reason,
including (but not exclusively) because units are withheld or surrendered in payment of taxes or any exercise or purchase price
relating to an Award or because an Award is forfeited, terminated, expires unexercised, is settled in cash in lieu of common units,
or is otherwise terminated without a delivery of units, those common units will again be available for issue, transfer, or exercise
pursuant to Awards under the LTIP, to the extent allowable by law. Common units to be delivered pursuant to awards under our
LTIP may be common units acquired by our general partner in the open market, from any other person, directly from us, or any
combination of the foregoing.
WCC Compensatory Plans, Agreements, and Programs
WCC does not maintain any tax-qualified defined benefit pension plan or supplemental executive retirement plan.
However, our named executive officers have the opportunity to participate in the Westmoreland Coal Company and
Subsidiaries Employees’ Savings Plan (the “WCC 401(k) Plan”), a tax qualified defined contribution plan designed primarily
to help participating employees accumulate funds for retirement. Our named executive officers may make elective
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contributions, and WCC makes matching contributions equal to 100 percent of employee contributions up to 6 percent of
eligible compensation. All named executive officers are eligible to receive these contributions.

Retirement Benefits.
WCC does not maintain any tax-qualified defined benefit pension plan, or supplemental executive retirement plan.
However, our named executive officers have the opportunity to participate in the following WCC 401(k) plan. WCC offers all
of its employees, including the named executive officers, the opportunity to participate in the Westmoreland Coal Company and
Subsidiaries Employees’ Savings Plan, which is a tax qualified defined contribution plan with 401(k) designed primarily to help
participating employees accumulate funds for retirement. Our named executive officers may make elective contributions, and
WCC makes company contributions consisting of a matching contribution equal to 100 percent of employee contributions up
to 6 percent of eligible compensation. All named executive officers are eligible to receive these contributions.
Severance and Change in Control Benefits
Our named executive officers participate in WCC's severance policy. The severance policy covers virtually all of
WCC's employees, although the amount of the severance benefit depends upon employee tier and their years of service. The
highest tier, which includes Messrs. Honish and Paprzycki, provides for severance compensation equal to 12 months of
monthly base pay, 9 months of outplacement assistance and 12 months of health benefit continuation. One tier below, which
includes Mr. Meyer, provides for severance compensation equal to 9 months of monthly base pay, 6 months of outplacement
assistance and 9 months of health benefit continuation. Potential severance payments under WCC's severance policy would
be paid by WCC. Severance benefits are payable under the policy only in the following circumstances: involuntary
termination that is not for cause; termination due to sale of a facility, division or business segment; or relocation of more than
50 miles that the employee declines. Following the expiration of Mr. Honish's employment agreement on December 31,
2015, we have no executives working under employment contracts. In addition, WCC's AIP provides that program
participants are only entitled to payment of incentive payouts if they are employed on the date of payment, which typically
occurs in April of the following year, although this requirement is deemed fulfilled upon death or disability. All incentive
payouts are forfeited in the event a named executive officer leaves employment for any reason, unless expressly agreed to by
WCC's compensation and benefits committee. For further discussion on potential payments owed to Mr. Paprzycki upon
separation from WCC, please see the "Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Control" section of the WCC
Proxy Statement.
Other WCC Benefits.
Our named executive officers participate in the same basic benefits package and on the same terms as other eligible
WCC employees. The benefits package includes the WCC 401(k) Plan described above, as well as medical and dental benefits,
disability benefits, insurance (life, travel and accident), death benefits and vacations and holidays. WCC also provides executive
physicals and additional long-term disability benefits to certain named executive officers.
For additional detailed information regarding the compensatory plans, agreements and programs of WCC in which our
named executive officers participate, we encourage you to read WCC Proxy Statement.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation
Robert T. Clutterbuck, Jennifer S. Grafton and Kevin A. Paprzycki served as the members of the Compensation
Committee through December 31, 2015. Mr. Clutterbuck served as the chairman of the Compensation Committee. The
Board of Directors of our general partner dissolved the Compensation Committee on February 24, 2016, as all of the
Partnership's executives are employed by WCC and all executive compensation decisions are made by the board of WCC.
Compensation Policies and Practices as They Relate to Risk Management
We do not have any employees. We are managed and operated by the directors and officers of our general partner
and employees of WCC perform services on our behalf. We do not have any compensation policies or practices that need to
be assessed or evaluated for the effect on our operations. For an analysis of any risks arising from WCC's compensation
policies or practices, please read the WCC Proxy Statement.
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Board Report on Compensation
We have reviewed and discussed with management certain compensation discussion and analysis provisions to be
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015 to be filed pursuant to Section 13(a) of
the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, or this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Based on that review and discussion, we
recommend to the Board that the compensation discussion and analysis provisions be included in this Annual Report on Form
10-K.
Compensation of Directors
Our general partner’s non-employee directors were compensated for their service as directors under our general
partner’s Non-Employee Director Compensation Plan, which was terminated effective January 1, 2015. The board of
directors adopted a new Outside Director Compensation Plan at the recommendation of the Compensation Committee on
February 18, 2015, to be effective as of January 1, 2015. Our non-employee directors for purposes of the plan were directors
that (i) were not an officer or employee of our general partner or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates, (ii) were not affiliated
with or related to any party that receives compensation from our general partner or any of its subsidiaries and affiliates, and
(iii) had not entered into an arrangement with our general partner or any of its subsidiaries and affiliates to receive
compensation from any such entity other than in respect of his services as a member of the board of directors. Our Outside
Director Compensation Plan is designed to attract experienced and highly qualified individuals. The plan combines cash
payments appropriate for their commitment and contributions to us and our unitholders, and equity awards to align the
interests of the outside directors and unitholders. Each outside director covered by the plan received an annual compensation
package consisting of the following:
• a cash retainer of $60,000;
• an annual unit grant having a value of $50,000; and
• an Audit Committee chair retainer of $10,000 and an Audit Committee member retainer of $5,000.
In addition, in 2015 our general partner’s outside directors were reimbursed for their travel and direct costs
associated with membership on the Board. The Board approved the same director compensation package for fiscal year 2016
at a Board meeting in early 2016.
Director Compensation Table for 2015
The following table sets forth the compensation paid to our non-employee directors for the year ended December 31,
2015, as described above. Each of our non-employee directors were granted phantom unit equity awards on March 2, 2015.

Fees ($)(1)
65,000
$
65,000
65,000
75,000
60,000

Name
Robert T. Clutterbuck
Keith D. Horton
Kurt D. Kost
Gerald A. Tywoniuk
Charles C. Ungurean
(1)
(2)

Unit Awards
($)(2)
50,000
$
50,000
50,000
50,000
50,000

$

Total ($)
115,000
115,000
115,000
125,000
110,000

The amounts in this column represent the fees paid to the directors in 2015. All of the fees were paid in cash.
The amounts in this column represent the value of unit awards made to directors under our LTIP in 2015. For each of the directors, 4,386 units
were granted on March 2, 2015, and vested on March 2, 2016, and the units' market value is based on the average closing price of $11.40 per unit
at the grant date.
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Item 12.

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Unitholder Matters

The following table sets forth certain information regarding the beneficial ownership of units as of March 9, 2016
(the “Ownership Reference Date”) by:
• each person who is known to us to beneficially own 5% or more of such units to be outstanding;
• our general partner;
• each of the directors and named executive officers of our general partner; and
• all of the directors and executive officers of our general partner as a group.
All information with respect to beneficial ownership has been furnished by the respective directors, officers or 5% or
more unitholders as the case may be. Our general partner is owned by WCC.
The amounts and percentage of units beneficially owned are reported on the basis of regulations of the SEC
governing the determination of beneficial ownership of securities. Under the rules of the SEC, a person is deemed to be a
“beneficial owner” of a security if that person has or shares “voting power,” which includes the power to vote or to direct the
voting of such security, or “investment power,” which includes the power to dispose of or to direct the disposition of such
security. In computing the number of common units beneficially owned by a person and the percentage ownership of that
person, common units subject to options, warrants, convertible security or right, held by that person that are currently
exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of the Ownership Reference Date, if any, are deemed outstanding, but are not
deemed outstanding for computing the percentage ownership of any other person. Except as indicated by footnote, the
persons named in the table below have sole voting and investment power with respect to all units shown as beneficially
owned by them, subject to community property laws where applicable.
The percentage of units beneficially owned is based on a total of 5,733,560 common units and 15,656,551 Series A
convertible units outstanding as of the Ownership Reference Date.
Common
Units
Beneficially
Owned
Name of Beneficial Owner
Westmoreland Coal Company(1)(2)
Kevin A. Paprzycki(1)
Jennifer S. Grafton(1)
Jason W. Veenstra(1)
Robert T. Clutterbuck(3)
Keith D. Horton(4)
Kurt D. Kost(1)
Gerald A. Tywoniuk(5)
Charles C. Ungurean(6)
Gregory J. Honish(1)
Michael J. Meyer(1)
Keith E. Alessi(1)
All directors and executive
officers as a group (consisting of
11 persons)

Percentage of
Common
Units
Beneficially
Owned

Series A
Convertible
Units
Beneficially
Owned

Percentage of
Series A
Convertible
Units
Beneficially
Owned
100.0%
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

Percent of Total
Common Units
and Series A
Convertible
Units

4,512,500
—
—
—
36,970
4,386
4,386
13,526
67,673
14,962
1,816

78.9%
—%
—%
—%
*
*
*
*
*
*
*

15,656,551
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

94.3%
—%
—%
—%
*
*
*
*
*
*
*

—

—%

—

—

—%

143,719

2.5%

—

—

*

*An asterisk indicates that the person or entity owns less than one percent.
(1)
(2)

The address for this person or entity is 9450 South Maroon Circle, Suite 200, Englewood, Colorado 80112.
WCC is the beneficial owner of 35,291 GP unit limited partner interests through its control of our general partner, which we do not include in the
calculation of WCC's common unit beneficial ownership, and 55,519 limited partner interests through its ownership of certain common unit
warrant rights. Series A Convertible units are convertible to common units on a one-for-one basis at the earlier of Westmoreland Resource
Partners, LP declaring a dividend of $0.22 per unit or a change of control.
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(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

All of these common units are owned by a trust established and trusteed by Mr. Clutterbuck. Mr. Clutterbuck disclaims beneficial ownership of
the units held by such trust, except to the extent of any pecuniary interest therein.The address for this person or entity is 9450 South Maroon
Circle, Suite 200, Englewood, Colorado 80112.
All of these common units are owned by a trust established and trusteed by Mr. Horton and his wife. Mr. Horton disclaims beneficial ownership
of the units held by such trust, except to the extent of any pecuniary interest therein. The address for this person or entity is 9450 South Maroon
Circle, Suite 200, Englewood, Colorado 80112.
All of these common units are owned by a trust established and trusteed by Mr. Tywoniuk. Mr. Tywoniuk disclaims beneficial ownership of the
units held by such trust, except to the extent of any pecuniary interest therein. The address for this person or entity is 9540 South Maroon Circle,
Suite 200, Englewood, Colorado 80112.
The address for this person or entity is 9450 South Maroon Circle, Suite 200, Englewood, Colorado 80112. A total of 30,074 of these common
units are owned by C&T Coal, Inc. Mr. Ungurean, as a shareholder of C&T Coal, Inc., shares voting and investment power with respect to the
common units owned by C&T Coal, Inc. Mr. Ungurean disclaims beneficial ownership of the units, except to the extent of any pecuniary interest
therein.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans
The following table provides information concerning common units that may be issued under our LTIP, originally
adopted in connection with the Partnership's initial public offering and amended on or about February 27, 2014, as the result
of a Schedule 14C filed with the SEC February 4, 2014. Our LTIP allows for awards of options, phantom units, restricted
units, unit awards, other unit awards and unit appreciation rights. It currently permits the grant of awards covering an
aggregate of 233,840 units. Our LTIP is administered by the Board of our general partner.
The Board of our general partner in its discretion may terminate, suspend or discontinue our LTIP at any time with
respect to any award that has not yet been granted. The Board of our general partner also has the right to alter or amend our
LTIP or any part of our LTIP from time to time, including increasing the number of units that may be granted subject to
unitholder approval as required by the exchange upon which the common units are listed at that time. However, no change in
any outstanding grant may be made that would materially impair the rights of the participant without the consent of the
participant.
The following table summarizes the number of securities that remained available for future issuance under our LTIP
as of December 31, 2015.

Plan Category

Number of
Securities to be
Issued Upon
Exercise of
Outstanding
Options, Warrants
and Rights

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price of
Outstanding
Options, Warrants
and Rights

(a)

(b)

(1)

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders
Total
(1)

(2)

—
—
—

$
$

—
—
—

Number of
Securities That
Remained Available
for Future Issuance
Under Equity
Compensation
Plans (Excluding
Securities Reflected
in Column(a))

(c)
67,140
—
67,140

(2)

(2)

Our LTIP was approved by our partners (general and limited) prior to our initial public offering, and amended in February of 2014. As of
December 31, 2015, our LTIP permitted the grant of awards covering an aggregate of 233,840 units, inclusive of prior award grants, which grants
did not require approval by our limited partners.
The number of remaining available units for award grants includes the units that would be issuable upon vesting of a total of 63,780 outstanding
phantom units.
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Item 13.

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

At March 9, 2016, Westmoreland Coal Company owns 100% of our GP and, as of the date of this filing, 93.9% of
our limited partner interests on a fully diluted basis. As such, Westmoreland Coal Company also appoints all of the directors
of our general partner.
Distributions and Payments to Our General Partner and Its Affiliates
The following table summarizes the distributions and payments to be made by us to our general partner and its
affiliates in connection with our ongoing operations and liquidation. These distributions and payments were determined by
and among affiliated entities, and, consequently, are not the result of arm’s-length negotiations.
Ongoing Operations Stage
Distributions of available
We will make cash distributions 99.8% to the unitholders, including WCC as an affiliate of our
cash to our general partner general partner as the holder of an aggregate of 4,512,500 common units, 15,251,989 Series A
and its affiliates
units and 0.2% to our general partner at December 31, 2015. Our Series A units, created in 2015,
allow our Board to pay distributions on these units in the form of Series A PIK units at its
discretion. If distributions exceed the minimum quarterly distribution and the first target
distribution level, our general partner will be entitled to increasing percentages of the
distributions, up to 48.0% of the distributions above the highest target distribution level.
Assuming we have sufficient available cash to pay the full minimum quarterly distribution on all
of our outstanding units for four quarters, as of December 31, 2015, our general partner and its
affiliate WCC would receive an annual distribution of approximately $18,817 on the 0.2%
general partner interest and approximately $10,568,028 on the common units and Series A units,
if such Series A unit distributions are paid in cash dividends.
Payments to our general
Our general partner and its affiliates will be reimbursed for expenses incurred on our behalf,
partner and its affiliates
including an annual fixed fee for executive officers and other employees devoting less than a
majority of their time to the Partnership. Our partnership agreement provides that our general
partner will determine the amount of these expenses.
Withdrawal or removal of
If our general partner withdraws or is removed, its general partner interest and its incentive
our general partner
distribution rights will either be sold to the new general partner for cash or converted into
common units, in each case for an amount equal to the fair value of those interests.
Liquidation Stage
Liquidation

Upon our liquidation, the partners, including our general partner, will be entitled to receive
liquidating distributions according to their particular capital account balances.

Relationship with Westmoreland Coal Company
WCC owns 100.0% of our sole general partner, Westmoreland Resources GP, LLC, and appoints the members of our
Board of Directors and Audit and Conflicts Committees. In addition to the 0.2% general partner interest in us, our general
partner owns the incentive distribution rights, which entitle the holder to increasing percentages, up to a maximum of 48.0%
of the cash we distribute in excess of $0.2000 per quarter. As of the time of this filing, WCC also owns 93.9% of our
outstanding beneficial equity interests as of the date of this filing.
Services Agreement
Effective January 1, 2015, we entered into an administrative and operational services agreement ("Services
Agreement") with our general partner. We amended the Services Agreement on October 23, 2015, to modify the amount of
the fixed annual fee that we pays our general partner for the services provided pursuant to the Services Agreement to reflect
increased costs associated with the Kemmerer Drop. Under the Services Agreement, our general partner provides services to
us and is reimbursed for related costs incurred on our behalf. The services that our general partner provides include, among
other things, operating services, engineering services and general and administrative services, including but not limited to
legal, accounting, treasury, insurance administration and claims processing, risk management, health, safety and
environmental, information technology, human resources, credit, payroll, internal audit, taxes and engineering services.
Where costs are specifically incurred on behalf of one of our affiliates, the costs are billed directly to us by WCC. Costs may
also be allocated to us in a variety of methods when a cost or service applies equally to all employees. Additionally, the
Services Agreement provides for an annual fixed fee to reimburse our general partner for executive officers and other
employees who devote less than a majority of their time to us. During 2015, we paid our general partner approximately
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$57.3 million for services, primarily related to payroll, performed under the Services Agreement. Any party may terminate
the Services Agreement by providing at least 30 days’ written notice to the other parties.
Procedures for Review, Approval and Ratification of Related Person Transactions
The board of directors of our general partner has adopted a code of business conduct and ethics that provides that the
board of directors of our general partner or its authorized committee will periodically review all related person transactions
that are required to be disclosed under SEC rules and, when appropriate, initially authorize or ratify all such transactions. In
the event that the board of directors of our general partner or its authorized committee considers ratification of a related
person transaction and determines not to so ratify, the code of business conduct and ethics provides that our management will
make all reasonable efforts to cancel or annul the transaction.
The code of business conduct and ethics provides that, in determining whether or not to recommend the initial
approval or ratification of a related person transaction, the board of directors of our general partner or its authorized
committee should consider all of the relevant facts and circumstances available, including (if applicable) but not limited to:
(i) whether there is an appropriate business justification for the transaction; (ii) the benefits that accrue to us as a result of the
transaction; (iii) the terms available to unrelated third parties entering into similar transactions; (iv) the impact of the
transaction on a director’s independence (in the event the related person is a director, an immediate family member of a
director or an entity in which a director or an immediately family member of a director is a partner, shareholder, member or
executive officer); (v) the availability of other sources for comparable products or services; (vi) whether it is a single
transaction or a series of ongoing, related transactions; and (vii) whether entering into the transaction would be consistent
with the code of business conduct and ethics. Additionally, to further structure and facilitate such transactions, the Board of
our general partner adopted a related party transactions policy that allows for standing pre-approval of certain transactions
and approval by our independent audit committee chairman for related party transactions within certain parameters.
The code of business conduct and ethics described above was reaffirmed and adopted on October 20, 2015. Copies
of the code of business conduct and ethics, and our related party transactions policy, can be found at
www.westmorelandmlp.com in the Investor Relations/Corporate Governance section. Additionally a unitholder may make
such a request in writing by mailing such request to Investor Relations, Westmoreland Resource Partners, LP, 9540 South
Maroon Circle, Suite 200, Englewood, CO 80112, or by emailing such request to Investor Relations at
ir@westmoreland.com.
Further information required for this item is provided in “Item 1. Business - Overview,” “Item 10. Directors,
Executive Officers and Corporate Governance” and Note 24: Related Party Transactions included in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements included in “Item 8 - Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”
Director Independence
Our disclosures in Item 10. “Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance” are incorporated herein by
reference.
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Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services
The following table sets forth fees and out-of-pocket expenses billed by our principal accountant for the audit of our annual
financial statements and other services rendered for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014:
For the Year Ended December 31,
2015
2014

Name

(in thousands)

Audit Fees(1)(2)
Audit-Related Fees
Tax Fees
All Other Fees
(1)

(2)

$

1,140
—
—
—

$

485
—
—
—

Includes fees and expenses for audits of annual financial statements of our subsidiaries, reviews of the related quarterly financial statements,
services related to testing our internal controls over financial reporting and services that are normally provided by the independent accountants in
connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements, including reviews of documents filed with the SEC.
On March 10, 2015 we approved the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as the Partnership’s independent registered public accounting firm for the
fiscal year ending December 31, 2015, which effectively dismissed Grant Thornton LLP as the Partnership’s independent registered public
accounting firm as of March 10, 2015. Accordingly, fees for the 2014 annual audit of our financial statements reference those fees billed to us by
Grant Thornton LLP, and fees for the 2015 annual audit of our financial statements reference those fees billed to us by Ernst & Young LLP, which
also include a reaudit of 2014 by Ernst & Young LLP as a result of the Kemmerer Drop being categorized as a business combination under common
control, for more information please see Note 3: Acquisition & Pushdown Accounting included in the notes to the consolidated financial statements
included in “Item 8 - Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”

Pursuant to the charter of the Audit Committee, the Audit Committee is responsible for the oversight of our
accounting, reporting and financial practices. The Audit Committee is responsible for the appointment, compensation,
retention and oversight of the work of our external auditors; the preapproval of all audit and non-audit services to be
provided, consistent with all applicable laws, to us by our external auditors; and the establishment of the fees and other
compensation to be paid to our external auditors. The Audit Committee also oversees and directs our internal auditing
program and reviews our internal controls.
The Audit Committee has adopted a policy for the preapproval of audit and permitted non-audit services provided by
our principal independent accountants. The policy requires that all services provided by Ernst & Young LLP, including audit
services, audit-related services, and other services, must be preapproved by the Audit Committee.
The Audit Committee reviews the external auditors’ proposed scope and approach as well as the performance of the
external auditors. It also has direct responsibility for resolution of and sole authority to resolve any disagreements between
our management and our external auditors regarding financial reporting, regularly reviews with the external auditors any
problems or difficulties the auditors encounter in the course of their audit work, and, at least annually, uses its reasonable
efforts to obtain and review a report from the external auditors addressing the following (among other items):
•
•
•
•
•

the external auditors’ internal quality-control procedures;
any material issues raised by the most recent internal quality-control review, or peer review, of the external
auditors;
the independence of the external auditors;
the aggregate fees billed by the external auditors for each of the previous two fiscal years; and
the rotation of the external auditors’ lead partner.
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PART IV

Item 15.

Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a)1. Financial Statements. See “Index to Financial Statements” on page F-1.
(a)2. Financial Statement Schedules. Other schedules are omitted because they are not required or applicable, or the
required information is included in our consolidated financial statements or related notes.
(a)3. Exhibits. See “Index to Exhibits.”
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
Board of Directors and Unitholders of
Westmoreland Resource Partners, LP
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Westmoreland Resource Partners, LP (the
“Partnership”) as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 (Successor), and the related consolidated statements of operations,
comprehensive loss, partners’ capital (deficit), and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2015 and the period of
December 31, 2014 (Successor) and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, partners’ capital
(deficit), and cash flows of Oxford Resource Partners, LP for the period from January 1, 2014 through December 31, 2014
(Predecessor). These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Partnership's management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement. We were not engaged to perform an audit of the
Partnership’s internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial
reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Partnership’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall consolidated financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of Westmoreland Resource Partners, LP as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 (Successor), and the results of
its operations and its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2015 and the period of December 31, 2014 (Successor), and
the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, partners’ capital (deficit), and cash flows of Oxford
Resource Partners, LP for the period from January 1, 2014 through December 31, 2014 (Predecessor), in conformity with
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Columbus, Ohio
March 11, 2016
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
Board of Directors and Unitholders of
Westmoreland Resource Partners, LP
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Oxford Resource Partners, LP (Predecessor) (a
Delaware limited partnership) and subsidiaries (the “Partnership”) as of December 31, 2013 (not presented herein), and the
related consolidated statement of operations, comprehensive loss, partners’ deficit and cash flows for the year then ended.
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Partnership’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. We were not engaged to perform an audit of the Partnership’s internal
control over financial reporting. Our audit included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for
designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Partnership’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements,
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Oxford Resource Partners, LP (Predecessor) and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2013 and the results of
their operations and their cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2013, in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.
/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP
Cleveland, Ohio
March 4, 2014
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WESTMORELAND RESOURCE PARTNERS, LP AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except for unit data)
Westmoreland Resource
Partners, LP
(Successor)
December 31,
December 31,
2015
2014
Assets
Current assets:
Cash
Receivables:
Trade
Other

$

Inventories
Deferred income taxes
Other current assets
Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment:
Land and mineral rights
Plant and equipment
Less accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization
Net property, plant and equipment
Advanced coal royalties
Restricted investments and bond collateral
Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of $2.1 and $0 million in
December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively
Deferred income taxes, less current portion
Deposits and other assets
$

Total Assets

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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3,710

$

6,004

30,967
1,585
32,552
23,630

40,282
215
40,497
24,485

—
4,650
64,542

903
3,673
75,562

104,600
258,877
363,477
(85,836)
277,641
10,082
34,526

94,646
249,884
344,530
(34,773)
309,757
9,153
34,382

28,933
—
9,566
425,290

31,000
15,477
8,514
483,845

$

WESTMORELAND RESOURCE PARTNERS, LP AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except unit data)
Westmoreland Resource
Partners, LP
(Successor)
December 31,
December 31,
2015
2014
Liabilities and Partners' Capital (Deficit)
Current liabilities:
Current installments of long-term debt
Accounts payable and accrued expenses:
Trade
Deferred revenue
Production taxes
Accrued compensation
Postretirement medical benefits
Asset retirement obligations
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt, less current installments
Postretirement medical costs, less current portion
Pension obligation
Asset retirement obligations, less current portion
Warrants
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
Partners' capital (deficit):

$

2,563

$

23,132
—
16,586
1,295
—
14,075
2,703
60,354
306,826
—
—
42,559
646
1,751
412,136

Limited partners (5,711,630 and 5,505,087 units outstanding as of December 31,
2015 and 2014, respectively)
Series A Convertible Units (15,251,989 and zero units outstanding as of
December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively)
General partner (35,291 units outstanding as of December 31, 2015 and 2014,
respectively)
Net Investment from contribution of Westmoreland Kemmerer LLC
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income
Total Westmoreland Resource Partners, LP capital
$

Total liabilities and partners’ capital (deficit)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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2,316
30,192
2,513
18,190
1,531
436
10,441
4,007
69,626
184,350
60,245
17,762
40,104
1,981
1,790
375,858

(3,176)

39,549

(16,760)

—

33,360
—
(270)
13,154
425,290 $

33,472
33,954
1,012
107,987
483,845

WESTMORELAND RESOURCE PARTNERS, LP AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except for unit and per unit data)
Westmoreland Resource
Partners, LP
(Successor)(1)
For the Year
Ended
December 31,
2015
Revenues:
Coal revenues
$
Non-coal revenues
Total Revenues
Costs and expenses:
Cost of coal revenues
Cost of non-coal revenues
Depreciation, depletion and amortization
Selling and administrative
Loss (gain) on sales of assets
Restructuring and impairment charges
Total cost and expenses
Operating (loss) income
Other (expense) income:
Interest expense
Interest income
(Loss) gain on debt extinguishment
Other income
Change in fair value of warrants
Total other expenses
Loss before income taxes
Income tax expense
Net loss
Less net loss (income) attributable to noncontrolling interest
Net loss attributable to WMLP unitholders
Less net income (loss) allocated to general partner
Net loss allocated to limited partners
$
Net loss per limited partner common unit:
Basic
Diluted

$
$

Weighted average number of limited partner common units
outstanding:
Basic
Diluted
Distributions paid per unit:
Limited partners:
Common
Series A Convertible
General partner
(1)

375,090
9,610
384,700

Oxford Resource Partners, LP
(Predecessor)

Period of
December 31,
2014
$

—
—
—

Period from
January 1
through
December 31,

2014
$

295,662
26,601
322,263

For the Year
Ended
December 31,
2013
$

336,201
10,566
346,767

306,962
3,779
54,503
17,122
6,890
656
389,912
(5,212)

—
—
—
—
—
2,783
2,783
(2,783)

258,575
1,700
39,315
20,510
(218)
75
319,957
2,306

290,427
1,619
48,081
17,297
(6,488)
1,761
352,697
(5,930)

(30,794)
890
—
250
1,335
(28,319)
(33,531)
(157)
(33,688)
—
(33,688)
6,307
(39,995) $

—
—
(1,623)
—
—
(1,623)
(4,406)
—
(4,406)
—
(4,406)
(28)
(4,378)

$

(27,787)
4
500
—
822
(26,461)
(24,155)
—
(24,155)
1,270
(22,885)
(429)
(22,456) $

(20,246)
4
(808)
—
3,280
(17,770)
(23,700)
—
(23,700)
(1,225)
(24,925)
(497)
(24,428)

(4.62) $
(4.62) $

(0.72)
(0.72)

$
$

(10.92) $
(10.92) $

(12.84)
(12.84)

5,878,187
5,878,187

$
$
$

0.60
0.20
0.60

5,671,644
5,671,644

$
$
$

—
—
—

2,063,983
2,063,983

$
$
$

See Note 3.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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—
—
—

1,898,040
1,898,040

$
$
$

—
—
—

WESTMORELAND RESOURCE PARTNERS, LP AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(in thousands, except for unit and per unit data)
Westmoreland Resource
Partners, LP
(Successor)
For the Year
Ended
December 31,
2015

Net loss
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Unrealized and realized gains and losses on
available-for-sale securities
Impact of Kemmerer Drop (See Note 23)
Other comprehensive loss
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to
Westmoreland Resource Partners, LP

(33,688)

(930)
660
(270)
(33,958)

Period of
December 31,
2014

(4,406)

Oxford Resource Partners, LP
(Predecessor)
Period from
For the Year
January 1,
Ended
through
December 31, December 31,
2014
2013

(24,155)

—
—
—
(4,406)

—
—
—
(24,155)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

F- 7

(23,700)

—
—
—
(23,700)

WESTMORELAND RESOURCE PARTNERS, LP AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PARTNERS’ CAPITAL (DEFICIT)
(in thousands, except for unit data)
Limited Partners
Common
Predecessor

Units

Balance at December 31, 2012

874,234

Net (loss) income
Equity-based compensation
Issuance of units to LTIP participants
Balance at December 31, 2013

Capital

Deficit

Capital
(Deficit)

Units

Net
Investment

$ (84,337)

1,730,932

(2,010) $

—

—

(12,054)

—

(24,428)

—

(497)

—

—

1,225

—

1,441

—

—

—

—

—

1,441

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

9,657

(66)

—

—

—

—

—

(66)

82,931

—

—

856,698

(96,391)

1,740,589

(13,460)

35,291

(2,507)

—

—

4,969

(10,998)

(12,053)

—

—

—

(10,403)

—

(22,456)

—

(429)

—

—

(1,270)

(24,155)

302

—

—

—

261

—

563

—

11

—

—

(3,699)

(3,125)

4,559

—

—

—

—

—

4,559

—

—

—

—

—

—

883,891

Redemption of noncontrolling interest

—

Equity-based compensation
108,696
992,587

—

—

—

74,966

(773)

—

—

856,698

—

(64,191)

—

—

—

106,533

(106,533)

108,696

(773)

—

1,849,285

(31,567)

35,291

$

$

—

$

3,744

Total
Partners'
Capital
(Deficit)

856,698

$

35,291

(Deficit)
Capital

Noncontrolling
Interest

—

$

9,593

Units

Accumulated
other
comprehensive
income (loss)

—

(66)

—

Units

General Partner

—

—

Issuance of units to LTIP participants

Deficit

Total

(12,374)

9,657

$ 93,930

Units

Liquidation

—

Net loss

Predecessor balance at December 31, 2014

Series A Convertible

$

11,327
(23,700)
1,441

4,559

—

—

—

(773)

(2,925)

—

—

—

(34,492)

36,425

—

—

—

78,767

Successor
Purchase accounting adjustment
Successor net loss
Contribution of Kemmerer Fee Coal
Contribution of Westmoreland Kemmerer LLC

—
—
4,512,500

—

(4,378)

—

—

—

—

—

33,152

—

—

—

—

4,512,500

42,342

—

(4,378)

—

(28)

—

—

—

(4,406)

33,152

—

—

—

—

—

33,152

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

33,954

1,012

—

34,966

5,505,087

39,549

—

—

856,698

—

6,361,785

39,549

35,291

33,472

33,954

1,012

—

107,987

Attributable to Predecessor WKL

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

6,472

—

—

6,472

Attributable to partners

—

—

Balance at December 31, 2014
Net income (loss)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

208

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

101,173

—

—

—

—

Cash paid in the acquisition of WKL

—

(114,294)

Class A convertible units issued in the acquisition of WKL

—

Transaction with Parent/affiliate

—

Net transfers to WCC
Equity-based compensation
Other comprehensive loss
Acquisition of WKL

Common unit distribution
Cash distribution to unitholders
Successor balance at December 31, 2015

206,543

(26,282)

—

(13,714)

—

(164)

—

—

(40,160)

—

—

155

(5,708)

—

—

(5,553)

—

—

—

—

66,189

—

—

66,189

—

208

—

—

231

—

—

439

—

—

—

—

—

(622)

—

(622)

—

101,173

—

625

(660)

—

—

(114,294)

—

—

—

—

—

—

15,251,989

—

—

—

15,251,989

—

—

—

(39,996)

(101,138)

—

(706)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

206,543

—

—

—

—

—

—

(3,530)

—

(3,046)

—

—

—

(6,576)

—

(22)

—

—

—

5,711,630

$ (3,176)

15,251,989

$ (16,760)

856,698

—

21,820,317

$ (19,936)

35,291

$

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$

33,360

$

—

$

(270) $

—

(115,000)
—
—
(6,598)
$

13,154

WESTMORELAND RESOURCE PARTNERS, LP AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)
Westmoreland Resource
Partners, LP

Oxford Resource Partners, LP

(Successor)

(Predecessor)

For the Year
Ended
December 31,

Period of
December 31,

Period from
January 1,
through
December 31,

2015

2014

2014

For the Year
Ended
December 31,
2013

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss

(33,688) $

$

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Depreciation, depletion and amortization

(4,406)

$

(24,155) $

(23,700)

54,503

—

39,315

48,081

5,085

—

2,337

2,293

Restructuring and impairment charges

656

2,783

75

1,761

Equity-based compensation

439

—

4,559

—

—

(232)

6,890

—

14

(372)

139

—

—

—

Non-cash interest expense

6,857

—

7,744

4,094

Amortization of deferred financing costs

2,308

—

4,099

(1,335)

—

(822)

1,623

(500)

Accretion of asset retirement obligations

Gain on sale of oil and gas rights
Loss (gain) on sales of assets
Gain on sales of investment securities

Other
Loss on extinguishment of debt

—

1,441
(6,116)

3,178
(3,352)
808

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Receivables, net

6,824

(300)

3,313

Inventories

1,545

—

(1,161)

(778)

(11,329)

(198)

(4,859)

(2,881)

(2,513)

—

(236)

—

(1,858)

1,760

(4,302)

—

(4,354)

(8,222)

2,771

—

Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Deferred revenue
Accrued compensation
Asset retirement obligations
Accrual for postretirement medical benefit
Pension obligation

(219)

Other assets and liabilities
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

—

—

—
—

(6,062)

(106)

—
—

(2,401)

(1,322)

870

(2,111)

31,994

(1,820)

24,385

9,716

Cash flows from investing activities:
Additions to property, plant and equipment
Change in restricted investments and bond collateral
Net proceeds from sales of assets
Cash from Contribution of Westmoreland Kemmerer LLC
Cash payments related to acquisitions

(20,056)

—

(15,903)

(22,332)

(207)

—

4,456

(9,590)

385

—

3,194

6,424

—

83

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

3,035

(115,000)

Insurance proceeds

—

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities

(134,878)

83

(8,253)

(22,463)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Borrowings from long-term debt, net of debt discount

120,937

175,000

Repayments of long-term debt

(10,136)

(135,822)

Borrowings on revolving lines of credit

—

Repayment on revolving lines of credit

—

Debt issuance costs and other refinancing costs

(3,613)

Redemption of noncontrolling interest

—

Distributions to partners

(6,598)

Capital contributions from partners
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
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—
(23,000)
(8,437)
—
—

—

—

100,590

7,741

(6)
(18,626)

150,000
(56,072)

22,500

53,588

(19,000)

(126,088)

(529)

(9,569)

(3,560)
—
—
(19,221)

—
—
—
11,859

WESTMORELAND RESOURCE PARTNERS, LP AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)
Westmoreland Resource
Partners, LP

Oxford Resource Partners, LP

(Successor)
For the Year
Ended
December 31,

Period of
December 31,

2015

2014

2014

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalent

(2,294)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year

(Predecessor)
Period from
January 1,
through
December 31,

6,004

6,004

For the Year
Ended
December 31,
2013

(3,089)

—

(888)

3,089

3,977

$

3,710

$

6,004

$

—

$

3,089

$

20,740

$

2,922

$

14,655

$

12,258

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest
Non-cash transactions:
Property, plant and equipment acquired with debt

—

—

35

1,000

6,822

—

5,385

8,927

Value of debt assigned to warrants

—

—

—

7,879

Market value of common units vested in LTIP

—

—

1,320

330

Contribution of Kemmerer Fee Coal

—

33,152

—

—

Fair value of Series A Units issued

115,000

—

—

—

Net Assets of August 1, 2015 Kemmerer Drop

101,138

—

—

—

Asset retirement costs capitalized in mine development

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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WESTMORELAND RESOURCE PARTNERS, LP AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(in thousands, except for unit and per unit data)

1.

ORGANIZATION AND PRESENTATION
Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts and operations of the Westmoreland
Resource Partners, LP, or the Partnership and its consolidated subsidiaries and are prepared in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“US GAAP”). Westmoreland Coal Company's ("WCC") cost
of acquiring our General Partner, Westmoreland Resources GP, LLC ("GP") has been pushed-down to establish a new
accounting basis for us beginning in the last minutes of the year ended December 31, 2014. Accordingly, the accompanying
consolidated financial statements are presented for two periods, Predecessor and Successor, which relate to the accounting
periods preceding and succeeding the completion of the transaction. The Predecessor and Successor periods have been
separated by a vertical line on the face of the consolidated financial statements to highlight the facts that the financial
information for such periods has been prepared under two different historical-cost bases of accounting.
Significant Relationships Referenced in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
•
•

“We,” “us,” “our,” “WMLP,” and the “Partnership” means the business and operations of Westmoreland
Resource Partners, LP, the parent entity, as well as its consolidated subsidiaries.
Our “GP” means Westmoreland Resources GP, LLC, the general partner of Westmoreland Resource Partners,
LP.
Acquisition of Oxford Resources GP, LLC

On December 31, 2014, pursuant to a Purchase Agreement dated October 16, 2014, WCC acquired, for $33.5
million in cash, 100% of the equity of our GP from (i) the holders of all of our GP’s outstanding Class A Units, AIM Oxford
Holdings, LLC ("AIM") and C&T Coal, Inc ("C&T"), (ii) the holders of all of our GP’s outstanding Class B Units, certain
present and former executives of our GP, and (iii) the holders of all of the outstanding warrants for our GP’s Class B Units,
the Warrantholders. At the same time, WCC also acquired, for no additional consideration, (i) 100% of the Partnership’s
outstanding subordinated units from AIM and C&T, which subordinated units were then converted to liquidation units, and
(ii) 100% of the Partnership’s outstanding warrants for subordinated units from the Warrantholders, which warrants were then
canceled by WCC.
Please refer to Note 3: Acquisition And Pushdown Accounting.
Contribution of Kemmerer Mine Fee Coal Reserves
On December 31, 2014, pursuant to a Contribution Agreement dated October 16, 2014, WCC contributed to us
100% of the membership interests in Westmoreland Kemmerer Fee Coal Holdings, LLC (“WKFCH”). WKFCH held fee
simple interests in 30.4 million tons of coal reserves and related surface lands at WCC’s Kemmerer mine in Lincoln County,
Wyoming. Such contribution was made in exchange for 4,512,500 post-reverse split common units.
In connection with this contribution, WKFCH entered into a coal mining lease with respect to these coal reserves
with a subsidiary of WCC pursuant to which we will earn a per ton royalty as these coal reserves are mined. Through the
coal leasing arrangement, the mining of the Kemmerer mine fee coal reserves will generate minimum royalty payments of
$1.0 million per quarter from the start of 2015 through December 31, 2020 and $0.5 million per quarter thereafter through
December 31, 2025.
WCC's Contribution of Westmoreland Kemmerer, LLC
On August 1, 2015, WCC, who owns and controls the GP, contributed 100% of the outstanding equity interests in
Westmoreland Kemmerer, LLC ("WKL") to the Partnership in exchange for $230 million in aggregate consideration,
composed of $115 million of cash and 15,251,989 Series A Convertible Units of the Partnership (“Series A Units”) with a
value of $115 million (the “Kemmerer Drop”). The Kemmerer Drop was accounted for as a reorganization of entities under
common control in accordance with the provisions of Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 805-50, which requires
that the transaction be presented as though it occurred at the beginning of the period, and prior years retrospectively adjusted
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(in thousands, except for unit and per unit data)
to furnish comparative information similar to the pooling method. Accordingly, our financial statements give retrospective
effect to the Kemmerer Drop for periods as of and subsequent to December 31, 2014, the earliest point of common control.
The contribution of net assets of WKL was accounted for as a transaction between entities under common control
whereby the WKL was recorded at historical book value. As such, the cash consideration paid in excess of the net assets
contributed by WCC amounted to $13.2 million. The amount of the cash purchase price in excess of WCC’s basis in the net
assets is recognized as a reduction of partners’ equity. The financial statements of WKL have been prepared from the separate
records maintained by WCC and may not necessarily be indicative of the conditions that would have existed or the results of
operations if WKL had been operated as an unaffiliated entity during the periods reported.
Immediately prior to the Kemmerer Drop and in accordance with the Amended and Restated Contribution
Agreement, dated July 31, 2015, between the Partnership and WCC (the “Contribution Agreement”) all employees of WKL
were transferred to WCC. WCC assumed all liabilities, including the pension plan assets, associated with the transferred
employees, including but not limited to all post-retirement pension, medical, other benefits and the related deferred income
tax assets and liabilities, which were not contributed as part of the transaction (the “Excluded Liabilities”).
For periods prior to August 1, 2015, WKL files consolidated federal and state income tax returns with WCC. As
WKL itself is not a taxable entity, WCC’s income tax expense for its income tax return group included on WCC’s
consolidated income tax return is allocated among the members of that group. This allocation is calculated as if each member
were a separate taxpayer. This allocation is reflected by WKL in Income tax expense with the offset in Shareholder's equity.
There is no formal tax sharing agreement with WCC.
For periods prior to August 1, 2015, WKL accounts for deferred income taxes using the asset and liability method.
Deferred income tax liabilities and assets are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been
reflected in WKL’s financial statements based on the difference between the financial statement carrying amounts and tax
bases of assets and liabilities, as well as net operating loss and tax credit carry-forwards, using enacted tax rates in effect in
the years in which the differences are expected to reverse. WKL establishes a valuation allowance against its net deferred tax
assets to the extent WKL believes that it is more likely than not (greater than 50%) that a deferred income tax asset will not
be realized.
Accounting guidance prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement
recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. Under this guidance, a company
can recognize the benefit of an income tax position only if it is more likely than not (greater than 50%) that the tax position
will be sustained upon tax examination, based solely on the technical merits of the tax position. Guidance is also provided on
derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition. WKL includes
interest and penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense.
The financial statements of the Partnership, for all periods presented, and WKL, for periods subsequent to August 1,
2015, contained herein are based on the assumption that the Partnership will continue to be treated as a partnership for U.S.
federal and state income tax purposes and therefore will not be subject to U.S. federal income taxes or state income taxes.
Our net investment column presented within the Statement of Partner’s Capital consists of the equity related
transactions of WKL for the 2015 period prior to the Kemmerer Drop and in connection with the Kemmerer Drop.
Accordingly, our consolidated financial statements include the historical results of WKL for all periods subsequent to
December 31, 2014. The amount of the purchase price in excess or in deficit of WCC’s basis in the net assets is recognized as
a reduction or an addition to limited partners’ and general partners’ capital. The financial statements of WKL have been
prepared from separate records maintained by WCC and may not necessarily be indicative of the conditions that would have
existed or the results of operations if WKL had been operated as an unaffiliated entity during the periods reported.
Please refer to Note 3: Acquisition And Pushdown Accounting.
Series A Convertible Common Limited Partnership Units
In connection with the Kemmerer Drop and the issuance of the Series A Convertible Units, the Partnership entered
into an amendment to our partnership agreement (the “Amendment”). The Amendment established the terms of the Series A
Convertible Units and any additional Series A Convertible Units that may be issued in kind as a distribution (the “Series A
PIK Units”), and provided that each Series A Convertible Unit will have the right to share in distributions from us on a pro
rata basis with the common units. All or any portion of each distribution payable in respect of the Series A Convertible Units
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(the “Series A Convertible Unit Distribution”) may, at our election, be paid in Series A PIK Units. To the extent any portion
of the Series A Convertible Unit Distribution is paid in Series A PIK Units for any quarter, the distribution to the holders of
incentive distribution rights shall be reduced by that portion of the distribution that is attributable to the payment of those
Series A PIK Units, as further described in the Amendment. The Series A Convertible Units and the Series A PIK Units will
convert into common units at the earlier of the first anniversary of the initial issuance of the Series A Convertible Units, the
date on which we first make a regular quarterly cash distribution with respect to any quarter to holders of common units in an
amount at least equal to $0.22 per common unit or upon a change of control. The Series A Convertible Units have the same
voting rights as if they were outstanding common units and will vote together with the common units as a single class. In
addition, the Series A Convertible Units are entitled to vote as a separate class on any matters that materially adversely affect
the rights or preferences of the Series A Convertible Units in relation to other classes of partnership interests or as required by
law.
Organization
Westmoreland Resource Partners, LP is a Delaware limited partnership formed in August 2007. We are a low-cost
producer and marketer of high-value thermal coal to United States (“U.S.”) utilities and industrial users, and we are the
largest producer of surface-mined coal in eastern Ohio and Lincoln County, Wyoming. We market our coal primarily to large
electric utilities with coal-fired, base-load scrubbed power plants under long-term coal sales contracts. We focus on acquiring
thermal coal reserves that we can efficiently mine with our large-scale equipment. Our reserves and operations are
strategically located to serve our primary market areas of the Midwest, northeastern U.S. and Wyoming.
We operate in a single business segment and have five operating subsidiaries, Oxford Mining Company, LLC
(“Oxford Mining”), Oxford Mining Company-Kentucky, LLC (“Oxford Mining Kentucky”), WKFCH, WKL and Harrison
Resources, LLC (“Harrison Resources”). Our operating subsidiaries are primarily in the business of utilizing surface mining
techniques to mine domestic coal and prepare it for sale to our customers or leasing our controlled coal reserves to others to
mine.
We are managed by WCC through our GP, and all executives, officers and employees who provide services to us are
employed by either WCC or our GP. WCC directly owns our GP. WCC’s common stock trades on the NASDAQ Global
Market under the symbol “WLB.”
As of March 9, 2016, WCC and its consolidated subsidiaries owned approximate 93.9% beneficial limited partner
interest on a fully diluted basis and, indirectly, all of our incentive distribution rights.
As of December 31, 2015, management estimates that we owned or controlled approximately 145.2 million tons of
coal reserves, of which we have leased or subleased 111.2 million tons of both underground and surface reserves from others.
The estimates are based on an initial evaluation, as well as subsequent acquisitions, dispositions, depletion of reserves,
changes in available geological or mining data and other factors.
2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could
differ from those estimates.
Purchase and Pushdown Accounting
WCC's acquisition of our GP was accounted for using the acquisition method under ASC 805, Business Combination.
Under the acquisition method, the purchase price was allocated to the underlying tangible and intangible assets acquired and
liabilities assumed based on their respective fair values. The allocation of the purchase price is pending the completion of
various analyses and the finalization of estimates. During the measurement period (which is not to exceed one year from the
acquisition date), additional assets or liabilities may be recognized if new information is obtained about facts and circumstances
that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have resulted in the recognition of those assets or liabilities as of
that date. The allocation may be adjusted after obtaining additional information regarding, among other things, asset valuations,
liabilities assumed and revisions of previous estimates. These adjustments may be significant and will be accounted for
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retrospectively.
Per ASC 805-50-25-4 (effective November 18, 2014), we, as an acquiree of WCC through our GP, have the option to
apply pushdown accounting in our consolidated financial statements when an acquirer (WCC) obtained control of us. We have
chosen adopt pushdown accounting and will reflect purchase accounting adjustments in our consolidated financial statement.
Drop-down Accounting
Drop-down acquisitions with Westmoreland Coal Company, our ultimate parent, are accounted for as a reorganization
of entities under common control in accordance with the provisions of Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 805-50,
which requires that the transaction be presented as though it occurred at the beginning of the period, and prior years
retrospectively adjusted to furnish comparative information similar to the pooling method. Accordingly, our financial
statements give retrospective effect of drop-down acquisitions for periods as of and subsequent to December 31, 2014.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are stated at cost, which approximate fair value. Cash equivalents consist of highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less.
Trade Receivables
Trade receivables are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest. The Partnership evaluates the need for
an allowance for doubtful accounts based on a review of collectability. The Partnership has determined that no allowance is
necessary for trade receivables as of December 31, 2015 and 2014.
Inventories
Inventories, which include materials and supplies as well as raw coal, are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is
determined using the average cost method. Coal inventory costs include labor, supplies, equipment, depreciation, depletion,
amortization, operating overhead and other related costs.
Exploration and Mine Development
Exploration expenditures are charged to Cost of coal revenues as incurred, including costs related to drilling and study
costs incurred to convert or upgrade mineral resources to reserves.
At existing surface mines, additional pits may be added to increase production capacity. These expansions may require
significant capital to purchase or relocate equipment, build or improve existing haul roads and create the initial cut to remove
overburden for new pits at existing mines. If these pits operate in a separate and distinct area of the mine, the costs associated
with initially uncovering coal for production are capitalized and amortized over the life of the developed pit consistent with coal
industry practices. Once production has begun, mining costs are then expensed as incurred.
Where new pits are routinely developed as part of a contiguous mining sequence, the Partnership expenses such costs
as incurred. The development of a contiguous pit typically reflects the planned progression of an existing pit, thus maintaining
production levels from the same mining area utilizing the same employee group and equipment.
Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost or fair value as a result of purchase accounting as previously
discussed. Expenditures that extend the useful lives of existing plant and equipment or increase productivity of the assets are
capitalized. Maintenance and repair costs that do not extend the useful life or increase productivity of the asset are expensed as
incurred. Coal reserves are recorded at cost, or at fair value originally in the case of acquired businesses and application of
pushdown accounting.
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Coal reserves, mineral rights and mine development costs are depleted based upon estimated recoverable proven and
probable reserves. Plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the assets’ estimated useful lives as follows:
Years
25 - 39
1 - 30
5-7
3-7

Buildings and tipple
Machinery and equipment
Vehicles
Furniture and fixtures

We assess the carrying value of our property, plant and equipment for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability is measured by comparing
estimated undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated from such assets to their net book value. If net book value exceeds
estimated cash flows, the asset is written down to fair value. When an asset is retired or sold, its cost and related accumulated
depreciation and depletion are removed from the accounts. The difference between the net book value of the asset and proceeds
on disposition is recorded as a gain or loss. Fully depreciated plant and equipment still in use is not eliminated from the
accounts. Amortization of capital leases is included in Depreciation, depletion and amortization.
Advanced Coal Royalties
A portion of our reserves are leased. Advanced coal royalties are advance payments made to lessors under terms of
lease agreements that are typically recoupable through an offset or credit against royalties payable on future production. We
write-off advanced coal royalties when recoverability is no longer probable based on future mining plans.
Restricted investments and bond collateral
Restricted investments and bond collateral consist of cash and available-for-sale fixed-income investments reported at
fair value with unrealized gains and losses excluded from earnings and reported in Accumulated other comprehensive (loss)
income. Funds in the restricted investments and bond collateral accounts are not available to meet the Partnership’s general cash
needs.
Deferred Financing Costs
We capitalize costs incurred in connection with borrowings or establishment of credit facilities and issuance of debt
securities. These costs are amortized as an adjustment to interest expense over the life of the borrowing or term of the credit
facility using the effective interest method. These amounts are recorded in Deposits and other assets in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets.
Financial Instruments
The Partnership has securities classified as available-for-sale, which are recorded at fair value. The changes in fair
values are recorded as unrealized gains (losses) as a component of Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income in partners'
capital (deficit).
Our financial instruments include fixed price forward contracts for diesel fuel. Our risk management policy allows us
to purchase up to 80% of our unhedged diesel fuel gallons on fixed price forward contracts. These contracts meet the normal
purchases and sales exclusion and therefore are not accounted for as derivatives. These forward fuel contracts usually have a
term of 1 year or less, and we take physical delivery of all the fuel supplied under these contracts.
Fair Value
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at a given measurement date. Valuation techniques used must maximize the use of observable
inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.
The fair value hierarchy prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value and is defined as:
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•

Level 1, defined as observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets for identical assets. Level 1 assets
include available-for-sale equity securities generally valued based on independent third-party market prices.

•

Level 2, defined as observable inputs other than Level 1 prices. These include quoted prices for similar assets or
liabilities in an active market, quoted prices for identical assets and liabilities in markets that are not active, or other
inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets
or liabilities.

•

Level 3, defined as unobservable inputs in which little or no market data exists, therefore requiring an entity to develop
its own assumptions.

The Partnership’s non-recurring fair value measurements include asset retirement obligations and the purchase price
allocations for the fair value of assets and liabilities acquired through business combinations.
The Partnership determines the estimated fair value of its asset retirement obligations by calculating the present value
of estimated cash flows related to reclamation liabilities using level 3 inputs. The significant inputs used to calculate such
liabilities includes estimates of costs to be incurred, the Partnership’s credit adjusted discount rate, inflation rates and estimated
dates of reclamation. The asset retirement liability is accreted to its present value each period and the associated mineral rights
are depleted using the units-of-production method.
The fair value of assets and liabilities acquired through business combinations is calculated using a discounted-cash
flow approach using level 3 inputs. Cash flow estimates require forecasts and assumptions for many years into the future for a
variety of factors.
See Notes 6, 7, 8, 12, and 14 for further disclosures related to the Partnership’s fair value estimates.
Warrants
In connection with our refinancing in June 2013, certain of the second lien lenders and lender affiliates received
warrants entitling them to purchase common and subordinated units under a freestanding contract. The subordinated unit
warrants were canceled on December 31, 2014. Pursuant to Financial Accounting Standards Board's Codification Topic
470-20, “Debt With Conversion and Other Options” (ASC 470-20), freestanding contracts that are settled in a company’s own
stock, including common and subordinated unit warrants, are to be designated as an asset, liability or equity instrument. Both
the common and subordinated unit warrants were determined to be liabilities and were recorded at fair value.
Intangible Assets
Identifiable intangible assets acquired in a business combination must be recognized and reported separately from
goodwill. These intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over the respective useful life of the asset. See Note 10
for further details.
Deferred Revenue
Deferred revenues represent funding received upon the negotiation of long-term contracts. The deferred revenues for
coal will be recognized as deliveries of the reserved coal are made in accordance with the long-term coal contracts. At
December 31, 2015 and 2014, deferred revenue was zero and $2.5 million, respectively.
Asset Retirement Obligations
Our asset retirement obligations, or ARO, primarily consists of estimated costs to reclaim surface land and support
facilities at our mines and in accordance with federal and state reclamation laws as established by each mining permit.
We estimate ARO for final reclamation and mine closure based upon detailed engineering calculations of the amount
and timing of the future costs for a third party to perform the required work. These estimates are based on projected pit
configurations at the end of mining and are escalated for inflation, and then discounted at a credit adjusted risk-free rate. We
record mineral rights associated with the initial recorded liability. Mineral rights are amortized based on the units of production
method over the estimated recoverable, proven and probable reserves at the related mine, and the ARO is accreted to the
projected settlement date. Changes in estimates could occur due to revisions of mine plans, changes in estimated costs, and
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changes in timing of the performance of reclamation activities. See Note 12.
Income Taxes
As a partnership, we are not a taxable entity for federal or state income tax purposes; the tax effect of our activities
passes through to our unitholders. Therefore, no provision or liability for federal or state income taxes is included in our
financial statements. Net income (loss) for financial statement purposes may differ significantly from taxable income (loss)
reportable to our unitholders as a result of timing or permanent differences between financial reporting under US GAAP and the
regulations promulgated by the Internal Revenue Service.
Prior to the Kemmerer Drop, WKL was subject to income taxes in the U.S. (including federal and state). Deferred
income taxes were provided for temporary differences arising from differences between the financial statement amount and tax
basis of assets and liabilities existing at each balance sheet date using enacted tax rates anticipated to be in effect when the
related taxes are expected to be paid or recovered. A valuation allowance is established if it is more likely than not (greater than
50%) that a deferred tax asset will not be realized. In determining the need for a valuation allowance at each reporting period,
WKL considered projected realization of tax benefits based on expected levels of future taxable income, the duration of
statutory carryforward periods, experience with operating loss and tax credit carryforwards not expiring and availability of tax
planning strategies.
Accounting guidance prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement
recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. Under this guidance, a company
can recognize the benefit of an income tax position only if it is more likely than not (greater than 50%) that the tax position will
be sustained upon tax examination, based solely on the technical merits of the tax position. Guidance is also provided on the
derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition.
WKL included interest and penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense.
Revenue Recognition
Revenue from coal sales is recognized at the time title and risk of loss passes to the customer in accordance with the
terms of the underlying sales agreements and after any contingent performance obligations have been satisfied. Coal sales
revenue is recognized based on the pricing contained in the contracts in place at the time that title passes.
Royalty revenue relates to coal reserves which we lease to others and oil and gas rights. For the years ended 2015,
2014 and 2013, we received royalties of $0.9 million, $0.3 million and $0.01 million, respectively.
Non-coal revenue consists primarily of clay and limestone sales, service fees, and other miscellaneous revenue. Clay
and limestone sales relate to material we recover during the coal mining process and sell to third parties. Additionally service
fees are earned for operating a coal unloading facility, providing river barge loading services, and hauling ash. Periodically, we
recognize miscellaneous revenue related to lost coal claims that result from granting third-party right-of-way access through
small portions of various mine complexes. In 2014, we also received $19.5 million from a former customer to compensate us
for lost profits on a wrongfully terminated contract.
Equity-Based Compensation
Equity-based compensation expense is generally measured at the grant date and recognized as expense over the
vesting period of the entire award. These costs are recorded in Cost of coal revenues and Selling and administrative in the
accompanying consolidated results of operations. See Note 16.
Noncontrolling Interest
Noncontrolling interest is reported as a separate component of equity. The amount of net income (loss) attributable to
the noncontrolling interest is recorded in Net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interest in our consolidated statements
of operations. See Note 18.
Earnings (Losses) Per Unit
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For purposes of our earnings per unit calculation, we apply the two class method. All outstanding limited partner units
and general partner units share pro rata in income (loss) allocations and distributions, but only our general partner has voting
rights. Limited partner units are further segregated into common units and subordinated units. As of December 31, 2014, the
subordinated units were converted to liquidation units.
Limited Partner Units: Basic earnings (losses) per unit are computed by dividing net income (loss) applicable to
limited partners by the weighted average units outstanding, including unexercised participating warrants, during the reporting
period. Net income (loss) applicable to units includes the adjustment for net income or loss attributable to noncontrolling
interest. Diluted earnings (losses) per unit are computed similar to basic earnings (losses) per unit except that the weighted
average units outstanding and net income (loss) attributable to limited partners are increased to include the dilutive effect of
limited partner units that would be issued assuming conversion of restricted awards to limited partnership units upon vesting.
No such items were included in the computation of diluted loss per unit for the years ended 2015, 2014 or 2013 because we
incurred a loss in each of these periods and the effect of inclusion would have been anti-dilutive.
Series A Convertible Units: Basic earnings (losses) per unit are computed by dividing net income (loss) applicable to
limited partners by the weighted average units outstanding during the reporting period. Net income (loss) applicable to units
includes the adjustment for net income or loss attributable to noncontrolling interest. Diluted earnings (losses) per unit are
computed similar to basic earnings (losses) per unit.
General Partner Units: Basic earnings (losses) per unit are computed by dividing net income (loss) attributable to our
GP by the weighted average units outstanding, including unexercised participating warrants, during the reporting period.
Diluted earnings (losses) per unit for our GP are computed similar to basic earnings (losses) per unit except that the net income
(loss) attributable to the general partner units is adjusted for the dilutive impact of the phantom units. No such items were
included in the computation of diluted loss per unit for the years ended 2015, 2014 or 2013 because we incurred a loss in each
of these periods and the effect of inclusion would have been anti-dilutive.
The table below shows the number of units that were excluded from the calculation of diluted loss per unit because
their inclusion would be anti-dilutive to the calculation:
Year Ended December 31,
2015
2014
2013
485
70,298
42,694

Long-term incentive plan units
Reclassifications

Certain amounts in prior periods have been reclassified to conform with the presentation of 2015.The reclassification
affected accounts within noncurrent assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
In April 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-08, Presentation of Financial Statements and Property, Plant and
Equipment, which changes the presentation of discontinued operations on the statements of operations and other requirements
for reporting discontinued operations. Under the new standard, a disposal of a component or a group of components of an entity
is required to be reported in discontinued operations if the disposal represents a strategic shift that has (or will have) a major
effect on an entity’s operations and financial results when the component meets the criteria to be classified as held for sale or is
disposed. The amendments in this update also require additional disclosures about discontinued operations and disposal of an
individually significant component of an entity that does not qualify for discontinued operations. The new guidance is effective
for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2014. We adopted ASU 2014-8 effective January 1, 2015.
In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-17, Pushdown Accounting, which allows entities the option to elect
pushdown of purchase accounting each time there is a change-in-control event in which an acquirer obtains control of the
acquiree. If an acquiree does not initially elect to apply pushdown accounting upon a change-in-control event, it can
subsequently elect to apply pushdown accounting to its most recent change-in-control event in a later reporting period as a
change in accounting principle. Once made, the election to apply pushdown accounting is irrevocable. Entities applying
pushdown accounting are required to measure the individual assets and liabilities of the acquired entity based on the
measurement guidance in ASC 805, including the recognition of goodwill. However, any bargain purchase gain recognized by
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the acquirer should not be recognized in the acquiree’s income statement, but rather as an adjustment to additional paid-in
capital. Acquisition-related debt is recognized by the acquiree only if the acquired entity is required to recognize a liability for
debt in accordance with other applicable guidance. See our application of ASU 2014-17 in Note 3.
In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-06, Effects on Historical Earnings per Unit of Master Limited Partnership
Drop-down Transactions (a consensus of the Emerging Issues Task Force). ASU 2015-06 requires a master limited partnership
(MLP) to allocate the earnings or losses of a transferred business for periods before the date of a drop-down of net assets
accounted for as a common control transaction entirely to the general partner for purposes of calculating historical earnings per
unit (EPU). The guidance is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2015, and
interim periods within those years. The guidance is applied retrospectively and early adoption is permitted. We early adopted
this guidance on August 1, 2015 to coincide with the Kemmerer Drop. See our application of ASU 2015-06 in Note 17.
In September 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-16, Business Combinations (Topic 805): Simplifying the Accounting
for Measurement-Period Adjustments. ASU 2015-16 eliminates the requirement that an acquirer in a business combination
account for measurement-period adjustments retrospectively. Instead, an acquirer will recognize a measurement-period
adjustment during the period in which it determines the amount of the adjustment. The guidance is effective for public business
entities for fiscal years beginning after 15 December 2015, and interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is
permitted. We early adopted this guidance during 2015 by recognizing purchase price allocation adjustments during the period
in which we determined the amount of the adjustment.
Accounting Pronouncements Effective in the Future
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue From Contracts With Customers, which outlines a single
comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers and supersedes most
current revenue recognition guidance, including industry-specific guidance. The ASU is based on the principle that an entity
should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration
which the entity expects to be entitled to receive in exchange for those goods or services. The ASU also requires additional
disclosure about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from customer contracts,
including significant judgments and changes in judgments and assets recognized from costs incurred to fulfill a contract.
Entities have the option of using either a full retrospective or a modified retrospective approach for the adoption of the new
standard. In April 2015, the FASB agreed to propose a one-year deferral of the revenue recognition standard's effective date.
The new guidance is now effective for the interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2017; early application is
permitted, but not before the original effective date (annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016). We are
currently assessing the impact that this standard will have on our consolidated financial statements and plan to adopt the
guidance by its effective date.
In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-15, Presentation of Financial Statements-Going Concern (Subtopic
205-40): Disclosure of Uncertainties about an Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern, which is intended to define
management’s responsibility to evaluate whether there is substantial doubt about an organization’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to provide related footnote disclosures. The new guidance is effective for the interim and annual periods beginning
after December 15, 2016; early adoption is permitted for annual or interim reporting periods for which the financial statements
have not previously been issued. We are currently assessing the impact of this standard and plan to adopt the guidance by its
effective date.
In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-03, Interest - Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 835-30): Simplifying the
Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs, which requires that debt issuance costs related to a recognized liability be presented in the
balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of that debt liability, consistent with debt discounts. The new
guidance should be applied on a retrospective basis and is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2015, and interim periods within those fiscal years, with early adoption permitted. Management projects the
impact to the financial statements resulting in balance sheet reclassification reducing the Long-term debt, less current
installments balance for each of the respective periods upon adoption.
In July 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-11, Simplifying the Measurement of Inventory. ASU 2015-11 simplifies the
subsequent measurement of inventory by replacing today’s lower of cost or market test with a lower of cost and net realizable
value test. The guidance applies only to inventories for which cost is determined by methods other than last-in first-out (LIFO)
and the retail inventory method (RIM). Entities that use LIFO or RIM will continue to use existing impairment models (e.g.,
entities using LIFO would apply the lower of cost or market test). The guidance is effective for public business entities for
fiscal years beginning after 15 December 2016, and interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted as of
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the beginning of an interim or annual reporting period. We are currently assessing the impact that this standard will have on our
consolidated financial statements and plan to adopt the guidance by its effective date.
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, "Leases" (Topic 842) ("ASU 2016-02"). The amendments in
ASU 2016-02 require companies that lease assets to recognize on their balance sheets the assets and liabilities for the rights and
obligations generated by contracts longer than one year. ASU 2016-02 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2018 with early adoption permitted. The guidance is required to be applied by the modified retrospective transition approach.
Early adoption is permitted. We are currently evaluating the potential impact adopting ASU 2016-02 will have on our
consolidated financial statements and footnote disclosures.
3.

ACQUISITION AND PUSHDOWN ACCOUNTING

Westmoreland Coal Company's Acquisition of our General Partner
On December 31, 2014, pursuant to a Purchase Agreement dated October 16, 2014, WCC acquired, for $33.5
million in cash, 100% of the equity of our GP from (i) the holders of all of our GP’s outstanding Class A Units, AIM and
C&T, (ii) the holders of all of our GP’s outstanding Class B Units, certain present and former executives of our GP, and (iii)
the holders of all of the outstanding warrants for our GP’s Class B Units, the Warrantholders. At the same time, WCC also
acquired, for no additional consideration, (i) 100% of the Partnership’s outstanding subordinated units from AIM and C&T,
which subordinated units were then converted to liquidation units, and (ii) 100% of the Partnership’s outstanding warrants for
subordinated units from the Warrantholders, which warrants were then canceled by WCC.
The purchase consideration for our GP and control of our GP’s consolidated subsidiaries is estimated at $239.9
million, which included $33.5 million paid in cash, plus the assumption of approximately $195.6 million of liabilities.
Additionally, we incurred acquisition-related costs of $5.5 million that have been expensed and are included in Selling and
administrative in the accompanying consolidated results of operations for the predecessor period of January 1, 2014 through
December 31, 2014.
The acquisition of our GP was accounted for by WCC under the acquisition method of accounting that requires the
total purchase consideration to be allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on estimates of fair value. We
have elected to apply pushdown accounting to our consolidated financial statements. By applying pushdown accounting, our
financial statements also reflect these adjustments to fair value with a portion allocated to noncontrolling interest for the
portion of us that is not owned directly by WCC.
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A summary of the estimated purchase consideration and a allocation of the estimated purchase consideration is as
follows (in millions):
Estimated purchase consideration
Market value of limited partners' units
Cash paid
Total consideration
Estimated fair value of liabilities assumed:
Debt
Asset retirement obligations
Other liabilities
Warrants
Total estimated fair value of liabilities assumed
Total estimated purchase consideration:

$

10.8
33.5
44.3

$

160.1
31.7
1.8
2.0
195.6
239.9

$

Allocation of estimated purchase consideration:
Working capital
Land and mineral rights
Plant and equipment
Advanced coal royalties
Restricted investments and bond collateral
Intangible asset
Other assets
Total allocation of estimated purchase consideration:

$

$

14.7
40.2
134.0
9.2
10.6
31.0
0.2
239.9

Subsequent to the acquisition of our GP, the following events occurred which are activity of the new owners or
Successor entity. The acquisition triggered change of control provisions in the executives’ employment contracts which
resulted in additional restructuring expenses. See Note 4. Subsequent to the transaction, we also refinanced our debt which
included an early payment penalty included in debt extinguishment costs.
The assets and liabilities of both the Partnership and WKL are included in the consolidated balance sheets as of
December 31, 2014.
Kemmerer Drop-down
On August 1, 2015, we completed the Kemmerer Drop. Upon closing the Kemmerer Drop, we own 100% of the
outstanding equity interests in WKL, which owns and operates the Kemmerer mine in Lincoln County, Wyoming. The
contribution of net assets of WKL was accounted for as a transaction between entities under common control whereby the
WKL was recorded at historical book value. As such, the consideration paid in excess of the net assets contributed by WCC
amounted to $13.2 million.
This transfer of net assets between entities under common control was accounted for as if the transfer occurred on
December 31, 2014, the first point of common control. Accordingly, our consolidated financial statements include the
historical results of both the Partnership and WKL for all periods presented while under common control (periods including
and subsequent to December 31, 2014). We recognize transfers of net assets between entities under common control at
WCC’s basis in the net assets contributed. The amount of the purchase price in excess or in deficit of WCC’s basis in the net
assets is recognized as a reduction or an addition to limited partners’ equity. The financial statements of WKL have been
prepared from the separate records maintained by WCC and may not necessarily be indicative of the conditions that would
have existed or the results of operations if WKL had been operated as an unaffiliated entity during the periods reported.
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4.

RESTRUCTURING AND IMPAIRMENT CHARGES
WCC Transactions Restructuring

Concurrently with WCC’s acquisition of the GP and approximately 79.1% of our limited partner interests completed in
December 2014 (collectively, the "WCC Transactions"), we and WCC initiated a restructuring plan to streamline operations and
eliminate duplicative roles and responsibilities between us and WCC. As of December 31, 2014, we recorded restructuring
charges for employee termination benefits of $2.8 million and incurred additional restructuring costs of $0.7 million for the
year ended December 31, 2015.

WCC Transactions restructuring accrual activity is summarized as follows:
Westmoreland Resource Partners, LP
(Successor)

Severance and other termination costs

As of
December 31,
2014
Liability
2,783
$

As of
December 31,
2015
Payments
Liability
(3,311) $
128
$

For the Year Ended December 31,
2015

$

Charges
656

The following table summarizes the total WCC Transactions restructuring charges incurred over the course of the
restructuring:
Westmoreland Resource Partners, LP
(Successor)
Charges
For the Year
Incurred
Ended
Through
December 31,
December 31,
2015
2015
656 $
3,439
$

Severance and other termination costs

Total Expected
Restructuring
Expenses
3,439
$

Illinois Basin Restructuring
In March 2012, we received a termination notice from a customer related to an 0.8 million ton per year coal supply
contract fulfilled from our Illinois Basin operations. In response, we initially idled some of our Illinois Basin operations,
terminated a significant number of employees related to such operations and substituted purchased coal for mined and washed
coal on certain sales contracts. Subsequently over time, the remainder of our Illinois Basin operations were idled and the related
employees terminated with the result that our Illinois Basin operations were fully idled as of December 31, 2013. During that
period, we also sold some of our excess Illinois Basin equipment while redeploying most of the equipment to our Northern
Appalachian operations, with such redeployment being completed during the first quarter of 2014. Additionally, we sold our
Illinois Basin dock in April 2014.
Restructuring Charges
The restructuring related to our Illinois Basin operations was completed in March 2014. Restructuring charges of $0.1
million and $1.8 million were incurred for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. These charges included
termination costs for employees, professional and legal fees, and transportation costs associated with moving idled equipment
to our Northern Appalachian operations. There is no liability remaining for the Illinois Basin restructuring as of December 31,
2014.
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The following table summarizes the total Illinois Basin restructuring and impairment charges incurred over the course
of the restructuring:
Oxford Resource Partners, LP
(Predecessor)
Charges
Period from
January 1,
2014 through
December 31,
2014
Cash:
Severance and other termination costs
Professional and legal fees
Equipment relocation costs
Coal lease termination costs
Total cash restructuring charges

$

Non-cash:
Coal lease termination costs
Asset impairment
Total non-cash restructuring charges
Total restructuring and impairment charges
5.

$

Incurred
Through
December 31,
2014

(42) $
—
117
—
75

—
—
—
75

$

1,846
1,021
1,161
23
4,051

683
12,753
13,436
17,487

Total Expected
Charges
$

$

1,846
1,021
1,161
23
4,051

683
12,753
13,436
17,487

INVENTORIES
Inventories consisted of the following:
Westmoreland Resource
Partners, LP
(Successor)
December 31,
December 31,
2015
2014
5,683 $
6,865
$
1,953
1,860
16,311
16,132
(317)
(372)
23,630 $
24,485
$

Coal stockpiles
Coal fuel inventories
Materials and supplies
Reserve for obsolete inventory
Total
6.

RESTRICTED INVESTMENTS AND BOND COLLATERAL

For all of its restricted investments and bond collateral accounts, the Partnership can select from limited fixed-income
investment options for the funds and receive the investment returns on these investments. Funds in the restricted investments
and bond collateral accounts are not available to meet the Partnership’s general cash needs.
These accounts include available-for-sale securities in short-term bond collateral investments. Available-for-sale
securities are reported at fair value with unrealized gains and losses excluded from earnings and reported in Accumulated
other comprehensive (loss) income.
The cost basis of an investment sold is specifically identified.

F- 23

WESTMORELAND RESOURCE PARTNERS, LP AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(in thousands, except for unit and per unit data)
During the year ended December 31, 2014, WKL decided to more actively manage its investment yields. This
decision resulted in the sale of some securities during the year ended December 31, 2014 that were previously designated as
held-to-maturity. WKL transferred the remainder of its securities classified as held-to-maturity to available-for-sale securities.
The carrying value of held-to-maturity securities held as Restricted investments and bond collateral transferred to availablefor-sale during the year ended December 31, 2014 was $25.3 million.
The carrying value and estimated fair value of its restricted investments and bond collateral at December 31, 2015
were as follows:
Westmoreland Resource
Partners, LP
(Successor)
Carrying
Value
Fair Value
7,409 $
7,409
$
27,117
27,117
34,526 $
34,526
$

Cash and cash equivalents
Available-for-sale securities

The carrying value and estimated fair value of its restricted investments and bond collateral at December 31, 2014
were as follows:
Westmoreland Resource
Partners, LP
(Successor)
Carrying
Value
Fair Value
9,359 $
9,359
$
25,023
25,023
34,382 $
34,382
$

Cash and cash equivalents
Available-for-sale securities

In, 2014, and 2013, the Partnership recorded no gains or losses on the sale of available-for-sale securities held as
restricted investments and bond collateral.
Available-for-Sale Restricted Investments and Bond Collateral
The cost basis, gross unrealized holding gains and losses and fair value of available-for-sale securities at
December 31, 2015 are as follows:
Westmoreland Resource
Partners, LP
(Successor)
December 31,
December 31,
2015
2014
27,387 $
25,286
$
74
212
(344)
(475)
27,117 $
25,023
$

Cost basis
Gross unrealized holding gains
Gross unrealized holding losses
Fair Value

F- 24

WESTMORELAND RESOURCE PARTNERS, LP AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(in thousands, except for unit and per unit data)
Maturities of available-for-sale securities were as follows at December 31, 2015:
Westmoreland Resource
Partners, LP
(Successor)
Amortized
Cost
Fair Value
— $
—
$
10,068
9,858
4,430
4,489
12,889
12,770
27,387 $
27,117
$

Due within one year
Due in after one to five years or less
Due after five years to ten years
Due in more than ten years

7.

POSTRETIREMENT MEDICAL BENEFITS

Immediately prior to the Kemmerer Drop and in accordance with the Contribution Agreement all employees of
WKL were transferred to WCC. WCC assumed all liabilities associated with the Excluded Liabilities, including but not
limited to postretirement medical benefits on August 1, 2015.
Prior to August 1, 2015, WKL provided postretirement medical benefits pursuant to collective bargaining
agreements. These benefits were provided through self-insurance programs. As the Kemmerer Drop is accounted for as a
transfer of net assets between entities under common control, our consolidated financial statements include the historical
results of WKL, including postretirement medical expense, pension expense and income taxes, for the periods while under
common control prior to the Kemmerer Drop (period of December 31, 2014 through August 1, 2015). In accordance with the
Contribution Agreement, subsequent to the Kemmerer Drop, WCC, in compliance with the services agreement with our GP,
as amended through the date hereof (the "Services Agreement"), and the Partnership Agreement, will allocate expenses
incurred for postretirement medical liabilities attributable to the transferred employees on a cash basis through the period
ending December 31, 2017. Thereafter, WCC shall allocate such expenses in its sole discretion, in compliance with the
Services Agreement and the Partnership Agreement.
WKL provided postretirement medical benefits to retired employees and their dependents, mandated by the Coal
Industry Retiree Health Act of 1992 and pursuant to collective bargaining agreements. WKL also provided these benefits to
qualified full-time employees pursuant to collective bargaining agreements. These benefits are provided through self-insured
programs.
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The following table sets forth the actuarial present value of postretirement medical benefit obligations and amounts
recognized in WKL’s financial statements:
Westmoreland Resource
Partners, LP
(Successor)
December 31,
December 31,
2015
2014
Change in benefit obligations:
Net benefit obligation at beginning of period
Service cost
Interest cost
Actuarial loss (gain)
Gross benefits and expenses paid
Impact of the Kemmerer Drop
Transfer to WCC
Net benefit obligation at end of year

$

Change in plan assets:
Employer contributions
Gross benefits and expenses paid
Fair value of plan assets at end of year
Unfunded status at end of year

$

Amounts recognized in the balance sheet consist of:
Current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities

$

Net amount recognized

$

60,681 $
1,904
1,499
—
(629)
—
(63,455)
—
629
(629)
—
— $
—
—
—

$
$

—
—
—
—
—
60,681
—
60,681
—
—
—
(60,681)
(436)
(60,245)
(60,681)

Actuarial gains and losses are amortized over the average future service of the plan’s participants. The Partnership
will not have any amounts amortized from accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income into net periodic benefit cost in
periods after July 31, 2015.

The components of net periodic postretirement medical benefit cost are as follows:
Westmoreland Resource
Partners, LP
(Successor)
For the Year
Ended
December 31,
2015
Components of net periodic benefit cost:
Service cost
Interest cost
Amortization of deferred items
Total net periodic benefit cost

$

$

1,904
1,499
—
3,403
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December 31,
2014
$

$

—
—
—
—

Oxford Resource Partners, LP
(Predecessor)
Period from
January 1,
For the Year
through
Ended
December 31,
December 31,
2014
2013
$

$

—
—
—
—

$

$

—
—
—
—
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Assumptions
The weighted-average assumptions used to determine the benefit obligations as of the end of each year were as
follows:
Westmoreland Resource Partners, LP
(Successor)
December 31,
December 31,
2015
2014
N/A
4.25%
December 31, 2015 December 31, 2014

Discount rate
Measurement date

The discount rate is adjusted annually based on an Aa corporate bond index adjusted for the difference in the
duration of the bond index and the duration of the benefit obligations. This rate is calculated using a yield curve, which is
developed using the average yield for bonds in the tenth to ninetieth percentiles, which excludes bonds with outlier yields.
The weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost were as follows:
Westmoreland Resource Partners, LP

(Successor)

Discount rate
Measurement date

For the Year
Ended December
31,
2015
4.25%
December 31, 2014

Period of
December 31,
2014
N/A
N/A

Oxford Resource Partners, LP
(Predecessor)
Period from
January 1,
For the Year
through
Ended December
December 31,
31,
2014
2013
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

The following presents information about the assumed health care trend rate:

Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year
Rate to which the cost trend is assumed to decline (ultimate trend rate)
Year that the trend rate reaches the ultimate trend rate
8.

December 31,
2015
2014
7.00%
6.50%
4.75%
5.00%
2025
2021

PENSION AND OTHER SAVING PLANS

Immediately prior to the Kemmerer Drop and in accordance with the Contribution Agreement all employees of
WKL were transferred to WCC. WCC assumed all liabilities, including the pension assets, associated with the Excluded
Liabilities, including but not limited to pension benefits on August 1, 2015.
Prior to August 1, 2015, WKL provided a defined benefit pension plan to qualified full-time employees pursuant to a
collective bargaining agreement. Benefits are generally based on years of service and a specific dollar amount per year of
service as specified in the plan agreement. As the Kemmerer Drop is accounted for as a transfer of net assets between entities
under common control, our consolidated financial statements include the historical results of WKL, including postretirement
medical expense, pension expense and income taxes, for the periods while under common control prior to the Kemmerer
Drop (period of December 31, 2014 through August 1, 2015). In accordance with the Contribution Agreement, subsequent to
the Kemmerer Drop, WCC, in compliance with the services agreement with our GP, as amended through the date hereof (the
"Services Agreement"), and the Partnership Agreement, will allocate expenses incurred for pension liabilities attributable to
the transferred employees on a cash basis through the period ending December 31, 2017. Thereafter, WCC shall allocate such
expenses in its sole discretion, in compliance with the Services Agreement and the Partnership Agreement.
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Defined Benefit Pension Plans
WKL provides a defined benefit pension plan to qualified full-time employees pursuant to a collective bargaining
agreement. Benefits are generally based on years of service and a specific dollar amount per year of service as specified in
the plan agreement. WKL’s funding policy is to contribute annually the minimum amount prescribed, as specified by
applicable regulations.
The following table provides a reconciliation of the changes in the benefit obligations of the plans and the fair value
of assets of the qualified plans and the amounts recognized in WKL’s financial statements for the defined benefit pension
plan:
Westmoreland Resource
Partners, LP
(Successor)
December 31,
December 31,
2015
2014
Change in benefit obligation:
Net benefit obligation at the beginning of period
Service cost
Interest cost
Actuarial loss
Benefits paid
Impact of the Kemmerer Drop
Transfer to WCC
Net benefit obligation at end of year

$

66,295 $
727
1,433
—
(1,747)
—
(66,708)
—

—
—
—
—
—
66,295
—
66,295
—
—
—
—
48,533
—
48,533
(17,762)
(17,762)
(17,762)

Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at the beginning of period
Actual return on plan assets
Employer contributions
Benefits paid
Impact of the Kemmerer Drop
Transfer to WCC
Fair value of plan assets at end of year
Underfunded status at end of year

$

48,533
(236)
409
(1,747)
—
(46,959)
—
— $

Amounts recognized in the accompanying balance sheet consist of:
Noncurrent liability
Net amount recognized at end of year

$
$

—
—

$
$

The Partnership will not have any amounts amortized from accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income into net
periodic benefit cost in periods after July 31, 2015.

F- 28

WESTMORELAND RESOURCE PARTNERS, LP AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(in thousands, except for unit and per unit data)

The components of net periodic benefit cost are as follows:
Westmoreland Resource
Partners, LP
(Successor)
For the Year
Ended
December 31,
2015
Components of net periodic benefit cost:
Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Total net periodic pension cost

$

$

Period of
December 31,
2014

727 $
1,433
(1,969)
191 $

—
—
—
—

Oxford Resource Partners, LP
(Predecessor)
Period from
January 1
For the Year
through
Ended
December 31,
December 31,
2014
2013
$

$

—
—
—
—

$

$

—
—
—
—

These costs are included in the accompanying statements of operations in Cost of coal revenues and Selling and
administrative expenses.
Assumptions
The weighted-average assumptions used to determine the benefit obligations as of the end of each year were as
follows:
Westmoreland Resource Partners, LP
(Successor)
December 31,
December 31,
2015
2014
N/A
3.85%
December 31, 2015 December 31, 2014

Discount rate
Measurement date

The discount rate is adjusted annually based on an Aa corporate bond index adjusted for the difference in the
duration of the bond index and the duration of the benefit obligations. This rate is calculated using a yield curve, which is
developed using the average yield for bonds in the tenth to ninetieth percentiles, which excludes bonds with outlier yields.
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The following table provides the assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost:
Westmoreland Resource Partners, LP
(Successor)

Discount rate
Expected return on plan assets
Rate of compensation increase
Measurement date

For the Year
Ended December
Period of
31,
December 31,
2015
2014
3.85%
4.55%
7.10%
7.40%
N/A
N/A
December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013

Oxford Resource Partners, LP
(Predecessor)
Period from
January 1
For the Year
through
Ended December
December 31,
31,
2014
2013
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

WKL establishes the expected long-term rate of return at the beginning of each fiscal year based upon historical
returns and projected returns on the underlying mix of invested assets. WKL utilizes modern portfolio theory modeling
techniques in the development of its return assumptions. This technique projects rates of return that can be generated through
various asset allocations that lie within the risk tolerance set forth by WKL. The risk assessment provides a link between a
pension plan's risk capacity, management's willingness to accept investment risk and the asset allocation process, which
ultimately leads to the return generated by the invested assets.
The fair value of WKL’s pension plan assets, which were transferred to WCC prior to the Kemmerer Drop, by asset
category are as follows:
Westmoreland Resource Partners, LP
(Successor)
December 31, 2014
Quoted
Prices in
Active
Significant
Markets for
Other
Significant
Identical
Observable
Unobservable
Assets
Inputs
Inputs
Fair Value
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3
(In thousands)
Pooled separate accounts:
Large-cap blend (a)
International blend (b)
Fixed income domestic (c)
Fixed income long-term (d)
Stable value (e)
Registered investment companies - growth fund

$

$

3,163
26,080
2,402
5,946
7,499
3,442
48,532

$

$

—
—
—
—
—
3,442
3,442

$

$

3,163
26,080
2,402
5,946
7,499
—
45,090

$

$

—
—
—
—
—
—
—

(a) Large-cap blend funds seek to provide long-term growth of capital. They seek to provide investment results that approximate the performance of the
Standard & Poor’s Composite 1500 Index.
(b) International blend funds seek to have a diversified portfolio of investments, investing in fixed-income and equity-focused investments in international
markets.
(c) Fixed income domestic funds seek to invest in high-quality corporate bonds with over 15 years to maturity.
(d) Fixed income long term bond funds seek to achieve performance results similar to the Barclays Capital U.S. Aggregate Bond Index. This fund invests
primarily in corporate and government bonds.
(e) The stable value fund seeks to invest in publicly traded and privately placed debt securities and mortgage loans, and to a lesser extent, real estate and
other equity investments in order to provide a guaranteed rate of return.

The Partnership does not support and has never had a pension plan throughout its existence.

F- 30

WESTMORELAND RESOURCE PARTNERS, LP AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(in thousands, except for unit and per unit data)
The Partnership’s Level 1 assets include securities held by registered investment companies and its common stock,
which are both typically valued using quoted market prices of an active market.
The Partnership’s Level 2 assets include pooled separate accounts, which are valued based on the quoted market
prices of the securities underlying the investments.
Contributions
In 2015 prior to the Kemmerer Drop, WKL made $0.4 million of pension plan contributions.
Other Plans
The GP sponsors 401(k) saving plans for employees of the GP to assist employees in providing for their future
retirement needs. For the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013, we did not commit to make and we did not and/or
are not making any discretionary employer contribution to the 401(k) plan.
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9.

LEASES

We lease certain operating facilities and equipment under non-cancelable lease agreements that expire on various dates
through 2019. Generally, the lease terms range from three to ten years. The following shows the gross value and accumulated
amortization of property, plant and equipment under capital leases related to the leasing of mining equipment as of December
31:

Gross value
Accumulated amortization

$

Westmoreland Resource
Partners, LP
(Successor)
2015
2014
15,013 $
13,835
5,097
2,500

Future minimum capital and operating lease payments as of December 31, 2015, are as follows:

Capital Leases
2,609 $
$
2,398
2,360
2,354
198
—
9,919 $
(568)
9,351
$

2016
2017
2018
2019
2020
Thereafter
Total minimum lease payments
Less imputed interest
Present value of minimum capital lease payments

Operating
Leases
4,380
1,183
376
439
76
—
6,454

Rental expense under operating leases during the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, totaled $9.9
million, $8.8 million and $8.6 million, respectively.
We have also entered into various coal reserve lease agreements under which advance royalty payments are made.
Most of these advance royalty payments are recoupable against future royalty payments otherwise due based on production.
Such payments are capitalized as Advanced coal royalties at the time of payment, and are recoupable through an offset or credit
against royalties payable on future production.
The Partnership leases certain of its coal reserves from third parties and pays royalties based on either a per ton rate or
as a percentage of revenues received. Royalties charged to expense under all such lease agreements amounted to $13.2 million,
$11.2 million and $12.0 million, for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Identifiable intangible assets acquired in a business combination must be recognized and reported separately from
goodwill. In December 2014, as part of the purchase accounting consideration discussed in Note 3, we have determined that the
most significant acquired identifiable intangible asset is related to a beneficial lease agreement. Intangible assets result from
more favorable contract prices than market prices in lease agreements as measured during a business combination. Our
intangible asset is amortized on a straight-line basis over the remaining term of the lease agreement.
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Westmoreland Resource Partners, LP
(Successor)
As of December 31, 2015
Estimated
Remaining
Life (years)
Intangible assets
Favorable lease agreement

14

Cost
$

31,000

Accumulated
Amortization
$

2,067

Net Carrying
Value
$

28,933

Westmoreland Resource Partners, LP
(Successor)
As of December 31, 2014
Estimated
Remaining
Life (years)
Intangible assets
Favorable lease agreement

15

Cost
$

31,000

Accumulated
Amortization
$

—

Net Carrying
Value
$

31,000

Customer relationships represent intangible assets that were recorded at fair value when we acquired Oxford Mining
and its subsidiaries in August 2007. We amortized these assets over the expected life of the respective customer relationships.
This intangible asset was adjusted to fair value in purchase accounting for the WCC transactions at December 31, 2014.
Amortization related to customer relationships totaled $0.2 million, and $0.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2014
and 2013, respectively.
Expected amortization of intangible assets will be approximately:
For the years ending December 31, 2016
2017
2018
2019
2020
Thereafter

$

2,067
2,067
2,067
2,067
2,067
18,598

We evaluate our intangible assets for impairment when indicators of impairment exist. For the years ended December
31, 2015 and 2014, there were no indicators of impairment present for our intangible assets.
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11. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Other current assets consisted of the following:
Westmoreland Resource
Partners, LP
(Successor)
December 31,
December 31,
2015
2014
1,567 $
712
$
2,210
92
766
2,725
107
144
4,650 $
3,673
$

Prepaid insurance
Prepaid fees
Prepaid bonds
Other
Total
Other current liabilities consisted of the following:

Westmoreland Resource
Partners, LP
(Successor)
December 31,
December 31,
2015
2014
1,848 $
45
$
610
809
128
2,783
117
370
2,703 $
4,007
$

Accrued interest
Accrued royalties
Restructuring reserve
Other
Total
12. ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS

As previously indicated, our asset retirement obligations arise from the Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act
of 1977, or SMCRA and similar state statutes, which require that mine property be restored in accordance with specified
standards and an approved reclamation plan. The required reclamation activities to be performed are outlined in our mining
permits. These activities include reclaiming the pit and support acreage, as well as stream mitigation.
As of December 31, 2015, our ARO totaled $56.6 million, including amounts reported as current liabilities. While the
precise amount of these future costs cannot be determined with certainty, we estimate that, as of December 31, 2015, the
aggregate undiscounted cost of final ARO is $103.5 million.
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Changes in the Partnership’s asset retirement obligations were as follows:

Asset retirement obligations, beginning of year (including current portion)
Accretion
Changes resulting from additional mines
Changes due to amount and timing of reclamation
Impact of the Kemmerer Drop
Payments
Asset retirement obligations, end of year
Less current portion (including current portion from Impact of the Kemmerer Drop)
Asset retirement obligations, less current portion

Year Ended December 31,
2015
2014
50,545 $
31,654
$
5,085
2,337
2,285
5,171
6,265
(2,480)
—
18,860
(7,546)
(4,997)
56,634
50,545
(14,075)
(10,441)
42,559 $
40,104
$

As permittee, the Partnership or its subsidiaries are responsible for the total amount of final reclamation costs for its
mines. Costs of reclamation of mining pits prior to mine closure are recovered in the price of coal shipped.
As of December 31, 2015, the Partnership had $132.5 million in surety bonds outstanding to secure reclamation
obligations.

13. LONG-TERM DEBT
The amounts outstanding under the Partnership’s long-term debt consisted of the following as of the dates indicated:
Westmoreland Resource
Partners, LP
(Successor)
December 31,
December 31,
2015
2014
299,248 $
175,000
$
—
—
299,248
175,000
9,351
11,666
790
—
309,389
186,666
(2,563)
(2,316)
306,826 $
184,350
$

Term loan facility
Revolver
Total first lien debt
Capital lease obligations
Other
Total debt outstanding
Less current installments
Total debt outstanding, less current installments
Credit Facilities Generally

On December 31, 2014, we closed on a new credit facility under a Financing Agreement (the “2014 Financing
Agreement”) with the lenders party thereto and U.S. Bank National Association as Administrative and Collateral Agent. The
credit facility consists of a $175 million term loan, with an option for an additional up to $120 million in term loans for
acquisitions which was exercised on August 1, 2015 to finance the Kemmerer Drop. The 2014 Financing Agreement matures in
December 2018. The 2014 Financing Agreement contains customary financial and other covenants. Borrowings under the 2014
Financing Agreement are secured by substantially all of our physical assets. Proceeds of the credit facility were used to retire
our then existing first and second lien credit facilities and to pay fees and expenses related to our existing credit facility, with
the limited amount of remaining proceeds being available as working capital.
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As of December 31, 2015, the $299.2 million outstanding under the 2014 Financing Agreement bears interest at a
variable rate per annum equal to, at our option, the London Interbank Offered Rate (as defined in the 2014 Financing
Agreement) (“LIBOR”) (floor of 0.75% plus 8.5%) or the Reference Rate (as defined in the 2014 Financing Agreement). As of
December 31, 2015, we had a cash interest rate of 9.25%, consisting of the LIBOR floor (0.75%) plus 8.50%.
The 2014 Financing Agreement also provides for “PIK Interest” (paid-in-kind interest as defined in the 2014
Financing Agreement) at a variable rate per annum between 1.00% and 3.00% based on our Consolidated Total Net Leverage
Ratio (as defined in the 2014 Financing Agreement). The rate of PIK Interest is recalculated on a quarterly basis with the PIK
Interest added quarterly to the then-outstanding principal amount of the term loan under the 2014 Financing Agreement. PIK
Interest under the 2014 Financing Agreement was $6.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2015.
As a result of refinancing the 2014 Financing Agreement, we recorded a $1.6 million loss on extinguishment of debt in
the year ended December 31, 2014 as it pertains to cost associated with repayment of the previously existing first and second
lien credit facilities.
In connection with the Kemmerer Drop, we amended the 2014 Financing Agreement on July 31, 2015 to (i) allow us
to make distributions in an aggregate amount not to exceed $15.0 million (previously $7.5 million) without pro forma
compliance with the consolidated total net leverage ratio or fixed charge coverage ratio, and (ii) at any time that we have a
revolving loan facility available, require us to have liquidity of at least $7.5 million (previously $5.0 million), after giving effect
to such distributions and applying availability under such revolving loan facility towards satisfying the liquidity requirement.
As of December 31, 2015, we were in compliance with all covenants under the terms of the 2014 Financing
Agreement.
Debt Maturity Table
The following table presents aggregate contractual debt maturities of all long-term debt:
As of
December 31,
2015
(In thousands)

2016
2017
2018
2019
2020
Thereafter

$

$

2,563
2,450
301,719
2,458
199
—
309,389

The Partnership engages in leasing transactions for office equipment and equipment utilized in its mining operations.
At December 31, 2015, the capital leases outstanding had a weighted average interest rate of 3.09%, and mature at various dates
beginning in 2016 through 2019. We assumed $11.6 million of capital lease obligations in the Kemmerer Drop.
Deferred Financing Costs
We capitalized $7.0 million of deferred financing costs related to the 2014 Financing Agreement during the year ended
December 31, 2014, and $9.6 million of deferred financing costs related to the 2013 Financing Agreements during the year
ended December 31, 2013. These costs, included in Deferred financing costs, net, represent fees paid to lenders and advisors
and for legal services.
Amortization of deferred financing costs included in interest expense was $2.3 million, $4.1 million and $3.2 million
for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively.
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Selling and administrative expenses for 2013 included $0.7 million of fees paid to advisors and for legal services
related to refinancing our then credit facility with the 2013 Financing Agreements, and $2.4 million of fees paid to lenders and
advisors and for legal services related to our failed attempt to refinance our then credit facility under the previous credit
agreement. There were no such expenses during the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014.
Revolving Credit Facility
On October 23, 2015, the Partnership and its subsidiaries (together with the Partnership, the “Borrowers”), entered into
a Loan and Security Agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) with the lenders party thereto and The PrivateBank and Trust
Company, as administrative agent. The Loan Agreement permits borrowings by the Borrowers under a revolving loan facility
up to the aggregate principal amount of $15.0 million (the “Loan Facility”). The Loan Facility permits the Borrowers to obtain
letters of credit in an aggregate outstanding amount of $10.0 million, which will reduce availability under the Loan Facility on a
dollar-for-dollar basis. At December 31, 2015, availability under the Revolving Credit Facility was $15.0 million.
The Loan Agreement has a maturity date of December 31, 2017. Borrowers may elect interest under the Loan Facility
to accrue at either (i) the Base Rate, which bears interest at the greater of (A) the Federal Funds Rate plus 0.50% or (B) the
Prime Rate, in each case, plus 0.75% (payable monthly), or (ii) the LIBOR Rate, which bears interest for the relevant period as
offered in the London Interbank Eurodollar market plus 2.75% (payable on the last day of the applicable interest period). In
addition, an unused line fee of 0.50% of the average unused portion of the Loan Facility is payable monthly.
The Loan Agreement includes a quarterly fixed charge coverage ratio covenant as well as incurrence-based financial
covenants regarding the Partnership’s fixed charges and total net leverage, and otherwise contains customary affirmative covenants,
negative covenants and events of default. All extensions of credit under the Loan Agreement are collateralized by a first priority
security interest in and lien upon the inventory, accounts receivable and cash of the Borrowers.
14. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. We are required to disclose the fair value of financial instruments where
practicable. The carrying amounts of cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable reflected on the consolidated
balance sheets approximate the fair value of these instruments due to the short duration to their maturities. Long-term debt fair
value estimates are based on observed prices for securities with an active trading market when available (Level 2) and
otherwise using discount rate estimates based on interest rates as of December 31, 2015 (Level 3).
The estimated fair value of the Partnership’s debt with fixed and variable interest rates are as follows:

Variable rate debt

Westmoreland Resource Partners, LP
(Successor)
As of December 31, 2015
As of December 31, 2014
Carrying
Carrying
Fair Value
Fair Value
Value
Value
299,248 $
185,534 $
175,000 $
175,000
$
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The table below sets forth, by level, the Partnership’s financial assets and liabilities that are accounted for at fair value
on a recurring basis:
Westmoreland Resource Partners, LP
(Successor)
Balance at December 31, 2015
Quoted
Prices in
Active
Significant
Markets for
Other
Significant
Identical Asset
Observable
Unobservable
or Liability
Inputs
Inputs
Fair Value
(Level 1)
(Level 2)
(Level 3)
Assets:
Available-for-sale investments included in
Restricted investments and bond collateral

$

Liabilities:
Warrants

34,526

$

646

34,526

$

646

—

$

—

—
—

Westmoreland Resource Partners, LP
(Successor)
Balance at December 31, 2014
Quoted
Prices in
Active
Significant
Markets for
Other
Significant
Identical Asset
Observable
Unobservable
or Liability
Inputs
Inputs
Fair Value
(Level 1)
(Level 2)
(Level 3)
Assets:
Available-for-sale investments included in
Restricted investments and bond collateral
Liabilities:
Warrants

$

34,382
1,981

$

34,382
1,981

$

—
—

$

—
—

15. DISTRIBUTIONS OF AVAILABLE CASH
We distribute 100% of our available cash within 45 days after the end of each quarter to unitholders of record and to
our general partners. Available cash is generally defined in the partnership agreement as all cash and cash equivalents on
hand at the end of each quarter less reserves established by our managing general partner in its reasonable discretion for
future cash requirements. These reserves are retained to provide for the conduct of our business, the payment of debt
principal and interest and to provide funds for future distributions.
As quarterly distributions of available cash exceed the target distribution levels established in our partnership
agreement, our managing general partner receives distributions based on specified increasing percentages of the available
cash that exceeds the target distribution levels. The target distribution levels are based on the amounts of available cash from
our operating surplus distributed for a given quarter that exceed the minimum quarterly distribution (“MQD”). Our
partnership agreement defines the MQD as $0.1333 per unit ($0.5332 per unit on an annual basis). On December 31, 2014 as
part of the restructuring of the Partnership the IDR were suspended for six quarters, provided that such suspension may be
reduced to three quarters if, during the suspension period, additional dropdown transactions aggregating greater than $35.0
million in enterprise value are undertaken by our GP or affiliates of our GP that are reasonably expected to provide accretion
to per unit common unitholder distributions. At December 31, 2015 two quarters remain for which the IDR will be
suspended.
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Under the quarterly IDR provisions of our partnership agreement, our managing general partner is entitled to receive
(i) 13% of quarterly distributions over $0.1533 per unit and up to $0.1667 per unit; (ii) 23% of quarterly distributions over
$0.1667 per unit and up to $0.2000 per unit; and (iii) 48% of quarterly distributions over $0.2000 per unit. For the years
ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, we did not allocated to our managing general partner any incentive distributions.
The following table summarizes the quarterly per unit distribution paid during the respective quarter:
Year
2014

2015
First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

$

$

—
0.20
0.20
0.20
0.60

2013
—
—
—
—
—

$

$

$

$

—
—
—
—
—

On January 22, 2016, we declared a quarterly distribution of $0.20 per unit, totaling approximately $1.2 million, on
all our common units outstanding, which was paid on February 12, 2016, to all unitholders of record on February 5, 2016.
16. LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN
Under our LTIP, we recognize equity-based compensation expense over the vesting period of the units. These units are
subject to conditions and restrictions as determined by our Compensation Committee, including continued employment or
service.
For the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, we recognized equity-based compensation expense of $439,
$4,559 and $1,441. These amounts are included in Cost of coal revenues and Selling and administrative expenses.
The following table summarizes additional information concerning our unvested LTIP units:
Weighted
Average
Grant Date
Units
Fair Value
46,599 $
81.47
125,363
14.42
(108,696)
33.03
(63,266)
32.98
—
—
21,930
11.40
—
—
—
—
21,930
11.40

Unvested balance at December 31, 2013
Granted
Issued
Surrendered
Unvested balance at December 31, 2014
Granted
Issued
Surrendered
Unvested balance at December 31, 2015

The value of LTIP units vested during the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 was $5,638 and $963,
respectively. No LTIP units vested during the year ended December 31, 2015.
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17. EARNINGS (LOSSES) PER UNIT
The computation of basic and diluted earnings (losses) per unit under the two class method for limited partner units
and general partner units is presented as follows:
Westmoreland Resource
Partners, LP
(Successor)
For the Year
Ended
December 31,
2015
Limited partner common units
Average units outstanding basic and diluted1
Net (loss) income allocated to common unitholders
basic and diluted
$
Net (loss) income per limited partner common unit
basic and diluted
$
Series A convertible units
Average Series A convertible units outstanding
basic
Net loss allocated to Series A convertible units
basic and diluted
Net loss per Series A convertible unit basic and
diluted
General partner units
Average general partner units outstanding basic
and diluted
Net income (loss) allocated to general partners
basic and diluted
Net income (loss) per general partner unit basic
and diluted
Distribution paid per limited partner common unit
Distribution paid per Series A convertible unit
Distribution paid per general partner unit

Period of
December 31,
2014

5,878,187

Oxford Resource Partners, LP
(Predecessor)
Period from
January 1
For the Year
through
Ended
December 31,
December 31,
2014
2013

5,671,644

2,063,983

1,898,040

(27,169) $

(4,379)

$

(22,500) $

(24,470)

(4.62) $

(0.72)

$

(10.92) $

(12.84)

6,351,513

—

—

—

$

(12,826) $

—

$

—

$

—

$

(2.02) $

—

$

—

$

—

35,291

35,291

35,291

35,302

$

6,307

$

(27)

$

(385) $

(455)

$

178.70

$

(0.72)

$

(10.92) $

(12.84)

$
$
$

0.60
0.20
0.60

$
$
$

$
$
$

—
—
—

1

—
—
—

$
$
$

—
—
—

Unvested LTIP units are not dilutive units for the years and periods presented herein, but could be in the future. Anti-dilutive units are not used in calculating
diluted average units.
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The impact of the Kemmerer Drop on earnings (loss) per units for the year ended December 31, 2015 is as follows:
Westmoreland Resource Partners, LP
(Successor)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015
Series A
Limited
Convertible
General
Partner Units
Units
Partner Units
Predecessor Partnership basic and diluted earnings per unit
Impact of Kemmerer Drop basic and diluted earnings per unit
Basic and diluted earnings per unit

$
$

(5.45) $
0.83
(4.62) $

(3.71) $
1.69
(2.02) $

(5.45)
184.15
178.70

1

1

ASU 2015-06 requires a master limited partnership to allocate the earnings or losses of a transferred business for periods before the date of a drop-down of net
assets accounted for as a common control transaction entirely to the general partner for purposes of calculating historical earnings per unit.

18. NONCONTROLLING INTEREST
Harrison Resources, a limited liability company, was formed in March 2006 by Oxford Mining to acquire coal
properties, develop mine sites and mine coal for sale to customers. Effective January 30, 2007, 49% of Harrison Resources was
sold to an affiliate of CONSOL Energy, CONSOL of Ohio LLC ("Consol").
Effective October 1, 2014, Oxford Mining entered into and closed under a membership interest redemption agreement
with Harrison Resources and CONSOL under which Harrison Resources redeemed all of CONSOL’s interest in Harrison
Resources. As a result of the redemption, Oxford Mining owns 100% of Harrison Resources. In connection with the
redemption, Harrison Resources acquired 0.9 million tons of coal reserves from a CONSOL affiliate, and also options to
purchase an aggregate of 5.6 million additional tons of coal reserves from a CONSOL affiliate. These tons are in addition to the
1.7 million tons of coal reserves already owned by Harrison Resources. Harrison Resources paid total consideration of $3.6
million in these transactions.
Harrison Resources’ revenues, which are included in our consolidated statements of operations, were $23,341 and
$34,100 for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Oxford Mining had a services agreement with Harrison
Resources under which we performed mining and reclamation services for agreed-upon per ton prices. Additionally, Oxford
Mining had a broker agreement with Harrison Resources under which we marketed the coal.
Noncontrolling interest, which represents the 49% of Harrison Resources owned by CONSOL through Oct 1, 2014,
consisted of the following:
Oxford
Resource
Partners, LP
(Predecessor)
Period from
January 1
through
December 31,
2014
4,969
$
(1,270)
(99)
(3,600)
—
$

Beginning balance
Net (loss) income
Additional paid in capital
Redemption payment
Ending balance
19. WORKERS’ COMPENSATION AND BLACK LUNG
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As of December 31, 2015, we have an $1.7 million liability under state statutes and the Federal Coal Mine Health and
Safety Act of 1969, as amended, to pay black lung benefits to eligible employees, former employees and their dependents,
recorded on the balance sheet in Other liabilities. Under the Black Lung Benefits Revenue Act of 1977, as amended in 1981,
each coal mine operator must pay federal black lung benefits to claimants who are current and former employees and also make
payments to a trust fund for the payment of benefits and medical expenses to claimants who last worked in the coal industry
prior to January 1, 1970. The trust fund is funded by an excise tax on production of up to $1.10 per ton for deep-mined coal and
up to $0.55 per ton for surface-mined coal, with neither amount to exceed 4.4% of the gross sales price for the coal. For the
years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, we recorded $4.6 million, $2.9 million and $3.2 million, respectively, in our
cost of coal revenues related to this excise tax.
With regard to workers’ compensation, we are insured through state sponsored programs or an insurance carrier where
there is no state sponsored program.
20. INCOME TAX
We are not a taxable entity for federal or state income tax purposes; the tax effect of our activities pass-through to
the unitholders. Although publicly traded partnerships as a general rule will be taxed as corporations, we qualify for an
exemption because at least 90% of our income consists of qualifying income, as defined in Section 7704(c) of the Internal
Revenue Code. Net income for financial statement purposes may differ significantly from taxable income reportable to
unitholders as a result of differences between the tax basis and financial reporting basis of assets and liabilities and the
taxable income allocation requirements under our partnership agreement. Individual unitholders have different investment
bases depending upon the timing and price of acquisition of their partnership units. Furthermore, each unitholder’s tax
accounting, which is partially dependent upon the unitholder’s tax position, differs from the accounting followed in our
consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, the aggregate difference in the basis of our net assets for financial and tax
reporting purposes cannot be readily determined because information regarding each unitholder’s tax attributes in our
partnership is not available to us.
Prior to the Kemmerer Drop, WKL was subject to income taxes in the U.S. (including federal and state). Deferred
income taxes were provided for temporary differences arising from differences between the financial statement amount and
tax basis of assets and liabilities existing at each balance sheet date using enacted tax rates anticipated to be in effect when
the related taxes are expected to be paid or recovered. A valuation allowance is established if it is more likely than not
(greater than 50%) that a deferred tax asset will not be realized. In determining the need for a valuation allowance at each
reporting period, WKL considered projected realization of tax benefits based on expected levels of future taxable income, the
duration of statutory carryforward periods, experience with operating loss and tax credit carryforwards not expiring and
availability of tax planning strategies.
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The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to the components of the net deferred tax assets and liabilities
consist of the following:
Westmoreland Resource
Partners, LP
(Successor)
December 31,
December 31,
2015
2014
Deferred tax assets:
Pension and postretirement medical benefit obligation
Asset retirement obligations
Other accrued liabilities
Total gross deferred tax assets

$

Deferred tax liabilities:
Property, plant, and equipment, principally due to differences in depreciation and
depletion
Total gross deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred tax assets (liabilities)
Deferred tax assets - current
Deferred tax assets (liabilities) - noncurrent
Net deferred tax assets (liabilities)

$
$
$

—
—
—
—

27,500
6,601
1,051
35,152

—
—
—

(18,772)
(18,772)
16,380

—
—
—

903
15,477
16,380

As of December 31, 2015, WKL has not recorded a reserve for uncertain tax positions or penalties and interest.
WKL does not anticipate a significant change that would require a reserve to be established for uncertain tax positions in the
next 12 months. WKL files federal and state income tax returns that are subject to examination by the Internal Revenue
Service and certain state tax authorities. The tax years open to examination include 2012 through July 31, 2015.
21. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Coal Sales Contracts
We are committed under long-term contracts to sell coal that meets certain quality requirements at specified prices.
Many of these prices are subject to cost pass-through or cost adjustment provisions that mitigate some risk from rising costs.
Quantities sold under some of these contracts may vary from year to year within certain limits at the option of the customer or
us. As of December 31, 2015, the remaining terms of our long-term contracts range from one to eleven years.
Purchase Commitments
From time to time, we purchase coal from third parties in order to meet quality or delivery requirements under our
customer contracts. We buy coal on the spot market, and the cost of that coal is dependent upon the market price and quality of
the coal. We previously had a long-term purchase contract for 0.4 million tons of coal per year with a separate supplier who had
asserted that the contract had terminated by its terms. We entered into a settlement agreement with the supplier in February
2013 under which the parties agreed to terminate the contract with the supplier making a one-time payment of $2.1 million to
us, which payment was recorded in Non-coal revenues.
Surety and Performance Bonds
As of December 31, 2015, we had $132.5 million in surety bonds outstanding to secure certain reclamation obligations
which were collateralized by cash deposits and restricted investments of $34.5 million. Such cash collateral is included in
Restricted investments and bond collateral on our consolidated balance sheets and Change in restricted investments and bond
collateral within investing activities on our consolidated statements of cash flow. Additionally, we had road bonds totaling $0.3
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million and performance bonds totaling $2.9 million outstanding to secure contractual performance. We believe these bonds
will expire without any claims or payments thereon and therefore will not have a material adverse effect on our financial
position, liquidity or operations.
Legal
In July 2014, we concluded litigation, with a former customer who wrongfully terminated its coal supply agreement
with us, by entering into a settlement agreement under which the former customer paid us $19.5 million to compensate us for
lost profits on coal sales to it due to the termination. We believe this settlement amount substantially compensates us for the
damages we incurred due to the wrongful termination.
From time to time, we are involved in various legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. We accrue
for such liabilities when it is probable that future costs (including legal fees and expenses) will be incurred and such costs can
be reasonably estimated. Accruals are based on developments to date; management's estimates of the outcomes of these
matters; our experience in contesting, litigating and settling similar matters; and any related insurance coverage. While the
ultimate outcome of these proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty, we have accrued $0.3 million to resolve various
claims as of December 31, 2015, of which $0.1 million, net, was accrued during 2015.
Guarantees
Our GP and the Partnership guarantee certain obligations of our subsidiaries. We believe that these guarantees will
expire without any liability to the guarantors, and therefore will not have a material adverse effect on our financial position,
liquidity or operations.
22. CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK AND MAJOR CUSTOMERS
We have a credit policy that establishes procedures to determine creditworthiness and credit limits for customers.
Generally, credit is extended based on an evaluation of the customer’s financial condition. Collateral is not generally required,
unless credit cannot be established.
In 2015 and 2014, we marketed our coal principally to electric utilities, electric cooperatives, municipalities and
industrial customers in Indiana, Wyoming, Kentucky, Michigan, Ohio, Pennsylvania and West Virginia. As of December 31,
2015 and 2014, accounts receivable from electric utilities totaled $22.2 million and $27.2 million, respectively, or 68.5% and
67.5% of total receivables, respectively. The following table shows the amount of sales to each customer (in each year where
applicable, a “Major Customer”) which individually accounted for greater than 10% of sales in any of the years ended
December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, with a portion of these sales being facilitated by coal brokers.
Westmoreland Resource
Partners, LP
(Successor)

Customer
American Electric Power
PacifiCorp
First Energy
East Kentucky Power Cooperative

For the Year
Ended
December 31,
2015
$

156.1
103.8
N/A
N/A

Period of
December 31,
2014
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

Oxford Resource Partners, LP
(Predecessor)
Period from
January 1
For the Year
through
Ended
December 31,
December 31,
2014
2013
(in millions)
$
167.6 $
146.3
N/A
N/A
48.7
69.2
42.3
41.4

The Major Customers in 2015, 2014 and 2013, in the aggregate, represented 67.6%, 80.2% and 74.1%, respectively, of
our total sales in the applicable year. The Major Customers in each of 2015 and 2014, in the aggregate, represented 68.1% and
78.9% of the outstanding accounts receivable at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
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23. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME
The following table reflects the changes in accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income by component:

Postretirement
Medical Benefits

Pension
Balance at December 31, 2014

$

(1,599) $

Other comprehensive income (loss) before
reclassification

—

Amounts reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive (loss) income

—

Impact of the Kemmerer Drop
Balance at December 31, 2015

2,718

1,599
—

$

(107) $

$

1,012

—

(872)

—

250

250

459

(660)

(2,718)
—

$

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
(Loss) Income

Available for Sale
Securities (net of
tax)

(270) $

$

(872)

(270)

The following table reflects the reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income for the year
ended December 31, 2015:

Amount reclassified from accumulated
other comprehensive (loss) income
Details about accumulated other comprehensive (loss)
income components
Realized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities

Affected line item in
the statement where
net income (loss) is
presented

Twelve Months Ended December 31,
2015

2014
250

$

$

—

Other income (loss)

24. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The board of directors of our managing general partner (“Board of Directors”) and its conflicts committee (“Conflicts
Committee”) review our related party transactions that involve a potential conflict of interest between a general partner and
WMLP or its subsidiaries or another partner to determine that such transactions reflect market-clearing terms and conditions
customary in the coal industry. As a result of these reviews, the Board of Directors and the Conflicts Committee approved each
of the transactions described below that had such potential conflict of interest as fair and reasonable to us and our limited
partners.
In connection with our formation in August 2007, the Partnership and Oxford Mining entered into an administrative
and operational services agreement (the “Services Agreement”) with our GP. The Services Agreement is terminable by either
party upon thirty days’ written notice. Under the terms of the Services Agreement, our GP provides services through its
employees to us and is reimbursed for all related costs incurred on our behalf. Pursuant to the Services Agreement, the
Partnership engaged the GP to continue providing services such as general administrative and management, engineering,
operations (including mining operations), geological, corporate development, real property, marketing, and other services to the
Partnership. Administrative services include without limitation legal, finance and accounting, treasury, insurance administration
and claims processing, risk management, health, safety and environmental, information technology, human resources, credit,
payroll, internal audit and tax. Under the Service Agreement the Partnership pays the GP a fixed annual management fee of
$2.2 million for certain executive and administrative services, and reimburses the GP at cost for other expenses and
expenditures. The term of the Services Agreement expires on December 31, 2016, and automatically renews for successive one
year periods unless terminated. Pursuant to the Services Agreement, the primary reimbursements to our GP were for costs
related to payroll. Reimbursable costs under the Services Agreement totaling $4.2 million and $0.6 million were included in
accounts payable as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. In December 2015, the Partnership prepaid the GP for the
2016 annual management fee of $2.2 million, which was included in Other current assets at December 31, 2015.
We sell clay, small quantities of coal, and perform non-coal services to Tunnell Hill Reclamation, LLC (“Tunnell
Hill”), a company that is indirectly owned by member of our board of directors. Sales to Tunnell Hill were $0.6 million, $1.2
million and $0.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Accounts receivable from
Tunnell Hill were $0.2 million and zero for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
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Finally, we sold coal to and performed various transportation and operational services for a subsidiary of WCC, which
generated $30.9 million in coal revenues and $2.4 million in non-coal revenues for the year ended December 31, 2015. As of
December 31, 2015 accounts receivables related to the aforementioned revenue totaled $3.4 million were included in
Receivables - trade.
25. SEGMENT INFORMATION
We operate in one business segment. We operate surface coal mines in Northern Appalachia, Lincoln County,
Wyoming and in the Illinois Basin through December 2013, selling high-value thermal coal to utilities, industrial customers,
municipalities and other coal-related entities primarily in the Midwest and northeastern U.S. All of our operations have similar
economic characteristics including but not limited coal quality, geology, coal marketing opportunities, mining and
transportation methods and regulatory issues. Our operating and executive management makes its decisions based on
consolidated reports. three of our operating subsidiaries extract coal utilizing surface-mining techniques and prepare it for sale
to their customers. Such operating subsidiaries share customers and a particular customer may receive coal from any one of
such operating subsidiaries. We also lease or sublease coal reserves to others through Oxford Mining in exchange for a per ton
royalty rate.
26. SUPPLEMENTAL QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION - (Unaudited)
A summary of our unaudited consolidated quarterly operating results in 2015 and 2014 is as follows:
Westmoreland Resource Partners, LP
(Successor)
2015
March 31
Total revenues

$

Net (loss) income from operations
Net loss attributable to WMLP unitholders

$

September 30

95,435

$

(407)

Net (loss) income allocated to general partner
Net loss allocated to limited partners

107,243

June 30

$

(1,361)

(6,007) $
4,235

94,327

December 31
$

(4,376)

(6,799) $

(12,722) $

(447)

135

87,695

Total
$

384,700

932

(5,212)

(8,160) $

(33,688)

2,384

6,307

$

(10,242) $

(6,352) $

(12,857) $

(10,544) $

(39,995)

$

(1.74) $

(1.08) $

(1.30) $

(0.50) $

(4.62)

(1.74)

(1.08)

(1.30)

(0.50)

(4.62)

Loss per limited partner unit:
Basic
Diluted
Distributions paid per unit:
Limited partners:
Common
Series A Convertible
General partner

$

—

0.20

$

$

0.20

$

0.20

$

0.60

—

—

—

0.20

0.20

—

0.20

0.20

0.20

0.60
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Westmoreland Resource
Partners, LP
(Successor)
2014
Period of
December 31
Total
— $
—
$
(2,783)
(2,783)

Total revenues
Net loss from operations
Net loss attributable to WMLP unitholders
Net loss allocated to general partner
Net loss allocated to limited partners

(4,406) $
(28)
(4,378) $

(4,406)
(28)
(4,378)

$

(0.72) $
(0.72)

(0.72)
(0.72)

$

—
—
—

$
$

Loss per limited partner unit:
Basic
Diluted
Distributions paid per unit:
Limited partners:
Common
Series A Convertible
General partner

Total revenues
Net (loss) income from operations
Net loss attributable to WMLP unitholders
Net loss allocated to general partner
Net loss allocated to limited partners

—
—
—

$

Oxford Resource Partners, LP
(Predecessor)
For the Three Months Ended
Period from Period from
October 1
January 1
through
through
December
December
March 31,
June 30,
Sept. 30,
31,
31,
2014
2014
2014
2014
2014
78,004 $
82,001 $
94,507 $
67,751 $
322,263
$
(3,283)
1,758
16,233
(12,402)
2,306
(10,186) $
(202)
(9,984) $

(2,897) $
(57)
(2,840) $

9,787
193
9,594

$

$

(4.92) $
(4.92)

(1.32) $
(1.32)

4.68
4.68

$

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

$
$

(19,589) $
(363)
(19,226) $

(22,885)
(429)
(22,456)

$

(9.24) $
(9.24)

(10.92)
(10.92)

$

—
—
—

$

Loss per limited partner unit:
Basic
Diluted
Distributions paid per unit:
Limited partners:
Common
Series A Convertible
General partner

$
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27. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
On January 22, 2016, our GP declared a cash distribution for all of our unitholders and warrant holders of $0.20 per
unit for the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2015. Additionally, our GP declared a distribution of Series A Convertible
units to be issued in lieu of a $0.20 cash distribution in respect of Series A Convertible units. The distributions were paid on
February 12, 2016 to all unitholders and warrant holders of record as of the close of business on February 5, 2016.
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Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has
duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
WESTMORELAND RESOURCE PARTNERS, LP
WESTMORELAND RESOURCES GP, LLC, its general
By: partner
March 11, 2016

By: /s/ Kevin A. Paprzycki
Kevin A. Paprzycki
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following
persons in their indicated capacities, which are with the general partner of the registrant, on the dates indicated.
Signature

Title

Date

/s/ Kevin A. Paprzycki
Kevin A. Paprzycki

Chairman of the Board, Director, and
Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)

March 11, 2016

/s/ Jason W. Veenstra
Jason W. Veenstra

Director, Chief Financial Officer and
Treasurer
(principal financial officer)

March 11, 2016

/s/ Michael J Meyer
Michael J. Meyer

Controller
(principal accounting officer)

March 11, 2016

/s/ Jennifer S. Grafton
Jennifer S. Grafton

Director and Chief Legal Officer

March 11, 2016

/s/ Robert T. Clutterbuck
Robert T. Clutterbuck

Director

March 11, 2016

/s/ Keith D. Horton
Keith D. Horton

Director

March 11, 2016

/s/ Kurt D. Kost
Kurt D. Kost

Director

March 11, 2016

/s/Gerald A. Tywoniuk
Gerald A. Tywoniuk

Director

March 11, 2016

/s/Charles C. Ungurean
Charles C. Ungurean

Director

March 11, 2016
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Exhibit 10.16P to the Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File No. 001-34815) for the year ended December 31,
2013 filed on March 4, 2014)

10.32†

Amendment No. 2014-2 to Coal Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated February 27, 2014 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.16Q to the Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File No. 001-34815) for the year ended December 31,
2013 filed on March 4, 2014)

10.33

Amendment No. 2015-1 to Coal Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated February 26, 2015 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Commission File No. 001-34815) for the quarter ended March 31,
2015 filed on April 28, 2015)
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Exhibit
Number
10.34

Description
Coal Purchase and Sale Agreement No. 10-62-15-900, dated as of February 26, 2015, by and between Oxford Mining
Company, LLC and AEP Generation Resources, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report
on 10-Q filed on April 28, 2015)

10.35

Non-Compete Agreement by and among Westmoreland Resource Partners, LP, C&T Coal, Inc., Charles C. Ungurean,
Thomas T. Ungurean and Westmoreland Resources GP, LLC (incorporated by reference to Amendment No. 3 to the
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Commission File No. 333-165662) filed on June 9, 2010)

10.36

Administrative and Operational Services Agreement, dated August 24, 2007, by and among Westmoreland Resource
Partners, LP, Oxford Mining Company, LLC and Westmoreland Resources GP, LLC (incorporated by reference to
Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Commission File No. 333-165662) filed on April 21,
2010)

10.37#

Retention bonus letter agreement between Westmoreland Resources GP, LLC and Gregory J. Honish dated as of March
29, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File No.
001-34815) for the year ended December 31, 2012 filed on April 1, 2013)

10.38

Financing Agreement, dated as of June 24, 2013, by and among Oxford Mining Company, LLC, as borrower,
Westmoreland Resource Partners, LP, as a guarantor, the other guarantors party thereto, the lenders party thereto, and
Cerberus Business Finance, LLC, as collateral agent and administrative agent for such lenders (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.24 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Commission File No. 001-34815) for the quarter ended June 30,
2013 filed on August 6, 2013)

10.39

Financing Agreement, dated as of June 24, 2013, by and among Oxford Mining Company, LLC, as borrower,
Westmoreland Resource Partners, LP, as a guarantor, the other guarantors party thereto, the lenders party thereto, and
Obsidian Agency Services, Inc., as collateral agent and administrative agent for such lenders (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.25 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Commission File No. 001-34815) for the quarter ended June 30,
2013 filed on August 6, 2013)

10.40

Intercreditor Agreement dated June 24, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to the Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q (Commission File No. 001-34815) for the quarter ended June 30, 2013 filed on August 6, 2013)

10.41

Warrant Issuance Agreement dated June 24, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to the Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q (Commission File No. 001-34815) for the quarter ended June 30, 2013 filed on August 6, 2013)
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Exhibit
Number
10.42

Description
Form of Warrant (to purchase common units of Westmoreland Resource Partners, LP) issued pursuant to the Warrant
Issuance Agreement dated June 24, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to the Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q (Commission File No. 001-34815) for the quarter ended June 30, 2013 filed on August 6, 2013)

10.43

Form of Warrant (to purchase subordinated units of Westmoreland Resource Partners, LP) issued pursuant to the Warrant
Issuance Agreement dated June 24, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29 to the Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q (Commission File No. 001-34815) for the quarter ended June 30, 2013 filed on August 6, 2013)

10.44

Form of Warrant (to purchase subordinated units of Westmoreland Resource Partners, LP) executed as of March 12,
2014 to be effective as of June 24, 2013, issued to correct, clarify, supersede and replace in its entirety the Warrant (to
purchase subordinated units of Westmoreland Resource Partners, LP) issued pursuant to the Warrant Issuance Agreement
dated June 24, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29A to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Commission
File No. 001-34815) for the quarter ended March 31, 2014 filed on May 6, 2014)

10.45

Form of Warrant (to purchase Class B Units of Westmoreland Resources GP, LLC) issued pursuant to the Warrant
Issuance Agreement dated June 24, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to the Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q (Commission File No. 001-34815) for the quarter ended June 30, 2013 filed on August 6, 2013)

10.46

Investors’ Rights Agreement, dated as of June 24, 2013, by and among Westmoreland Resource Partners, LP,
Westmoreland Resources GP, LLC, AIM Oxford Holdings, LLC, and the lenders party to the Financing Agreement,
dated as of June 24, 2013, by and among Oxford Mining Company, LLC, as borrower, Westmoreland Resource Partners,
LP, as a guarantor, the other guarantors party thereto, such lenders, and Obsidian Agency Services, Inc., as collateral
agent and administrative agent for such lenders (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.31 to the Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q (Commission File No. 001-34815) for the quarter ended June 30, 2013 filed on August 6, 2013)

10.47

Mediation Settlement Agreement dated July 15, 2014 between Oxford Mining Company - Kentucky, LLC and Big
Rivers Electric Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
(Commission File No. 001-34815) for the quarter ended June 30, 2014 filed on August 5, 2014)

10.48

Settlement Agreement effective July 15, 2014 between Oxford Mining Company - Kentucky, LLC and Big Rivers
Electric Corporation, supplementing the Mediation Settlement Agreement dated July 15, 2014 between them
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Commission File No. 001-34815) for
the quarter ended June 30, 2014 filed on August 5, 2014)

10.49
Contribution Agreement, dated as of October 16, 2014, between Westmoreland Resource Partners, LP and Westmoreland
Coal Company (incorporated by reference to Annex B of the Preliminary Proxy Statement filed on October 24, 2014)
10.50

Membership Interests Redemption Agreement, effective as of October 1, 2014, among Oxford Mining Company, LLC,
Harrison Resources, LLC and CONSOL of Ohio LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.35 to the Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q (Commission File No. 001-34815) for the quarter ended September 30, 2014 filed on October 30,
2014)

10.51

Financing Agreement, dated as of December 31, 2014, by and among Oxford Mining Company, LLC, Westmoreland
Resource Partners, LP and each of its other subsidiaries, the lenders party thereto and U.S. Bank National Association
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8K filed on January 7, 2015)

10.52

Amendment No. 1 to Financing Agreement, dated as of March 13, 2015, by and among Oxford Mining Company, LLC,
Westmoreland Resource Partners, LP and each of its other subsidiaries, the lenders party thereto and U.S. Bank National
Association (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 16, 2015)

10.53

Amendment No. 2 to Financing Agreement by and among Westmoreland Resource Partners, LP and each of its
subsidiaries, the lenders party there to and U.S. Bank National Association, dated as of July 31, 2015 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 4, 2015)

10.54

Services Agreement dated as of March 13, 2015, by and between Westmoreland Resources GP, LLC and Westmoreland
Resource Partners, LP (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 16,
2015)
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10.55

Amendment No. 1 to the Services Agreement, by and between Westmoreland Resource Partners, LP and Westmoreland
Resources, GP, LLC, dated as of October 23, 2015 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on October 29, 2015)

10.56

Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of October 23, 2015, by and among Westmoreland Resource Partners, LP, the
lenders party thereto, The PrivateBank and Trust Company, as administrative agent, Oxford Mining Company, LLC,
Harrison Resources, LLC, Oxford Mining Company-Kentucky, LLC, Daron Coal Company, LLC, Oxford Conesville,
LLC, Westmoreland Kemmerer Fee Coal Holdings, LLC and Westmoreland Kemmerer, LLC (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 29, 2015)

10.57

Contribution Agreement dated June 1, 2015, by and between Westmoreland Resource Partners, LP and Westmoreland
Coal Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 2, 2015)

10.58

Amended and Restated Contribution Agreement dated July 31, 2015, by and between Westmoreland Resource Partners,
LP and Westmoreland Coal Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed
on August 4, 2015)

21.1*

List of Subsidiaries of Westmoreland Resource Partners, LP

23.1*

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP

23.2*

Consent of Grant Thornton LLP

23.3*

Consent of John T. Boyd Company

Exhibit
Number
31.1*

Description
Certification of Kevin A. Paprzycki, Chief Executive Officer of Westmoreland Resources GP, LLC, the general partner
of Westmoreland Resource Partners, LP, for the December 31, 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K, pursuant to Section
302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2*

Certification of Jason W. Veenstra, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of Westmoreland Resources GP, LLC, the
general partner of Westmoreland Resource Partners, LP, for the December 31, 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K,
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32*

Certification of Kevin A. Paprzycki, Chief Executive Officer of Westmoreland Resources GP, LLC, the general partner
of Westmoreland Resource Partners, LP, and Jason W. Veenstra, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of Westmoreland
Resources GP, LLC, the general partner of Westmoreland Resource Partners, LP, for the December 31, 2015 Annual
Report on Form 10-K, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

95*

Mine Safety Disclosure

101*

Interactive data files pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T: (i) our Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,
2014 and December 31, 2013; (ii) our Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2014,
December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012; (iii) our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended
December 31, 2014, December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012; (iv) our Consolidated Statements of Partners’ Capital
(Deficit) for the years ended December 31, 2014, December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012; and (v) the notes to our
Consolidated Financial Statements (this information is furnished and not filed or part of a registration statement or
prospectus for purposes of Sections 11 and 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 18 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended)

*

Filed herewith (or furnished in the case of Exhibits 32.1, 32.2 and 101).

#

Compensatory plan or arrangement.

†

Certain portions have been omitted pursuant to a confidential treatment request. Omitted information has been filed
separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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